
Jenny Wallace
Head of Paid Service
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700
Fax : Bideford (01237) 479164

Date: 30 November 2018

TO:  THE CHAIR AND COUNCILLORS OF THE 
TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
TOWN HALL - BRIDGE STREET, BIDEFORD, EX39 

2HS ON Monday 10 December 2018 at 6.30 pm

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the
aforementioned date and time

Head of Paid Service

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the 
meeting.

P R A Y E R S 
For those who wish to participate - Prayers will be held at 6.25 pm.

A G E N D A

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting

2.  COUNCIL MINUTES (Pages 4 - 9)
Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 29 October 2018.

3.  PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 
15 minute period for public contributions



- 2 -

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being discussed.

5.  AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II 

6.  TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

7.  TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

8.  RECENT POLICE REVIEW 
To receive an update from Supt. T Davies, Devon & Cornwall Police, on the Recent 
Police Review

9.  ADOPTION OF A 'STATEMENT OF LICENSING' POLICY AND GAMBLING 
STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES (Pages 10 - 76)
To receive the report of the Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager

10.  LOCALISATION OF COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT (Pages 77 - 89)
To receive the report of the Customer Support Manager

11.  APPOINTMENT OF MONITORING OFFICER (Pages 90 - 91)
To receive the report of the Head of Paid Service

12.  CYCLE OF COMMITTEE MEETING 2019/2020 (Pages 92 - 94)
To receive the report of the Head of Paid Service

13.  HEART OF THE SOUTH WEST - JOINT COMMITTEE - COUNCIL UPDATE (Pages 
95 - 107)
To receive the report of the Head of Paid Service

14.  COUNCIL TAX BASE (2019/20) (Pages 108 - 111)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources)

15.  MID-YEAR REVIEW OF TREASURY MANAGEMENT (Pages 112 - 119)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources)

16.  PETITIONS 
To receive petitions (if any)

17.  NOTICES OF MOTION 

18.  EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
The Chair to move:



- 3 -

“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972”

19.  PART II - (CLOSED SESSION) 

Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed.

Meeting Organiser:  Democratic Services Tel. 01237 428703



1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

The Pier House, Westward Ho!

Monday, 29 October 2018 - 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor S Inch (Chair)
Councillor D McGeough (Vice Chair)

Councillors R Boughton, D Brenton, M Brown, P Christie, A Dart, 
A Eastman, P Hackett, J Hellyer, R Hicks, J Himan, D Hurley, 
T Inch, R Julian, M Langmead, N Laws, R Lock, J Morrish, 
P Pennington, C Simmons, P Watson and J Whittaker

ALSO PRESENT: J Wallace, Head of Paid Service
S Hearse, Strategic Manager (Resources)
S Dorey, Solicitor
S Kearney, Planning & Economy Manager
J Walter, Governance Manager
I Rowland, Senior Planning Policy Officer
D Burgess, Senior Planning Policy Officer
S Cawsey, Democratic Services Officer
M Richards, Democratic Services Officer
T Vanstone, Senior Electoral & Democratic Services Officer
H Roper, Communications
M Crocker, Corporate Services

Approx. 20 members of the public

Prior to the commencement of the meeting, the Chair welcomed Members and 
Officers from North Devon Council.

9.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors:  Langton-Lockton, Boundy, 
James, Cottle-Hunkin, Boyle, Parker, Gregorek, Johns, Wiseman, Davis and 
Hancock.

10.   COUNCIL MINUTES 

It was proposed by Councillor Hackett, seconded by Councillor Watson and -

Resolved:   That the minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2018 be 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

(Vote: For 20, Abstentions 2) 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



2

It was proposed by Councillor A Inch, seconded by Councillor Lock and –

Resolved:   That the minutes of the Extraordinary meeting held on 1 October 2018 
be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

(Vote:  For 17, Abstentions 5)

11.   PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 

Mr Marten Gallagher addressed the meeting with regard to the Community 
Governance Review.   He spoke in favour of the suggested change to amend 
Monkleigh and Weare Giffard boundary so that all Annery Kiln are in the Weare 
Giffard parish.    He outlined the benefits to the suggested change, all of which 
were recognised and supported by the residents of Annery Kiln.  Members were 
asked to support the residents of Annery Kiln and to agree the proposed boundary 
change.

Ms Julia Landolfi on behalf of Monkleigh Parish Council addressed the meeting 
with regard to the Community Governance Review.   She spoke against the 
suggested change to include Annery Kiln in the Weare Giffard parish giving 
reasons as to why the residents of Monkleigh and the Parish Council were not in 
favour of this proposal. She also expressed concern that both Monkleigh School 
and the Parish Council had not been made aware of the suggested change at an 
early date, and therefore had not been given enough time to respond to the 
consultation.  (This concern was addressed by the Governance Manager when 
presenting the Community Governance Review report).

12.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were reminded that declarations of interest should be made as and when 
the specific agenda item to which they related was under discussion.

13.   AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II 

There were no Part II items.

14.   TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

No correspondence or other business was brought forward.

15.   TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

There were no questions submitted under Procedural Rule A9.

16.   ADOPTION OF THE NORTH DEVON AND TORRIDGE LOCAL PLAN 

Page 5



3

Mr Ian Rowland, Senior Planning Policy Officer for Torridge, introduced this item, 
the purpose of which was for Councillors from both North Devon and Torridge 
Councils to give consideration to the adoption of the Joint North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan, as part of the development plan for Torridge and North Devon.

The Senior Planning Policy Officers from both Authorities gave a joint Power Point 
presentation which gave an introduction to the Local Plan.  The presentation 
included outlining the processes of examination, the key points made in the 
Inspector’s Report which concluded that the Plan is sound, subject to the 
application of the main modifications detailed in Appendix 2 attached to the report, 
and also what Councillors should be considering at the meeting for adoption of the 
Plan.  The presentation can be viewed by clicking on the following - Link

North Devon Councillor Yabsley, Chair of the Joint Local Plan Working Group 
addressed the meeting and commented on the good working relationship between 
both Authorities and the hard work carried out by Officers.

Torridge Councillor Watson, Lead Member for Planning, addressed the meeting 
and thanked all Officers who had been involved in the preparation and proposed 
adoption of the Local Plan.   

During the debate a number of comments/issues were raised by Councillors from 
both Authorities, and all were addressed by the Senior Planning Policy Officers.

It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Whittaker 
and -

RESOLVED:

1. That the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011- 2031 be adopted in 
accordance with s23 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004; 
recognising that the adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-
2031 is made up by the Submission Local Plan (June 2016), as amended 
by:

a. the application of the schedule of Main Modifications recommended 
by the Inspector Appendix 2 attached to the report: and

b. the application of the schedule of additional modifications, Appendix 3 
attached to the report

2. That the Policies Maps associated with the North Devon and Torridge  Local 
Plan be adopted

3. That subject to the agreement of  recommendation 1, the Local Plan 
adoption statement and the sustainability appraisal report are made 
available as soon as possible including sending a copy of the adoption 
statement to the Secretary of State in accordance with Regulations 26 and 
35 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Plan) Regulations (as 
amended).

Page 6

https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/documents/b6010/Jt%20Local%20Plan%20presentation%2029th-Oct-2018%2019.00%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=9


4

4. That the Planning and Economy Manager in consultation with the lead 
Member for Planning and counterparts at North Devon Council (Head of 
Place and lead Member for Planning) be delegated authority to make any 
further additional modifications to the Local Plan prior to final publication, 
where these modifications are confined to the: correction of typographical 
errors, improving clarity and consequential cross referencing and 
amendments to policy or paragraph reference numbering resulting from,  the 
reformatting of the Local Plan as set out in paragraph 2.27 of the report.

(Vote:  For 20, Against 2, Abstentions 1)

A vote was taken by North Devon Council who also agreed to accept the 
recommendations and to the adoption of  the Joint North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan.

17.   COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

The Governance Manager presented the report, the purpose of which was :

1. To update Councillors on the outcome of the final Community Governance 
Review consultation, and

2. For Members to agree the changes to the boundaries of Parishes as set out 
in the report

Prior to the presentation Councillor Pennington declared a pecuniary interest as he 
owns property that would be affected by one of the proposals.

Councillor Pennington asked that the speakers be allowed to address the meeting 
again to remind those present of their issues/concerns. This request was declined 
by the Chair.

In answer to a statement made by a speaker, the Governance Manager confirmed 
that emails had been sent allowing time for Monkleigh to respond to the 
consultation, and that this proposal had only been received during the second 
round of Consultations.  He also confirmed that he had been advised that 
Monkleigh school had now withdrawn their previous objections.

It was proposed by Councillor Whittaker, seconded by Councillor Hellyer and 

Resolved:

That the following changes to parish boundaries be agreed:

 To amend Abbotsham/Northam boundary so that all residents of Kenwith 
Castle Gardens are in the Abbotsham Parish 

Page 7



5

 Littleham & Landcross Parish to include part of Bideford South (following 
River Yeo to A386, up Coach Drive to Jennetts Reservoir)

 Amend Monkleigh and Weare Gifford Boundary so that all of Annery Kiln is 
in the Weare Giffard Parish

(Vote:  For 19, Abstentions 3)

Councillor D Brenton left the meeting.

18.   TRANSFORMING TORRIDGE PROGRAMME (STANDING ITEM) 

A brief update was given by the Head of Paid Service as follows:

It is anticipated that all staff will be moved to Riverbank House week commencing 
19 November.

Councillor Simon Inch, as Chair of the Council, had been asked to carry out the 
opening of the customer hub.  This will be a low key affair.

Members expressed concerns with regard to Bridge Buildings remaining empty 
during the winter months.  They also enquired as to the current situation with regard 
to marketing the property.

The Head of Paid Service advised that the building will be maintained by the 
Property Team, and at present there is no firm buyer, but the building had been 
marketed and interested parties had been shown around the property.  

The Strategic Manager (Resources) addressed the meeting and gave an update on 
the current position regarding the property.  He reminded Members of the update 
given as a previous Full Council meeting when a potential buyer had pulled out and 
the reasons why.  Following this the marketing of the building continued, but 
information received from the Agents had been there is no demand for that type of 
building in the town at present.  He advised the Authority would be looking to 
remarket after Christmas.  

19.   PETITIONS 

There were no petitions.

20.   NOTICES OF MOTION 

There were no notices of motion.

On behalf of both Councils, Councillor Simon Inch expressed thanks to the Pier 
House for accommodating the meeting, and asked that a letter of thanks is sent.

Page 8



6

The meeting commenced at 19.00 pm and closed at 20.45 pm

Chair: Date:

Page 9



REPORT OF Janet Williams
To:  Full Council
Subject: Adoption of a ‘Statement of Licensing’ Policy and Gambling Statement of 

Principles. 
Date: 10th December 2018 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:    

 To offer for adoption a ‘Statement of Licensing Policy’ for TDC
 To offer for adoption a revised Gambling Statement of Principles for TDC

1. STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires each Licensing Authority “to determine a policy 
with respect to the exercise of its licensing functions”.  The policy must be reviewed every 
five years. The current Statement of Licensing Policy will expire on 6 January 2019.

A consultation on the policy has been carried out over a 12 week period in accordance with 
government guidelines. 

The policy has been considered and approved by the Licensing Committee at their meeting 
on the 17th October, and has been presented to full council with a recommendation to 
formally adopt.

2. GAMBLING ACT STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES

Section 349(1) of the Gambling Act requires licensing authorities to ‘prepare a statement of 
the principles that they propose to apply in exercising its functions under the Act’. This must 
be reviewed and published at least every three years. The current Statement of Principles 
will expire on 30 January 2019. 

A consultation on this statement has been carried out over a 12 week period in accordance 
with government guidelines. 

The Statement of Principles has been considered and approved by the Licensing Committee 
at their meeting on the 12th September, and has been presented to full council with a 
recommendation to formally adopt.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

Both documents have been brought up to date with current legislation and good practice and 
will form the basis of future functions and decisions in these areas. 

Financial Implications

None

Page 10

Agenda Item 9



Human Resources Implications

None

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

None

Equality/Diversity

None

Risk Management

There are legal, reputational and possible financial risks if the Council does not maintain  
Policies and Statements of Principles which reflects current legislation and the latest 
guidance issued by the Home Office.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

All regulatory activity is carried out in accordance with current policy and procedures.

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications

None

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

The Lead member for Licensing is on the licensing committee and was in attendance at both 
the September and October meetings.

4. CONCLUSIONS

Both of these documents set out the Authority’s approach to the regulation of these 
functions. The revisions ensure that the policies are up to date, relevant, robust and reflect 
the latest guidance issued by the Home Office since the adoption of the previous policy and 
statement.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the ‘Statement of Licensing’ and ‘Gambling Statement of Principles’ 
be formally adopted. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Details given above

Contact 
Officer:

Janet Williams

Background 
Papers:

Links to both Licensing Committees are given here:
https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=1733&Ver=4
https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=1734&Ver=4

Page 11

https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=1733&Ver=4
https://democracy.torridge.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=1734&Ver=4


1

GAMBLING ACT 2005
StatementStatement  ofof  PrinciplesPrinciples  

For the period 31st January 2019 to 30th January 2022

Environmental Health and
Community Safety

Version 4.1 Date September 2018
Approved: Licensing Committee 12 September 2018 Next Review Date September 2021
Approved: Full Council 10 December 2018 (TBC) 

Page 12



2

Table of Contents

Item Page

Part A – General Principles

1.  Introduction 3
2.  Licensing Objectives 3
3.  Description of the Licensing Authority Area 4
4.  Consultation 5
5.  Declaration 5
6.  The Overriding Principle 5
7.  Responsible Authorities 6
8.  Interested Parties 6
9.  Exchange of Information 7
10. Enforcement 7
11. Licensing Authority Functions 8
12. The Licensing Process 9
13. Administration, Exercise and Delegation 10
14. Local Risk Assessments 11

Part B – Premises Licences

1.  General Principles: Consideration of Applications 13
2.  Adult Gaming Centres 18
3.  Licensed Family Entertainment Centres 19
4.  Casinos 19
5.  Bingo 20
6.  Betting Premises 20
7.  Tracks 20
8.  Vessels 22
9.  Travelling Fairs 22
10. Provisional Statements 22
11. Reviews 23

Part C – Permits, Registrations and Notices

1.  Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 25
2.  (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machines 28
3.  Prize Gaming Permits 29
4.  Club Gaming & Club Machine Permits 32
5.  Temporary Use Notices 34
6.  Occasional Use Notices 34
7.  Small Society Lotteries 35
8.  Exemptions 35

Appendix A – Glossary 37
Appendix B – Child Sexual Exploitation and trafficking of children 
and young people

38

Page 13



3

                                 

Part A – General Principles

1 Introduction

1.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires licensing authorities to publish a licensing 
policy (the ‘statement of the principles’) which they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions under the Act.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  The 
statement must also be reviewed from time to time and any amended parts re-consulted 
upon.  The statement must then be re-published. 

1.2 This Statement of Principles has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Gambling Act 2005 and the Guidance issued under s.25 of the Act by the Gambling 
Commission.  It sets out the principles this Licensing Authority will adopt in relation to 
applications for licences/permits and on enforcement of the law, regulations and licence 
conditions.

1.3 The Statement takes effect on 31 January 2019.

1.4 All references in this document to ‘’The Act’ are to The Gambling Act 2005.

2 The Licensing Objectives

The Licensing Authority has a duty under the Gambling Act 2005 to carry out its licensing 
functions in a manner which is consistent with three licensing objectives. The licensing 
objectives are:

 preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder, or being used to support crime

 ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and

 protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling

These objectives will inform and underpin the way in which this Licensing Authority 
discharges its licensing functions under the Act.

Page 14



4

3 The Licensing Authority Area

3.1 Torridge District Council is located within the north west of Devon and is predominantly 
rural. The main towns are Bideford, Holsworthy and Great Torrington, with almost half of 
the population living in or close to Bideford/Northam and the remainder of the area fairly 
sparsely populated. The district is officially classified as ‘Rural 80’, with at least 80 per cent 
of the population living in rural settlements and larger market towns. The district comprises 
984 sq km (380 sq miles). The large majority of land in Torridge is classified as green 
space, covering 95% (938 sq km) of the district’s total area.

3.2 The Office for National Statistics (ONS) provided a population estimate for Torridge in mid-
2016 of 66,977. (The 2011 census had a total population of 63,839, showing a 5% increase 
in the Torridge population over the past 5 years). In 2016 the largest age group in the UK is 
the 25-44 age group with 26.3% of the national population - this age group accounts for just 
19.2% of the Torridge population. Over the past 14 years the number of people in Torridge 
in receipt of state pension has increased from 14,040 to 18,440, an increase of 31.3%.

3.3 Torridge has the second lowest average weekly earnings of any district in the UK. The 
average (gross) weekly earnings in Torridge are £357.50. This is £75.80 (17%) below the 
average for Devon, and £181.20 (34%) below the National average. The unemployment 
rate in Torridge (October 2017) is 3.6%, compared to a South West rate of 3.7% and a 
national rate of 4.6%.

3.4 Gambling premises within Torridge (February 2018) consist of 3 licensed betting shops in 
Bideford, 4 licensed amusement arcades in Westward Ho!, a bingo premises and 
unlicensed family entertainment centre in Bucks Cross.

Page 15



5

4 Consultation

4.1 The Act requires Licensing Authorities to consult the following parties on their Statement of 
Principles:                

            
 The Chief Officer of Police;
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 

carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area;
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 

who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the 
Gambling Act 2005.

4.2     This authority has consulted the following organisations:

 All responsible authorities
 Association of British Bookmakers
 British Amusement Catering Trade Association
 North Devon and Torridge Community Safety Partnership
 Gamblers Anonymous
 Gamcare
 Local Chambers of Commerce
 Local residents or their representatives
 Mencap
 Representatives of existing licence-holders
 Voluntary organisations working with children & young people

4.2 Proper weight has been given to the views of all those who have been consulted prior to 
the date of implementation of the Statement of Principles.

Our consultation took place between 1 June 2018 and 31 August 2018 and we have 
followed the Cabinet Office guidance on public consultations

4.4 This Statement of Principles was approved at a meeting of the full Council on 10 December 
2018 (TBC) and published on the website on TBC.

If you wish to comment on this Statement of Principles please write to the Licensing Team, 
Torridge District Council, Riverbank House, Bideford, Devon EX39 2QG or email 
licensing@torridge.gov.uk 

5  Declaration

In producing the final Statement of Principles, this Licensing Authority declares that it has 
had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission and any responses from those consulted on the Statement.

6  The Overriding Principle

6.1 In exercising its functions under the Act, this Licensing Authority will aim to permit the use 
of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is

 in accordance with the Act and associated legislation;
 in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice under section 24 of the Act;

Page 16

mailto:licensing@torridge.gov.uk


6

 in accordance with the relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission under 
section 25 of the Act;

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives
 in accordance with this Statement of Principles.

6.2 Each application will be decided on its merits.

6.3 In deciding whether or not to grant a licence, this authority will not have regard to the 
expected demand for the facilities that are the subject of the application.

7   Responsible Authorities 

7.1 Responsible authorities are those public bodies specified in the Act, which must be notified 
of applications for premises licences.  Such bodies are entitled to make representations to 
the Licensing Authority in relation to the applications and to apply for a review of an existing 
licence.  The Responsible Authorities for Torridge District are detailed on the Council’s 
website.

7.2   The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in     
exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body which 
is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm.  The 
principles are:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 
Licensing Authority’s area; and

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather 
than any particular vested interest group.

7.3    In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing 
Authorities, this Authority has designated the Local Safeguarding Children Board of Devon 
County Council for this purpose.

8 Interested Parties

8.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 
review of an existing licence.  For the purposes of the Act, a person is an interested party in 
relation to an application for a premises licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority, 
he/she

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities,

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)

8.2 The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party.  The principles are:
 Each case will be determined on an individual basis having regard to Commission 

guidance.  The Authority will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making.  It will 
consider the examples of considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as councillors 
and MP’s.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will 
be required as long as the councillor/MP represents the ward likely to be affected.  
Likewise, parish councils likely to be affected, will be considered to be interested 

Page 17



7

parties.  Other than these, however, this licensing authority will generally require written 
evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who 
either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities and/or has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities.  A letter from one of these persons, requesting the representation will 
generally be sufficient.

8.3 If individuals wish to approach a councillor to ask them to represent their views then care 
should be taken that the councillor does not sit on the Licensing Committee dealing with the 
licence application as this might result in a potential conflict of interest.  If there are any 
doubts then please contact the Licensing Team, Torridge District Council, Riverbank 
House, Bideford, Devon EX39 2QG or email licensing@torridge.gov.uk 

9 Exchange of Information

9.1 This Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 
in its exchange of information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 
2018 will not be contravened.  This Licensing Authority will also have regard to any 
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to Licensing Authorities on this matter, as 
well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided 
in the Act.

9.2 Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with other bodies 
then they will be made available.  

10 Enforcement 

10.1 The main enforcement and compliance role for the licensing authority in terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other 
permissions which it authorises. 

10.2 The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for operating and personal licences, 
they also deal with concerns about manufacture, supply and repair of gaming machines.

10.3 This authority adopts a graduated approach to enforcement and when seeking to resolve or 
address issues the general expectation of the authority is that operators promptly work 
alongside the licensing authority in taking remedial action. However where a serious issue 
is identified it is likely that the authority will immediately initiate some form of enforcement 
action.

10.4 This Licensing Authority’s principles are that enforcement will be carried out:

 in line with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities,
 in accordance with the Regulators’ Code, and
 in accordance with the Authority’s Corporate Enforcement Policy.

10.5 Enforcement will be:

 proportionate - regulators should only intervene when necessary and remedies should 
be appropriate to the risk posed and costs identified and minimised;

 accountable - regulators must be able to justify decisions and be subject to public 
scrutiny;

 consistent - rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;

Page 18

mailto:licensing@torridge.gov.uk


8

 transparent - regulators should be open and keep regulations simple and user 
friendly; and

 targeted - regulation should be focused on the problem and minimise side effects. 

10.6 In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for licensing authorities this 
Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far 
as possible.  

10.7 This Licensing Authority has adopted a risk-based inspection programme based on:

 The licensing objectives
 Relevant codes of practice
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36
 The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy
 Any primary authority partnerships which are in place

10.8 In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest 
stage, operators are requested to give the authority a single named point of contact who 
should be a senior individual and whom the authority will contact first should any 
compliance issues arise.

11 Licensing Authority Functions

11.1 The Gambling Act 2005 provides for three categories of licence, namely Operating 
Licences, Personal Licences and Premises Licences. Under the Act Torridge District 
Council (“the Licensing Authority”) is responsible for the licensing of premises where 
gambling activities are to take place by issuing Premises Licences for: 

 casino premises 
 bingo premises 
 betting premises, including tracks 
 adult gaming centres (AGC); and 
 family entertainment centres (FEC). 

11.2 The Licensing Authority may also grant other forms of authorisation: 

 authorisations for the temporary use of premises and occasional use notices
 permits for unlicensed family entertainment centres (UFEC)
 permits for prize gaming 
 permits for gaming machines on alcohol-licensed premises 
 permits for club gaming 
 permits for club gaming machines.
 registrations for Small Society Lotteries

11.3 It should be noted that this Licensing Authority will not be involved in licensing remote 
gambling. This is regulated by the Gambling Commission.

Page 19



9

12 The Licensing Process

12.1 A Licensing Committee, a Sub-Committee, or a licensing officer acting under delegated 
authority may carry out the powers of the Authority under the Act.

12.2 Many of the licensing procedures are largely administrative in nature. In the interests of 
efficiency, non-contentious decisions will be made by licensing officers.

12.3 The Licensing Authority will ensure that all Licensing Officers and Members of the Licensing 
Committee have received adequate training for their role under the Act.

12.4 Where admissible and relevant representations are received in relation to an application for 
a premises licence, or in relation to the review of a premises licence, a Sub-Committee will 
be convened to hear the matter.

12.5 Applicants for premises licences are required to send a copy of their application to the 
Responsible Authorities as listed in Appendix A.

12.6 In order to discharge its licensing functions, this Licensing Authority has delegated its 
statutory powers to its sub-Committees in accordance with s.154 of the Act and has 
established its own procedures for licensing hearings under s.9 of the Licensing Act 2003.

Page 20



10

13 Administration, Exercise and Delegation

This Licensing Authority will delegate its licensing functions under the Act in accordance 
with the table below.  (X indicates the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated)

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-committee of 
licensing committee

Licensing Officers

Three year licensing 
Statement of Principles

X

Policy not to permit casinos X

Fee setting
(when appropriate)

X (to be approved by the     
Community and 
Resources Committee)

Application for 
premises licences

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a variation to 
a licence

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a transfer of 
a licence

Where representations 
have been received 
from the Commission

Where no representations 
received from the 
Commission

Application for a provisional 
statement

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/representations 
have been withdrawn

Review of a premises 
licence

X

Application for club gaming/
club machine permits

Where objections have 
been made (and not 
withdrawn)

Where no objections 
made/objections have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club 
gaming/
club machine permits

X

Applications for other 
permits

X

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits

X

Consideration of temporary 
use notice

X

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a temporary use 
notice

X

Table 1.  Recommended Delegation of Licensing Functions (Gambling Act 2005, s.154;
Licensing Act 2003, s.10)

Page 21



11

14 Local Risk Assessments

14.1 With effect from 6 April 2016, the Gambling Commission’s Social Responsibility Code’s 
require licensees to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision 
of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures and control 
measures to mitigate those risks.  In undertaking their risk assessments, licensees should 
take into account any relevant matters identified in this policy statement.

14.2 Licensees are required to undertake local risk assessment when applying for a new 
premises licence. Their risk assessment will also need to be updated:

 When applying for a variation of a premises licence.
 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those identified 

in this policy.
 When there are significant changes at a licensee’s premise that may affect the level of 

risk or the mitigation of those risks. This includes any changes to the interior layout of 
the premises. Significant changes will require a variation to the premises licence.

14.3 The Social Responsibility Code provision is supplemented by an Ordinary Code that will 
require licensees to share their risk assessments with the Licensing Authority when 
applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed premises or 
otherwise on request of the Council.

14.4 Whilst there are no plans to request that licensed premises share their risk assessments on 
a periodic basis, where concerns do exist, perhaps prompted by new or existing risks, the 
Licensing Authority is likely to request that a licensee share a copy of its risk assessment. 
The risk assessment will set out the measures the licensee has put in place to address 
specific concerns, thereby potentially reducing the occasions on which a premises review 
and the imposition of licence conditions is required.  

14.5 In some circumstances it may be appropriate for the Licensing Authority to offer a licensee 
the opportunity to volunteer specific conditions that could be attached to the premises 
licence.

14.6 The code requires the Licensing Authority to set out matters they expect the operator to 
take account of in the risk assessment in its statement of policy and this Licensing Authority 
would recommend that the following matters are considered by operators when making 
their risk assessment.

 Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of underage 
gambling,

 Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions and 
gaming trends.

 Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit 
payments

 Proximity to schools, commercial environment or other factors affecting footfall
 Range of facilities in proximity to the licensed premises such as other gambling outlets, 

banks, post offices, refreshment and entertainment type facilities
 Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, youths 

participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activities, etc.
 Potential for money laundering

Page 22



12

Matters relating to children and young persons, including;
 Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young persons should be 

expected such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment venues
 Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, café’s, shops, and any 

other place where children are attracted,
 Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti social behaviour, including 

such activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking, etc.
 Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling
 Areas where there is a presence of children and young persons on a seasonal basis 

(e.g. school holidays) such as holiday resorts, visitor attractions, etc.

Matters relating to vulnerable adults, including;
 Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions
 Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit 

payments
 Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions and 

gaming trends.
 Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such as 

hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor’s surgeries, council housing 
offices, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug dependant 
people may congregate, etc.

Other issues that may be considered could include:
 Proximity of premises which may be frequented by large numbers of people including 

sports stadiums, leisure centres, places of worship.

This list is not exhaustive and other factors not in this list that are identified must be taken 
into consideration.

14.7 The Risk Assessment must be kept on the premises to which it relates and available for 
inspection by an authorised officer of the licensing authority or Gambling Commission.

14.8 There is no mandatory requirement for a Licensing Authority to undertake a specific Local 
Area Profile and this authority has decided not to do so at the time of producing this policy 
statement.

Page 23



13

Part B – Premises Licences

1 General Principles: Consideration of Applications

1.1 Premises Licences are subject to the requirements set out in the Act and regulations as 
well as specific mandatory and default conditions which are set out in regulations issued by 
the Secretary of State.  Licensing Authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also 
attach others where it believes it is necessary and appropriate.

1.2 This Licensing Authority recognises that in making decisions about premises licences it 
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it is:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in line with the Authority’s Statement of Licensing Principles.

1.3 The Authority appreciates that, as stated in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, “moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject 
applications for premises licences” (except as regards any ‘no casino resolution’ – see 
section on Casinos below) and also that unmet demand is not a consideration for a 
Licensing Authority. 

1.4 Definition of ‘premises’.  In the Act, “premises” is defined as including “any place”.  Section 
152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place.  But a single 
building could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different 
parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as 
being different premises.  This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit 
premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises 
licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  However, licensing authorities should 
pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single building or plot 
and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access between premises are 
observed.

The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance that: “In most cases the expectation is 
that a single building / plot will be the subject of an application for a licence, for example, 32 
High Street.  But, that does not mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate 
premises licences for the basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  
Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate premises 
will depend on the circumstances.  The location of the premises will clearly be an important 
consideration and the suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for discussion 
between the operator and the licensing officer. However, the Commission does not 
consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily separated, for example by 
ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises”.

1.5 This Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
licensing authorities which states that licensing authorities should take particular care in 
considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete 
part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular, they should be 
aware of the following:

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by gambling. 
In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but also 
preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling. Therefore premises should 
be configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have accidental access 

Page 24



14

to or closely observe gambling where they are prohibited from participating. 
 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 

licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises 
is not compromised and people do not “drift” into a gambling area. In this context it 
should normally be possible to access the premises without going through another 
licensed premises or premises with a permit.

 Adequate separation may be obtained by means of screening, walls, clear signage, 
PIR alarms etc. 

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises licence

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which this licensing authority should be aware of, 
which may include such matters as:

 whether the premises has a separate registration for business rates
 whether adjacent premises are owned by the same person
 whether the premises can be accessed from the street or a public passageway
 whether the premises can be accessed from any other gambling premises

This licensing authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its decision, 
depending on all the circumstances of the case.

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type are 
reproduced below from the Guidance:

Casinos
 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street.
 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly by 

children and/or young persons.
 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises which 

holds a gambling premises licence.

Adult Gaming Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other licensed 

gambling premises or one with a permit (UFEC).

Betting Shops
 Access must be from a street or from another premises with a betting premises licence
 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail sale of 

merchandise or services. In effect, there cannot be an entrance to a betting shop from 
a shop of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the back of a café – the 
whole area would have to be licensed. 

Tracks
 No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:

-   a casino
-   an adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises
 No customer must be able to access the premise directly from:

- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:

 -   a casino

Page 25



15

-   an adult gaming centre
-   betting premises, other than a track

Part 7 of the Guidance contains further guidance on this issue, which this licensing authority 
will also take into account in its decision-making.

1.6 Premises “ready for gambling”

The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued in 
relation to premises that this licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be 
used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or 
alterations required before the premises are brought into use. 

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the 
applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a Provisional 
Statement should be made instead (see section 10). 

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding 
construction or alteration works at a premises, this licensing authority will determine 
applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process:-
 First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling 
 Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the situation 

that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling 
takes place.

Applicants should note that this Licensing Authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate 
to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a licence. 

More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be granted can 
be found in the Guidance. 

1.7 Location.  This Licensing Authority recognises that demand issues cannot be considered 
with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing 
objectives are relevant to its decision making.  In accordance with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to the 
protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, 
as well as issues of crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided upon as 
regards areas where gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be 
updated.  It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any application being 
made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant 
showing how potential concerns can be overcome.  

1.8 Planning.  

This licensing authority will not normally have regard to planning matters when determining 
licence applications.  Such matters will generally be deemed to be irrelevant to the licensing 
process. This Licensing Authority will have regard to the following excerpt from the 
Guidance: 

“When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the licensing 
authority should not take into account whether those buildings have or comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents.  Those matters should be dealt with under 
relevant planning control and building regulation powers, and not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.  Section 210 of the Act prevents licensing authorities 
taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or 
building consent when considering a premises licence application.  Equally the grant of a 

Page 26



16

gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be 
appropriate under the law relating to planning or building” 

1.9 Duplication with other Regulatory Regimes

This licensing authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems where possible.  Fire or health and safety risks will not be taken into account, as 
these matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, buildings and other regulations 
and must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.

1.10 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime 
or disorder or being used to support crime. 

This Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a leading role in 
preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The Commission’s Guidance does 
however envisage that licensing authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of 
gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, where an area has known 
high levels of organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether it is appropriate 
to locate gambling premises in such an area and whether conditions may be desirable such 
as the provision of door supervisors.  This Licensing Authority is aware of the distinction 
between disorder and nuisance and will consider relevant factors in order to make that 
distinction.

1.11 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.  

This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it generally 
does not expect licensing authorities to be concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via operating and personal 
licences.  There is however more of a role with regarding to tracks which is explained in 
more detail in section 7 below. 

1.12 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.  

This Licensing Authority has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing 
authorities which states that this objective means preventing children from taking part in 
gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or 
are, particularly attractive to children).  This Licensing Authority will therefore consider, as 
suggested in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, whether specific measures are 
required at particular types of premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate 
measures may include supervision of entrances / machines, segregation of areas etc. 

This Licensing Authority will have regard to the Gambling Commission’s Codes of Practice 
in relation to this licensing objective. 

 
The Gambling Commission does not offer a definition of the term ‘vulnerable persons’ but 
states that “it will, for regulatory purposes, assume that this group includes people who 
gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means and people who 
may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental 
impairment, alcohol or drugs.”  This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing objective 
on a case by case basis.  

The Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authorities sets out considerations that an 
operator must make in order to protect children and young people from accessing gambling 
premises.

Page 27



17

The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) prescribe how operators must 
prevent children from using age restricted gaming or gambling activities, particularly where 
gaming machines are present. In particular operators must ensure that:

 all staff are trained,
 that all customers are supervised when on gambling premises
 procedures for identifying customers who are at risk of gambling related harm are in 

place.

The Council will expect all operators to have policies and procedures in place as required 
by the LCCP codes on social responsibility. These should cover all aspects including in 
particular staff training records and self-exclusion records.

Further provisions with regard to self-exclusion and marketing are included in the social 
responsibility code. The council will take all conditions and codes into account when 
considering applications or performing enforcement activities.

Appendix B provides information for licence holders and their employees to help them 
report, to the relevant authorities, matters of concern that could relate to the safety of 
children and vulnerable persons, particularly as it relates to child sexual exploitation and 
trafficking.

1.13 Licence Conditions

Conditions may be attached to licences issued under the Gambling Act in a number of 
ways. They may be attached automatically by the Act, or by regulation, or attached to 
operating and personal licences by the Gambling Commission. Additionally this Licensing 
Authority has the discretion to attach conditions to premises licences. This latter discretion 
extends also in certain circumstances to excluding default conditions from premises 
licences, and may replace them with either more, or less, restrictive conditions.

Any conditions attached to licences will be:

 proportionate
 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility
 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and
 reasonable in all other respects. 

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there 
will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will consider utilising should there be 
a perceived need, such as the use of door supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only 
areas etc.  There are specific comments made in this regard under some of the licence 
types below.  This Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her 
own suggestions as to way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

This Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be required for 
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may include the 
supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by 
children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises 
in order to pursue the licensing objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance.

This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in 
premises to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from the 

Page 28



18

remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access 
other than through a designated entrance;

 only adults (i.e. persons over 18 years) are admitted to the area where these machines 
are located;

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by 

the staff or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple premises 
licences are applicable.

This Licensing Authority recognises that tracks may be subject to more than one premises 
licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track. In accordance with 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this Licensing Authority will consider the impact 
upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are 
not permitted to enter.

The Licensing Authority may not attach the following conditions to premises licences:

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an 
operating licence condition; 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation;
 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Act  

specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs) and this 
provision prevents it being reinstated; and

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

1.14 Door Supervisors.  

The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance that if a licensing authority is concerned 
that a premises may attract disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for 
example by children and young persons) then it may require that the entrances to the 
premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a premises licence 
to this effect. 

Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for particular 
cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or not will be necessary.  It 
will not be automatically assumed that they need to be licensed, as the statutory 
requirements for different types of premises vary (as per the Guidance, Part 33).

2 Adult Gaming Centres

This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant 
to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year 
olds do not have access to the premises.  Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues 
such as:

 CCTV
 Door supervisors
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Physical separation of areas

Page 29



19

 Proof of age schemes
 Provision information leaflets helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Specific opening hours
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures. 

3 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres

3.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant 
to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year 
olds do not have access to any adult only gaming machine areas.  

3.2 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives however 
appropriate measures / licence conditions may cover issues such as:

 CCTV
 Door supervisors
 Location of entry
 Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on the 

premises
 Notices / signage
 Physical separation of areas
 Proof of age schemes
 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.
 self-exclusion schemes
 Specific opening hours
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures. 

3.3 This Licensing Authority will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s guidance, 
refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to Operating Licences 
which relate to the way in which the area containing the category C machines should be 
delineated.  This Licensing Authority will also have regard to any mandatory or default 
conditions on these premises licences, when they have been published.  

4 Casinos

Torridge District Council has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of the 
Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the power to do so.   Should this Licensing 
Authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it will update this Statement of 
Principles accordingly.  Any such decision will be made by the full Council. 

Despite the fact that the Council has not passed such a resolution, the Council is currently 
not enabled by the Secretary of State (in accordance with regulations made under Section 
175 of the Act) to grant a premises licence for a casino. 

Page 30



20

5 Bingo premises

This licensing authority notes that the Guidance states:

“Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any bingo 
premises for which they issue a premises licence. An operator may chose to vary their 
licence to exclude a previously licensed area of that premises, and then apply for a new 
premises licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the aim of creating separate 
premises in that area. Essentially providing multiple licensed premises within a single 
building or site. Before issuing additional bingo premises licences, licensing authorities 
need to consider whether bingo can be played at each of those new premises.

This licensing authority also notes the Guidance regarding the unusual circumstances in 
which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two adjacent premises might be permitted, 
and in particular that it is not permissible for all of the gaming machines to which each of 
the licence brings an entitlement to be grouped together within one of the licensed 
premises. 

Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises.  However they are not 
permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are made available for 
use these must be separated from areas where children and young people are allowed.

6 Betting premises

Betting machines

This licensing authority will, in accordance the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, take into 
account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-
person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children 
and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, 
when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants 
to offer.   

The Authority will also have particular regard to the location of any gaming machines within 
a premises and will wish to be satisfied that such machines can be directly observed and 
supervised by members of staff in order to prevent underage gaming.

 
The Authority will require a full premises licence variation application when premises 
are intending to apply screens and/or booths around gaming machines.

7 Tracks

7.1 Section 353 of the Act defines a track as ‘a horse-race course, dog track or other premises 
on any part of which a race or other sporting event takes place or is intended to take place’.  
This means that land which has a number of uses, such as agricultural land, may meet the 
definition of a track and could be used, for example, for point-to point meetings.

7.2 This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to more than one premises 
licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  In accordance with 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this Licensing Authority will especially consider the 
impact upon the third licensing objective (the protection of children and vulnerable persons 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances to 
each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas 
where they are not permitted to enter.

Page 31



21

7.3 This Authority will therefore expect the applicant for the premises licence to demonstrate 
suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming facilities.  
This Licensing Authority will expect that, where children and young persons are permitted 
to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-racing 
and/or horse racing takes place, they will be prevented from entering areas where gaming 
machines (other than category D machines) are provided.

7.4 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:

 CCTV
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Physical separation of areas
 Proof of age schemes
 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Specific opening hours
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas

This list is not mandatory or exhaustive and is merely indicative of example measures.

7.5 Gaming machines

Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D machines) should 
be located in areas from which children are excluded. 

.
7.6 Betting machines

This licensing authority will, in accordance part 6 of the Guidance, take into account the 
size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children 
and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, 
when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator 
proposes to offer.

7.7 Applications and plans.  

The Act (s151) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with their application, in 
order to ensure that this licensing authority has the necessary information to make an 
informed judgement about whether the premises are fit for gambling. The plan will also be 
used for this licensing authority to plan future premises inspection activity. 

Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale and 
should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by regulations. 

Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not defined by 
virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks. In such instances, where 
an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may erect temporary structures to 
restrict access to premises.

In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the track in 
question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of sporting events or 
races. In such cases betting facilities may be better provided through occasional use 
notices where the boundary premises do not need to be defined.

Page 32



22

This licensing authority appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise 
location of betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting facilities are 
provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is 
permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with 
pinpointing exact locations for some types of track. Applicants should provide sufficient 
information that this licensing authority can satisfy itself that the plan indicates the main 
areas where betting might take place. For racecourses in particular, any betting areas 
subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known as betting rings) must be indicated on the 
plan.

8 Vessels

The Licensing Authority when considering applications for premises licences in respect of 
vessels will give particular weight to the views of the Maritime and Coastguard Agency in 
respect of promoting the licensing objectives. Where in the opinion of the Licensing 
Authority any of the three objectives are undermined, and this cannot be resolved through 
the imposition of conditions, the application will be refused.

9 Travelling Fairs

9.1 It is a statutory requirement that – where gaming is provided at travelling fairs - the gaming 
facilities are no more than an ancillary amusement to the fair itself.  Where category D 
machines and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for 
use at travelling fairs, this licensing authority will be responsible for deciding whether the 
statutory requirement is satisfied.

9.2 This licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair.

9.3 It is noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair applies on a 
calendar year basis, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, 
regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land.  This 
licensing authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which 
crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

10 Provisional Statements

10.1 Developers may wish to apply to this licensing authority for provisional statements before 
entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a development is 
worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence. There is no need for 
the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional statement. 

10.2 Section 204 of the Act provides for a person to make an application to this licensing 
authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she:

- expects to be constructed;
- expects to be altered; or
- expects to acquire a right to occupy.

10.3 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same as that 
for a premises licence application. The applicant is obliged to give notice of the application 
in the same way as applying for a premises licence. Responsible authorities and interested 
parties may make representations and there are rights of appeal. 

Page 33



23

10.4 In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to hold or have 
applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except in the case of a 
track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in respect of which their 
provisional application is made. 

10.5 The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once the 
premises are constructed, altered or acquired. This licensing authority will be constrained in 
the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence application, and in terms 
of representations about premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional 
statement, no further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be 
taken into account unless:
 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 

statement stage, or
  they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  

In addition, this licensing authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement stage; 
 which in this licensing authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 

circumstances; or
 where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan submitted 

with the application. This must be a substantial change to the plan and this licensing 
authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the applicant before 
making a decision.

11     Reviews

11.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by Interested Parties or 
Responsible Authorities.  However, it will be for this Licensing Authority to decide whether 
the review is to be carried out.  The decision will be based of whether the request for the 
review is:  

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission;
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 in accordance with the authority’s Statement of Principles.

11.2 The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by this licensing 
authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will certainly not 
cause this licensing authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is 
substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review.

11.3 This licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a 
particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks is 
appropriate.

11.4 Once a valid application for a review has been received by this licensing authority, 
representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties during a 28 
day period. This period begins 7 days after the application was received by this licensing 
authority, who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of receipt. 

11.5 This licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day 
period for making representations has passed. 

Page 34



24

11.6 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether this licensing authority should take 
any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options open to this licensing 
authority are:- 

(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by this licensing authority;
(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. opening hours) 

or remove or amend such an exclusion;
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; and
(d) revoke the premises licence.

11.7 In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, this licensing 
authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act, as well as any 
relevant representations.

11.8 In particular, this licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises licence on the 
grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the 
premises. This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative manner 
without intending to use them.

11.9 Once the review has been completed, this licensing authority will, as soon as possible, 
notify its decision to:
- the licence holder
- the applicant for review (if any)
- the Commission
- any person who made representations
- the chief officer of police or chief constable; and
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs.

Page 35



25

Part C – Permits, Registrations and Notices

1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre

1.1 Where a premises does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide gaming 
machines, it may apply to this Licensing Authority for a permit for an unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre.  The permit will authorise only the lowest value (Category D) gaming 
machines suitable for use by children or young persons.  It should be noted that the 
applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming 
machines available for use (Section 238).

1.2 The Act states that a Licensing Authority may prepare a statement of principles that they 
propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a permit and in 
preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need not (but may) have regard 
to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the 
Commission under section 25 of the Act.  The Commission’s Guidance to licensing 
authorities also states: “a licensing authority may include a statement of principles that they 
propose to apply when exercising their functions in considering applications for permits.  
Licensing authorities will want to give weight to matters relating to child protection issues."

1.3 Guidance also states, “An application for a permit may be granted only if the licensing 
authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed Family Entertainment 
Centre and if the Chief Officer of Police has been consulted on the application”.   This 
Licensing Authority will require the applicant to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres;

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of 
the Act); and

 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.

1.4 It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

1.5 This licensing authority has adopted a Statement of Principles in accordance with 
Paragraph 7 of Schedule 10 of the Act for the purposes of clarifying the measures that the 
Authority will expect applicants to demonstrate when applying for a permit for an unlicensed 
family entertainment centre.  This will allow the Authority to better determine the suitability 
of the applicant and the premises for a permit.

1.6 Within this process the Authority will aim to grant the permit where the applicant is able to 
demonstrate that:

 they are a fit and proper person to hold the permit
 they have considered and are proposing suitable measures to promote

the licensing objectives, and
 they have a legal right to occupy the premises to which the permit is sought.

1.7 The measures suggested in this document should be read as guidance only and the council 
will be happy for applicants to suggest measures above and beyond those listed in the 
document and or to substitute measures as appropriate.

1.8 The term ‘unlicensed family entertainment centre’ is one defined in the Act and refers to a 
premises which provides category D gaming machines along with various other 
amusements such as computer games and penny-pushers.  The premises is ‘unlicensed’ in 
that it does not require a premises licence but does require a permit to be able to provide its 
category D gaming machines.  It should not be confused with a ‘licensed family 

Page 36



26

entertainment centre’ which does require a premises licence because it contains both 
category C and D gaming machines.

1.9 Unlicensed family entertainment centres (uFECs) will be most commonly located at seaside 
resorts, in airports and at motorway style service centres, and will cater for families, 
including unaccompanied children and young persons.

1.10 The Authority will only grant a uFEC gaming machine permit where it is satisfied that the 
premises will be operated as a bonafide unlicensed family entertainment centre.

1.11 The Authority may refuse an application if it is not satisfied that the issues raised in this 
“Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the application.

1.12 The Authority will require the following supporting documents to be served with all uFEC 
gaming machine permit applications:

 proof of age (a certified copy or sight of an original birth certificate, a photo style driving 
licence, or passport – all applicants for these permits must be aged 18 or over)

 proof that the applicant has the right to occupy the premises.  Acceptable evidence 
would be a copy of any lease, a copy of the property’s deeds or a similar document

 the result of a criminal records basic disclosure [criminal conviction certificate] (the 
disclosure must have been issued within the previous month).  This will be used to 
check that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 
7 of the Act.) – Basic Disclosures can be obtained from the Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS). For further details visit their website: https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-
criminal-record

o Where an applicant provides evidence that they have an Operating Licence 
and as a result have undergone rigorous checks by the Gambling 
Commission, then a criminal record disclosure check will not be required. 

o Where an applicant is a company or organisation and does not hold an 
Operating Licence, then the proposed Manager responsible for the day to day 
running of the premises will be required to produce a criminal record 
disclosure check dated within one calendar month of the date of the 
application being submitted to the Licensing Authority. 

o When a permit holder appoints a new manager responsible for the day to day 
running of the premises, that person will be required to produce a criminal 
record disclosure check dated within one calendar month of the appointment 
date. 

 In the case of applications for an uFEC gaming machine permit evidence that the 
machines to be provided are or were supplied by a legitimate gambling machine 
supplier or manufacturer who holds a valid gaming machine technical operating licence 
issued by the Gambling Commission

 A plan of the premises for which the permit is sought showing the following items: 
(i) the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances and 

exits to the building and any internal doorways 
(ii) where any category D gaming machines are positioned and the particular type 

of machines to be provided (e.g. slot machines, penny-falls, cranes)
(iii) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the premises
(iv) the location of any fixed or semi-fixed counters, booths or offices on the 

premises whereby staff monitor the customer floor area
(v) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines
(vi) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns or pillars
(vii) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs, 

elevators, balconies or lifts in the premises
(viii) the location of any public toilets in the building 

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-criminal-record
https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-criminal-record


27

Unless otherwise agreed with the council, the plan should be drawn to a standard scale 
with a key showing the items mentioned above.  The standard scale is 1:100.

1.13 Protection of Children

The Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 
place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations (please see appendix B). The 
council will assess these policies and procedures on their merits, and they should 
(depending on the particular permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / 
training for staff relating to the following:

 maintain contact details for any local schools and or the education authority so that any 
truant children can be reported

 employ policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may 
attempt to gain access to the premises and gamble when they should be at school

 employ policies to address any problems that may arise during seasonal periods where 
children may frequent the premises in greater numbers, such as half terms and summer 
holidays

 maintain information at the premises of the term times of any local schools in the vicinity 
of the premises and also consider policies to ensure sufficient staffing levels during 
these times

 display posters displaying the ‘Child Line’ phone number in discreet locations on the 
premises e.g. toilets

 maintain an incident register of any problems that arise on the premises related to 
children such as children gambling excessively, truant children, children being unruly or 
young unaccompanied children entering the premises.  (The register should be used to 
detect any trends which require attention by the management of the premises.)

 ensure all young children are accompanied by a responsible adult.
 Maintain policies to deal with any young children who enter the premises 

unaccompanied
 The provision of satisfactory basic disclosure checks (criminal records checks) for all 

staff who will be working closely with children.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar 
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

1.14 Protection of Vulnerable Persons

The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in place 
to protect vulnerable persons.  Applicants should refer to the section in the council’s 
‘Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005’ to familiarise themselves with 
who the council considers vulnerable.  The council will assess these policies and 
procedures on their merits, however, they may (depending on the particular permit being 
applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff relating to the following:

 display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines
 display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises
 training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to maintain a 

sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are gambling, as part of 
measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable

 consider appropriate positioning of ATM and change machines.  (including the display 
of Gamcare stickers on any such machines.)

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar 
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

Page 38



28

1.15 Miscellaneous Matters

 The applicant should also be mindful of the following possible control measures to minimise 
crime and disorder and the possibility of public nuisance:

 maintain an effective CCTV system to monitor the interior and exterior of the premises
 keep the exterior of the premises clean and tidy
 ensure that external lighting is suitably positioned and operated so as not to cause 

nuisance to neighbouring or adjoining premises
 consider the design and layout of the outside of the premises to deter the congregation 

of children and youths.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar 
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

1.16 The Licensing Authority encourages applicants for UFEC Permits to consider adopting 
BACTA’s voluntary Code of Practice for Amusement with Prizes Machines in Family 
Entertainment Centres. This Code of Practice promotes awareness of social responsibility, 
and acknowledges that proactive specific and appropriate commitment will be given to 
educating children and young persons, thereby minimising the potential for harm.

2 Alcohol Licensed Premises - Gaming Machines     
         
2.1 Automatic Entitlement to Two Machines

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 
premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The 
premises merely need to notify the Licensing Authority and pay the prescribed fee.  The 
Licensing Authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular 
premises if:

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing 
objectives;

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of the 
Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the Licensing Authority, that 
a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machine has been complied with) 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises

The premises must comply with the Code of Practice for gaming machines in clubs and 
premises with an alcohol licence issued by the Gambling Commission. 

All gaming machines situated on the premises must be located in a place within the 
premises so that their use can be supervised, either by staff whose duties include such 
supervision (including bar or floor staff) or by other means. 

2.2 Gaming Machine Permit (Three or More Machines)

If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then a Gaming Machine Permit is 
required.  The Licensing Authority must consider an application for a permit based upon the 
licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under 
Section 25 of the Act, and “other such matters as the Authority think relevant.”   This 
Licensing Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case basis 
but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons 

Page 39



29

from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the 
authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not 
have access to the adult gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the authority that 
there will be no access may include the adult machines being in site of the bar, or in the 
sight of staff that will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  
Notices and signage may also be helpful.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, 
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare.

2.3 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for 
their non-alcohol licensed areas.  It is likely that any such application would need to be 
applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence.

2.4 The holder of a permit must comply with the Gambling Commission’s Code of Practice for 
gaming machines in clubs and premises with an alcohol licence. This Code covers the 
location and operation of the machine and access by children and young persons. 

2.5 Applicants should be aware that only those premises which have a ‘bar’ (servery) at which 
alcohol is sold for consumption on the premises will be eligible for a machine in the bar area 
of the premises. This means that premises such as restaurants, hairdressers or other 
premises which do not have a bar for serving drinks or can only sell alcoholic drinks as an 
ancillary to food (the old Part IV restaurant licences under the former Licensing Act 1964) 
will no longer be entitled to have these machines on their premises.

3       Prize Gaming Permits 

3.1 Section 288 of the Act defines gaming as prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize is 
not determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the 
gaming.  The operator will determine the prizes before play commences.  Prize gaming can 
often be seen at seaside resorts in amusement arcades where a form of bingo is offered 
and the prizes are displayed.

The Act states that a licensing authority may “prepare a statement of principles that they 
propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” which “may, in particular, 
specify matters that the Licensing Authority proposes to consider in determining the 
suitability of the applicant for a permit”.  

3.2 This licensing authority has adopted a Statement of Principles in accordance with 
paragraph 8 of Schedule 14 of the Act and they are for the purposes of clarifying the 
measures that the council will expect applicants to demonstrate when applying for a prize 
gaming permit.  This will allow the Authority to better determine the suitability of the 
applicant and the premises for a permit.

3.3 Within this process the Authority will aim to grant the permit where the applicant is able to 
demonstrate that:

 they are a fit and proper person to hold the permit
 they have considered and are proposing suitable measures to promote

the licensing objectives, and
 they have a legal right to occupy the premises to which the permit is sought.

3.4 This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to set out the types of gaming that he or 
she is intending to offer and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:

 
 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in regulations; 

Page 40



30

 and that the gaming offered is within the law.
 clear policies that outline steps to be taken to protect children from harm.

3.5 In making its decision on an application for a prize gaming permit a licensing authority does 
not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any 
Gambling Commission guidance.  (Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)).

3.6 The measures suggested in this document should be read as guidance only and the 
Authority will be happy for applicants to suggest measures above and beyond those listed 
in the document and or to substitute measures as appropriate.

3.7  A prize gaming permit is a permit issued by the council to authorise the provision of 
facilities for gaming with prizes on specified premises. 

3.8 Applicants should be aware of the conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which prize 
gaming permit holders must comply.  The conditions in the Act are:

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with;
 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which the 

gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed on the 
day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the 
premises on the day that it is played; 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other gambling. 

3.9 In accordance with the Act, while the council cannot attach conditions to this type of permit, 
the Authority can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that the issues raised in this 
Statement of Principles have been addressed through the application.

3.10 Supporting Documents

The council will require the following supporting documents to be served with all prize 
gaming permit applications:

 proof of age (a certified copy or sight of an original birth certificate, photo style driving 
licence, or passport – all applicants for these permits must be aged 18 or over)

 proof that the applicant has the right to occupy the premises.  Acceptable evidence 
would be a copy of any lease, a copy of the property’s deeds or a similar document

 the result of a criminal records basic disclosure [criminal conviction certificate] (the 
disclosure must have been issued within the previous month).  This will be used to 
check that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 
7 of the Act.) – Basic Disclosures can be obtained from the Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS). For further details visit their website: https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-
criminal-record 

 A plan of the premises for which the permit is sought showing the following items: 
(i) the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances and 

exits to the building and any internal doorways 
(iii) The location where any prize gaming will take place (including any seating and 

tables) and the area where any prizes will be displayed
(iv) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the premises
(v) the location of any fixed or semi-fixed counters, booths or offices on the 

premises whereby staff monitor the customer floor area
(vi) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines
(vii) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns or pillars

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-criminal-record
https://www.gov.uk/request-copy-criminal-record


31

(viii) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs, 
elevators, balconies or lifts in the premises

(ix) the location of any public toilets in the building 

Unless otherwise agreed with the council, the plan should be drawn to a standard scale 
with a key showing the items mentioned above.  The standard scale is 1:100.

3.11 Protection of Children

The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in place 
to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but 
includes wider child protection considerations (please see appendix B).  The council will 
assess these policies and procedures on their merits, and they should (depending on the 
particular permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff relating 
to the following:

 maintain contact details for any local schools and or the education authority so that any 
truant children can be reported

 employ policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may 
attempt to gain access to the premises and gamble when they should be at school

 employ policies to address any problems that may arise during seasonal periods where 
children may frequent the premises in greater numbers, such as half terms and summer 
holidays

 maintain information at the premises of the term times of any local schools in the vicinity 
of the premises and also consider policies to ensure sufficient staffing levels during 
these times

 display posters displaying the ‘Child Line’ phone number in discreet locations on the 
premises e.g. toilets

 maintain an incident register of any problems that arise on the premises related to 
children such as children gambling excessively, truant children, children being unruly or 
young unaccompanied children entering the premises.  (The register should be used to 
detect any trends which require attention by the management of the premises.)

 ensure all young children are accompanied by a responsible adult.
 Maintain policies to deal with any young children who enter the premises 

unaccompanied
 The provision of satisfactory basic disclosure checks (criminal records checks) for all 

staff who will be working closely with children.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar 
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

3.12 Protection of Vulnerable Persons

The council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in place 
to protect vulnerable persons.  Applicants should refer to the section in the council’s 
‘Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005’ to familiarise themselves with 
who the council considers vulnerable.  The council will assess these policies and 
procedures on their merits, however, they may (depending on the particular permit being 
applied for) include appropriate measures / training for staff relating to the following:

 display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines
 display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises
 training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to maintain a 

sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are gambling, as part of 
measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable

Page 42



32

 consider appropriate positioning of ATM and change machines (including the display of 
Gamcare stickers on any such machines).

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar 
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

3.13 Miscellaneous Matters

The applicant should also be mindful of the following possible control measures (depending 
on the particular permit being applied for) to minimise crime and disorder and the possibility 
of public nuisance:

 maintain an effective CCTV system to monitor the interior and exterior of the premises
 keep the exterior of the premises clean and tidy
 ensure that external lighting is suitably positioned and operated so as not to cause 

nuisance to neighbouring or adjoining premises
 consider the design and layout of the outside of the premises to deter the congregation 

of children and youths.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other similar 
documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

4 Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits

4.1 Members Clubs (but not commercial clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club 
Gaming Machines Permit.  The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide 
gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games 
of chance as set out in regulations.  A Club Gaming machine permit will enable the 
premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D).

4.2 The Licensing Authority will need to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements of the 
Gambling Act 2005 to hold a club gaming permit or a club gaming machine permit.  In order 
to do this, it will require proof of additional information from the operator, for example: 

 Is a list of committee members and evidence of their election by club members?
 Are minutes of previous meetings (where appropriate)?
 Is the primary activity of the club something other than gaming?
 Are the club’s profits retained solely for the benefit of the club’s members?
 Are there 25 or more members?
 Are the addresses of members of the club genuine domestic addresses and do most 

members live reasonably locally to the club?
 Do members participate in the activities of the club via the internet?
 Do guest arrangements link each guest to a member?
 Is the 48 hour rule being applied for membership and being granted admission being 

adhered to?
 Are there annual club accounts available for more than one year?
 How is the club advertised and listed in directories and on the internet?
 Are children permitted in the club?
 Does the club have a constitution and can it provide evidence that the constitution was 

approved by members of the club?
 Is there a list of Committee members and evidence of their election by the club 

members? 

4.3 When examining the club’s constitution, the Licensing Authority would expect to see 
evidence of the following: 

Page 43



33

 Who makes commercial decisions on behalf of the club?
 Are the aims of the club set out in the constitution?
 Are there shareholders or members?  Shareholders indicate a business venture rather 

than a non-profit making club.
 Is the club permanently established?  (Clubs cannot be temporary).
 Are there suitable rules as to the election and admission to the club of new members?
 What is the usual duration of membership?
 Can people join with a temporary membership?  What is the usual duration of 

membership?
 Are there long term club membership benefits?
 Is there a provision for annual general meetings?
 Is there a provision for the election of officers?

4.4 Aside from bridge and whist clubs, clubs may not be established wholly or mainly for the 
purposes of gaming.  The Licensing Authority will consider such factors as: 

 How many nights a week gaming is provided;
 How the gaming is advertised;
 What stakes and prizes are offered;
 Whether there is evidence of leagues with weekly, monthly or annual  winners;
 Whether there is evidence of members who do not participate in gaming;
 Whether there are teaching sessions to promote gaming such as poker;
 Where there is a tie-in with other clubs offering gaming through tournaments and 

leagues;
 Whether there is sponsorship by gaming organisations;
 Whether participation fees are within limits. 

4.5 Licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that:

(a)  the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or 
miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for 
which it has applied;

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young  persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the   applicant 

while providing gaming facilities;
(d)  a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
(e)  an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.

4.4 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold a Club 
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 paragraph 10).  (NB.  
Commercial clubs cannot hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 
and so cannot use the fast-track procedure). The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
licensing authorities states: "Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for 
objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the ground upon which an 
authority can refuse a permit are reduced."  The grounds on which an application under the 
process may be refused are:

(a)  that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed under 
schedule 12;

(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other  
gaming; or

(c)  that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last ten 
years has been cancelled.

Page 44



34

4.5 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child under 18 uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant 
provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.

Further information on the categories of gaming machines is included at Appendix B.

5 Temporary Use Notices (TUN)

5.1 A Temporary Use Notice (TUN) allows the use of premises for gambling where there is no 
premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for 
providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a temporary use notice, 
according to the Gambling Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and 
sporting venues.

A licensing authority can only grant a TUN to a person or company holding a relevant 
operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence. 

5.2 The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be 
authorised by temporary use notices.  At the time of writing this Statement the relevant 
regulations (SI 2007 No 3157: The Act (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state 
that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities or equal 
chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, which in practice 
means poker tournaments.

5.3 There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices.  Gambling under 
the authority of a TUN may only take place at a set of premises for a maximum of 21 days 
in any twelve month period.  The meaning of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in 
Part 7 of the Guidance.  As with "premises", the definition of "a set of premises" will be a 
question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given.  In considering 
whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", this Licensing Authority 
needs to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the 
premises.

5.4 This Licensing Authority expects to object to Temporary Use Notices where it appears that 
their effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one 
set of premises, as recommended in the Guidance. 

6 Occasional Use Notices

6.1 An Occasional Use Notice allows betting on a track for up to eight days a year without the 
need for a Premises Licence.

6.2 The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from 
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  This 
Licensing Authority will consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is 
permitted to serve the notice. 

6.3 Further information can be found on the Gambling Commission website.

Page 45



35

7 Small Society Lotteries (Incidental Non-Commercial Lotteries)

7.1 Under the Act, a lottery is unlawful unless it runs with an operating licence or is an exempt 
lottery. The Licensing Authority will register and administer small society lotteries (as 
defined). Promoting or facilitating a lottery will fall within 2 categories: 

 licensed lotteries (requiring an operating licence from the Gambling Commission); 
and 

 exempt lotteries (including small society lotteries registered by the Licensing 
Authority) 

7.2 Exempt lotteries are lotteries permitted to run without a licence from the Gambling 
Commission and these are: 

 small society lotteries; 
 incidental non-commercial lotteries; 
 private lotteries; 
 private society lotteries; 
 work lotteries; 
 residents’ lotteries; 
 customer lotteries; 

7.3 Torridge District Council will register and administer small society lotteries as defined under 
the Act. In order to be registered, the Authority will need to be satisfied that the society is 
established and conducted for:

 charitable purposes
 the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or a cultural 

activity
 any other non-commercial purpose other than private gain.

7.2 This Authority will adopt a risk-based approach to the regulation of small society lotteries.  

Factors which the Authority may take into consideration are:
 Late submission of returns
 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns
 Contravention of limits for small society lotteries

7.3 The Authority may refuse an application for registration on the following grounds:
 That an Operating Licence held by the applicant has been revoked
 That an application for an Operating Licence made by the applicant has been 

revoked within the past five years
 That the society in question is not deemed to be non-commercial
 That a person connected with the lottery has been convicted of a relevant office as 

defined in Schedule 7 to the Act
 Information provided in connection with the application is false or misleading.

7.4 Further information on lotteries is available on the Authority’s website at 
www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing/lotteries 

8 Exemptions

8.1 The Act makes provision for a number of forms of exempt gaming and betting.  These will 
generally be low-level, low-risk activities and, in some cases (e.g. poker in pubs and clubs), 
limits on stakes and prizes are prescribed in regulations.

Page 46

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing/lotteries


36

8.2 Private Gaming (Schedule 15)

Gaming is private gaming when it is equal chance gaming, no charge is made for 
participation and the gaming is conducted entirely in private (i.e. in premises to which the 
public does not have access).

8.3 Private Betting (ss. 295)

There are two types of private betting: domestic betting (e.g. betting in one’s own home) 
and workers’ betting (betting among persons who all work for the same employer).

8.4 Non-commercial gaming (ss. 297 – 301)

Non-commercial gaming may be carried out without an authorisation subject to the 
following conditions:

 All players must be informed that the purpose of the gaming is to raise money for a 
purpose other than private gain

 Profits from the gaming must be applied for a purpose other than private gain
 The event must not take place in a premises which has a premises licence or is 

being used under a Temporary Use Notice
 The gaming must not be remote gaming.

8.5 Alcohol-licensed Premises

The Act contains provisions which allow alcohol licensed premises (pubs, clubs) to provide 
certain forms of gaming without the requirement for a licence/permit.

Bingo (ss.275 & 281)

Pubs and clubs are permitted to conduct low-turnover bingo.  To qualify as low-turnover 
bingo, the total value of stakes and prizes must not exceed £2,000 in any period of seven 
days.  Above this limit, bingo becomes high-turnover bingo and requires an Operating 
Licence from the Commission plus a premises licence from the local authority.

Gaming (ss. 279 & 280)

These sections allow gaming facilities to be provided in pubs and clubs subject to certain 
conditions:

 Facilities must be for equal chance gaming only (e.g. poker)
 Stakes and prizes must not exceed any limits set by regulations;
 No amount may be deducted from amounts staked or won;
 No fees may be charged to participate;
 Gaming must not take place on more than one set of premises; and
 Children under 18 must not participate.

8.6 Generally, the Authority will not become involved in these types of gambling unless the 
exemption provisions are contravened – for example, if any of the limits on stakes and/or 
prizes are exceeded.  Any action will be taken in accordance with the Authority’s Licensing 
Enforcement Policy

Page 47



37

APPENDIX A
GLOSSARY

Betting – defined by the Act as making or accepting a bet on (a) the outcome of a race, 
competition or other event or process, (b) the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring, or 
(c) whether anything is or is not true.

Casino – defined by the Act as “an arrangement whereby people are given an opportunity to 
participate in one or more casino games”.

DCMS  - Department of Culture, Media, and Sport

Equal Chance Gaming – gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank where 
the chances are equally favourable to all participants

Gambling – defined by the Act as “gaming, betting or participating in a lottery”

Gambling Commission – the national body which regulates all forms of gambling in the UK.

Game of Chance – a game that (i) involves both an element of chance and an element of skill (ii) 
involves an element of chance which can be eliminated by superlative skill and (iii) a game 
presented as involving an element of chance BUT is not a sport.

Gaming – means playing a game of chance for a prize (s.6(1)

Gaming machine – a machine which is designed or adapted for use by individuals to gamble.  
(Section 235 of the Act sets out a number of exemptions from this definition).

Lottery -  defined by the Act as an arrangement whereby persons must pay to participate to win a 
prize and the prizes are allocated wholly by chance.

Prize Gaming – defined by the Act as gaming where the nature or size of the prize is not 
determined by the number of persons playing or by the money paid for the gaming

Responsible Authority – 

(i) The Licensing Authority
(ii) The Gambling Commissioner
(iii) The Chief Officer of Devon & Cornwall Constabulary 
(iv) The Devon Fire & Rescue Service
(v) The local planning authority within the meaning given by the Town and Country Planning 

act 1990 (c.8) for any area in which the premises are wholly or partly situated
(vi) The local authority by which statutory functions are exercisable in any area in which the 

premises are wholly or partly situated in relation to minimising or preventing the risk of 
pollution of the environment or of harm to human health

(vi) A body which is designated in writing for the purpose of this paragraph, by the Licensing 
Authority for an area in which the premises are wholly or partly situated, as competent to 
advise the authority about the protection of children from harm

(vii) And any other person prescribed by regulations by the Secretary of State.

DCMS - Department for Culture Media and Sport:  www.culture.gov.uk

Gambling Commission:  www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

Torridge District Council:  www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing

Page 48

http://www.culture.gov.uk/
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing


38

APPENDIX B

CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION AND TRAFFICKING OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE 

Torridge District Council is helping to tackle child sexual exploitation and trafficking by working 
together with key partners particularly the Police and Safeguarding Boards.
 
Through agencies working together and sharing information, we aim to identify and prevent sexual 
exploitation, disrupt the activities of perpetrators, protect children and young people and prosecute 
perpetrators of sexual exploitation. Sharing information with the Police and Safeguarding Boards 
helps to protect young people from harm. Safeguarding children and young people is everyone’s 
business and everyone’s responsibility. 

Child sexual exploitation is a crime that can affect any child, anytime, anywhere – regardless of 
their social or ethnic background. 

Sexual exploitation of children and young people involves exploitative situations, contexts and 
relationships where young people (or a third person or persons) receive something, e.g. food, 
accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money, etc. as a result of them 
performing, and/or another or others performing on them, sexual activities. Violence, coercion and 
intimidation are commonly involved in such exploitative relationships. 

Child sexual exploitation involves perpetrators grooming youngsters and using their powers to 
sexually abuse them. Sexual exploitation of children and young people can take many forms, 
whether it occurs through a seemingly ‘consensual’ relationship with an older boyfriend, or a young 
person having sex in return for attention, gifts, alcohol or cigarettes.

How gambling premises licence and permit holders and their employees can help tackle 
child sexual exploitation 

Gambling establishment licence and permit holders and their employees are in a good position to 
help identify victims of sexual exploitation because, through the operation of certain gambling 
activities, licence and permit holders and their employees regularly come into contact with children, 
young and vulnerable people. This means that licence and permit holders and their employees are 
in an ideal position to help protect young and vulnerable people.

In particular, licence and permit holders and their employees should ask themselves the following 
questions when they see young and vulnerable people in their gambling premises:

 Do any of your customers appear to be under 18 years old?
 Are they with a much older person and appear to be in a relationship?
 Do you think that they are under the influence of alcohol or drugs?
 Are children/young people being brought regularly to your premises by older people? If so, 

ask yourself why?

If you have reason to suspect that a child is being abused or at risk of abuse it is your responsibility 
to report your concerns to and share information with the Police (Tel: 101) and Devon 
Safeguarding Children Board. (Tel: 0345 155 1071).

Page 49



1

  LICENSING ACT 2003
    StatementStatement  ofof  LicensingLicensing  PolicyPolicy

    For the period 7th January 2019 to 6th January 2024

 Environmental Health and
 Community Safety

Version 4.1 Date October 2018
Approved: Licensing Committee 17 October 2018 Next Review Date October 2023
Approved: Full Council 10 December 2018 (TBC)

Page 50



2

Table of Contents

Topic Page

  1. Introduction 3
  2. Consultation 5
  3. The Licensing Objectives 5
  4. The Licensing Function 6
  5.  The Licensing Process 12
  6.  Licensing Hours 15
  7.  Licence Conditions 15
  8.  Cumulative Impact 17
  9.  Enforcement 18
10.  Children in Licensed Premises 20
11.  Drugs/Illegal Substances 21
12.  Door Supervisors 21
13.  Vessels 21
14.  Licensing of Public Land 21
15.  Temporary Activities 22
16.  Late Night Levy 23
17.  Early Morning Restriction Orders 23
18.  Fees 23
19.  Equality Issues 24
20.  Further Information 24
21.  Appendices
     A.   Procedures for licensing sub-committee hearings
           and the form of discussion at hearings 25
     B.   Glossary 26

Page 51



3

1 INTRODUCTION

NB.  This Policy is intended to provide general guidance only.  It does not constitute a definitive statement of law.  
Applicants who require legal advice on a specific licensing topic are advised to consult a licensing solicitor. Text in 
the shaded boxes is advisory or explanatory and intended only to give general assistance. 

1.1 Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 requires each Licensing Authority “to determine a policy 
with respect to the exercise of its licensing functions”. 

This Statement of Licensing Policy (“the Policy”) draws its authority from the Licensing Act 
2003 ("the Act") and has been prepared in accordance with revised Guidance issued by the 
Home Office under section 182 of the Act in October 2012. 

The Policy has four main purposes:

 to assist the Licensing Authority in determining licence applications in a consistent and 
equitable manner,

 to inform and advise applicants, 
 to inform and advise residents and businesses, and
 to inform a court at appeal.

1.2 The Policy relates to the licensable activities identified by the Act, namely: -

 Retail sale of alcohol
 Supply of alcohol to club members
 Provision of 'regulated entertainment' - to the public, to club members or with a view to 

profit.  Regulated entertainment is defined by the Act as:
 A performance of play
 An exhibition of a film
 An indoor sporting event
 Boxing or wrestling entertainment
 A performance of live music
 Any playing of recorded music
 A performance of dance
 Entertainment of a similar description to live music, recorded music or dance.

 The supply of hot food and/or hot drink from any premises including mobile food stalls 
between 11pm and 5 am.

1.3 This Policy sets out those matters that Torridge District Council Licensing Authority (“the 
Authority”) will normally take into account when determining licence applications.  Additionally, 
the document seeks to provide clarity for applicants, residents and members of the business 
community, thus enabling them to make plans to move to, remain in or invest in the District 
with some measure of certainty. 

 
Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 (as amended by s.122 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2001) requires a Licensing Authority to prepare and publish a statement of its 
licensing policy every five years.  Such a policy must be published before the Authority carries out any 
function in respect of individual applications made under the terms of the 2003 Act. 

The Licensing Authority will keep this policy statement under continual review and make such changes 
as it feels are necessary in accordance with any changes in the legislation and with local 
circumstances.  Where revisions are made, the Authority will publish a statement of those revisions.

Page 52



4

1.4 The Licensing Authority Area

Torridge District Council is located within the north west of Devon and is predominantly rural. 
The main towns are Bideford, Holsworthy and Great Torrington, with almost half of the 
population living in or close to Bideford/Northam and the remainder of the area fairly sparsely 
populated. The district is officially classified as ‘Rural 80’, with at least 80 per cent of the 
population living in rural settlements1 and larger market towns. The district comprises 984 sq 
km (380 sq miles). The large majority of land in Torridge is classified as green space, covering 
95% (938 sq km) of the district’s total area.

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) provided a population estimate for Torridge in mid-
2016 of 66,977. (The 2011 census had a total population of 63,839, showing a 5% increase in 
the Torridge population over the past 5 years). In 2016 the largest age group in the UK is the 
25-44 age group with 26.3% of the national population - this age group accounts for just 
19.2% of the Torridge population. Over the past 14 years the number of people in Torridge in 
receipt of state pension has increased from 14,040 to 18,440, an increase of 31.3%.

Torridge has the second lowest average weekly earnings of any district in the UK. The 
average (gross) weekly earnings in Torridge are £357.50. This is £75.80 (17%) below the 
average for Devon, and £181.20 (34%) below the National average. The unemployment rate 
in Torridge (October 2017) is 3.6%, compared to a South West rate of 3.7% and a national 
rate of 4.6%.

At the time of preparing this Policy, the Authority has responsibility for regulating:

 295 alcohol-licensed premises
 55 non-alcohol-licensed premises
 257 temporary events (2017 figure)

Page 53



5

2. CONSULTATION

2.1 In preparing this Policy the Licensing Authority has consulted the following: -

 The Chief Officer of Police
 Devon & Somerset Fire and Rescue Service
 Public Health Devon
 Devon Safeguarding Children’s Board
 Devon County Council Trading Standards
 Representatives of holders of premises licences issued by this authority
 Representatives of holders of Club premises certificates issued by this authority
 Representatives of holders of Personal Licences issued by this authority
 Local businesses and their representatives
 Local residents and their representatives

Consultation was carried out between 10 July 2018 and 2 October 2018 in accordance with 
current Government Code of Practice on Consultation.

2.2 Proper weight has been given to the views of organisations and individuals consulted prior to 
implementing this Policy.

2.3 This Policy was formally adopted by the Council on 10 December 2018 (TBC).

2.4 This Policy will remain in force for a maximum period of five years and will then be subject to 
review and further consultation.  The Authority may revise the Policy at any time during the 
five year period if it considers it appropriate to do so. The Authority will consult on any 
substantial revisions to the Policy.

Section 5(3) of the Act places a legal obligation on licensing authorities to consult the above individuals, 
groups and organisations when determining and publishing its Statement of Licensing Policy.  However, 
the Authority may consult beyond the statutory requirements if it believes this is necessary and 
appropriate.

3. THE LICENSING OBJECTIVES

3.1 The Authority has a duty under s.4 of the Act to carry out its licensing functions with the aim of 
promoting the four licensing objectives.  The objectives are:

 the prevention of crime and disorder
 public safety
 the prevention of public nuisance 
 the protection of children from harm

Each licensing objective is of equal importance.  When discharging its licensing function, the 
Authority will attach the utmost importance to the promotion of the objectives.

3.2 Prevention of Crime and Disorder

3.2.1 The Authority will endeavour to reduce crime and disorder throughout the district in 
accordance with its statutory duty under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  
Where relevant representations are made, the licensing authority may look more favourably 
upon applications where the applicant has addressed the issue of preventing crime and 
disorder in a positive way.  

3.2.2 The Authority will require applicants to take appropriate and proportionate measures to 
promote the crime and disorder objective. Such measures may include those listed in the 
Authority’s guidance for applicants which can be viewed on the Council’s website.

Page 54



6

3.3 Public Safety  

3.3.1 All premises will be risk-rated by the Licensing Authority, and are to be subject to both 
announced and unannounced inspections (including multi-agency inspections).

3.3.2 The Authority will require applicants to take appropriate and proportionate measures to 
promote the public safety objective. Such measures may include those listed in the Authority’s 
guidance for applicants which can be viewed on the Council’s website.                   .

3.4 Prevention of Public Nuisance 

3.4.1 Public nuisance can include low level nuisance affecting a few people living locally, as well as 
a major disturbance affecting the wider community.  Nuisance is generally attributable to noise 
(from loud music or from rowdy customers), vibration, light pollution, noxious smells and litter.  
Applicants will be required to demonstrate that they have adequate measures in place in their 
applications to prevent nuisance and disturbance.

3.4.2 Noise from people entering and leaving licensed premises, particularly late at night or in the 
early hours of the morning, can be a significant problem. Customers under the influence of 
alcohol are often less inhibited about their behaviour and may be unaware of the noise they 
are creating.  As background noise levels are lower at night, any noise is more intrusive for 
residents trying to sleep.  

3.4.3 The Licensing Authority will require applicants to take appropriate and proportionate measures 
for the prevention of public nuisance. Such measures may include those listed in the 
Authority’s guidance for applicants which can be viewed on the Council’s website.

3.4.4 Applicants may find themselves the subject of formal investigation and subsequent legal 
action under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 should justified complaints of noise 
nuisance be established.

3.5 Protection of Children from Harm 

3.5.1 The Authority recognises the great variety of premises for which licences may be sought.  
These include theatres, members’ clubs, sports clubs, cinemas, restaurants, pubs, nightclubs, 
cafes, takeaways, community halls, schools and off-licences.  The Authority will not restrict 
access by children to any particular type of premises unless it is considered appropriate to do 
so in order to protect them from harm.

3.5.2 The Authority will require applicants to take appropriate and proportionate measures for the 
protection of children. Such measures may include those listed in the Authority’s guidance for 
applicants which can be viewed on the Council’s website.

4.0 THE LICENSING FUNCTION

4.1 Regulation

4.1.1 Licensing is about regulating licensable activities on licensed premises, in qualifying clubs and 
at temporary events under the provisions of the Act.  Licensing also involves making 
judgements about risk, in particular the risk of any adverse effect on the licensing objectives of 
granting licences and club premises certificates.

4.1.2 The licensing function is only one means of delivering the licensing objectives and should not 
be seen as a panacea for solving all alcohol- and entertainment-related problems within the 
community.  The Authority recognises that as well as the licensing function there are a 
number of other mechanisms for addressing alcohol-related crime and disorder such as:

 planning controls
 Community Alcohol Partnerships
 installation and/or expansion of CCTV systems in problem areas

Page 55



7

 powers to designate parts of the District as places where alcohol may not be 
consumed publicly (Designated Public Places Orders)

 S.27 and s.30 Dispersal Orders (Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003)
 police powers to close some premises for up to 24 hours in extreme cases of disorder 

or excessive noise (Licensing Act, ss.160 & 161)
 the power of Responsible Authorities and other persons to apply for a review of the 

licence (see 9.2)

The Authority will therefore continue to work in partnership with other licensing authorities, the 
Responsible Authorities, other agencies such as Safer North Devon and with local businesses 
and residents in a co-ordinated approach to tackling alcohol-related crime and anti-social 
behaviour. 

4.1.3 In discharging its licensing function, the Licensing Authority will comply with relevant 
legislation and have regard to:

(i) Strategies
 

 current TDC Community Safety Partnership Strategy 
 current Government alcohol strategy
 TDC Strategic Plan 

 (ii) Policies/Codes of Practice

 Regulators’ Code
 TDC Enforcement Policy
 TDC Local Development Framework
 DCC Local Transport Plan
 Age Restricted Products and Services: A Code of Practice for Regulatory Delivery

(iii) Guidance

 Guidance issued under s.182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Home Office)
 The Event Safety Guide (HSE) 
 Fire Safety Risk Assessment Guides (HM Government)
 Good Practice Guide on the Control of Noise from Pubs and Clubs (Institute of 

Acoustics)
 Good Practice in Managing the Evening and Late Night Economy (ODPM)
 Technical Standards for Places of Public Entertainment (ABTT/IOL)
 Code of Practice on Environmental Noise Control at Concerts (Noise Council)
 Home Office Guide to Safer Clubbing
 ‘No Proof of Age – No Sale’ (Trading Standards handbook)
 The Portman Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of 

Alcoholic Drinks

4.1.4 The central purpose of the licensing function is to promote the licensing objectives through the 
effective regulation of licensed premises, qualifying clubs and temporary events.  The 
Authority is keen to foster a safe and vibrant leisure economy and will work with applicants 
and licence holders to encourage and sustain well managed premises which make a positive 
contribution to the community.   The Authority will expect applicants and licence holders to 
demonstrate that they have given thought to and have in place adequate measures to ensure 
that the operation of their premises will not have an adverse affect on the quality of life of 
persons living and/or working in the vicinity of the premises.

4.1.5 The powers of the Licensing Authority under the Act may be carried out by the Licensing 
Committee, by a sub-Committee of the Licensing Committee or by one or more officers acting 
under delegated authority.  Many licensing procedures are largely administrative with no 
perceived areas of contention. In the interests of efficiency, these procedures will generally be 
carried out by licensing officers.

Page 56



8

4.1.6 The Authority will ensure that all Officers and Members have received adequate and 
appropriate training for their roles under the Licensing Act 2003.

4.1.7 The Authority will delegate its functions in the following ways:

Matter to be dealt with Full Committee Sub-Committee Officers

Application for personal 
licence

If a police objection  made If no police objection 
made

Application for personal 
licence with relevant unspent 
convictions or relevant 
convictions arising during 
tenure of a licence

Decision to revoke or 
suspend if referred

All cases unless referred 
for revocation or 
suspension

Application for premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate

If a relevant representation 
made

If no relevant 
representation made

Application for provisional 
statement

If a relevant representation 
made

If no relevant 
representation made

Application to vary premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate

If a relevant representation 
made

If no relevant 
representation made

Application for minor variation 
of premises licence/club 
premises certificate

All cases

Application to vary designated 
premises supervisor

If a police objection made All other cases

Request to be removed as 
designated premises 
supervisor

All cases

Application for transfer of 
premises licence

If a police objection made All other cases

Applications for interim 
authorities

If a police objection made All other cases

Application to review premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate

All cases

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant frivolous 
vexatious etc

All cases

Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and 
not the relevant authority 
considering the application

All cases

Determination of an objection 
to a temporary event notice

All cases

Determination of application to 
vary premises licence for 
community premises to include 
alternative licence condition

If a police objection made All other cases

Decision whether to consult 
other responsible authorities 
on minor variation application

All cases

Suspension of premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate for non-payment of 
annual fee

All cases

Review of Statement of 
Licensing Policy

All cases (full Council)

Implementation of a Late Night 
Levy

All cases (full Council)

Creation of an Early Morning 
Restriction Order

All cases (full Council)

Page 57



9

4.2 The Licensing Authority as Responsible Authority

4.2.1 Section 103 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 amended the Licensing 
Act by making the licensing authority a ‘responsible authority’.  This enables the Authority to 
make representations about an application for a premises licence or club premises certificate 
or to apply for a review of a premises licence or a club premises certificate.

4.2.2 In cases where the Authority is acting in its capacity as a responsible authority, it will establish 
a clear separation of responsibilities within the Authority’s Licensing Team in order to ensure 
procedural fairness and to avoid potential conflict of interest.  This Authority will separate its 
responsibilities in the following manner:

 When acting as the licensing authority, this function will be carried out by the Lead 
Licensing Officer and elected members of the Authority’s Licensing Committee.  The 
Lead Licensing Officer will prepare and present reports for the Licensing Committee 
(or a sub-Committee) and will give advice on licensing issues, policy decisions and 
related matters.

 When acting as a responsible authority, representations and applications for reviews 
will be made by the Authority’s Neighbourhood Officer.  The Neighbourhood Officer 
will give evidence at a hearing in support of any representation or application for a 
review and will have equal status with any other responsible authority.

 There will be no communication between the Lead Licensing Officer and the 
Neighbourhood Officer on any aspect of an application about which the 
Neighbourhood Officer has made a representation or on any application for a review 
made by the Enforcement Officer

The Authority believes that this arrangement is consistent with Home Office guidance that a 
separation of responsibilities may be achieved by allocating different functions to different 
officers within the Authority (Home Office Guidance 9.17)

4.3 Integrating Strategies and Avoiding Duplication

4.3.1 This Policy supports two key goals in the Council’s Strategic Plan:

 Stronger, safer, healthier communities
 Developing a prosperous and sustainable economy

The Authority recognises that unnecessary and over-burdensome regulation can prevent 
businesses from thriving and growing.  The Authority will therefore endeavour to regulate 
licensed premises in a proportionate manner in accordance with the Regulators’ Code.  
Premises will be assessed on the basis of risk to the promotion of the licensing objectives.  
Premises with a high risk-rating will be inspected more frequently than premises with a low 
risk-rating.

4.3.2 The Authority will endeavour to ensure that this Statement of Licensing Policy is aligned with 
and supports local crime prevention, planning, transport, tourism and cultural strategies (see 
4.1.3).  To this end, the Authority will work closely with other agencies and will contribute, 
where appropriate, to the development of policies and initiatives to tackle alcohol-related 
crime and disorder.  This may include promoting and participating in schemes such as Best 
Bar None, Purple Flag, Business Improvement Districts etc.

4.3.3 The Authority recognises that it is a fundamental principle of the Act that the licensing function 
should not duplicate other statutory regulation.  In particular, the Licensing Authority 
recognises that licensing applications should not be seen as a repeat of the planning 
application process and that there is no legal basis to refuse a licence application because it 
does not have planning permission. Applicants are recommended, however, to ensure that 
appropriate planning permissions are obtained before an application for a premises licence or 
club premises certificate is made. 

Page 58



10

Home Office guidance makes it clear that licensing committees are not bound by decisions made by planning 
committees and vice-versa.  The Guidance also states that, where, as a condition of a planning permission, a 
terminal hour has been set for use of the premises for commercial purposes and this is different to the licensing 
hours, the applicant must observe the earlier closing times. 

4.4 Large Scale Public Events and the Safety Advisory Group (SAG) Function

4.4.1 The Authority recommends that organisers of large scale public events (outdoor music 
concerts, sporting events, festivals, carnivals, firework displays, etc.) consult the Authority at 
the earliest opportunity to discuss arrangements for the licensing of those activities falling 
under the Act. 

4.4.2 In respect of some events, the organisers may require a single premises licence to cover a 
wide range of activities at different locations within the premises. This may involve the 
preparation of a substantial operating schedule.  For other events, applications for connected 
premises licences or TENs may be made which in combination will represent a single event. 
The Authority consider it is essential to have proper co-ordination of such arrangements and 
will expect organisers to work with the Authority in ensuring that responsible authorities are 
aware of the connected nature of the individual applications. 

4.4.3 Applicants planning a large scale event - whether this involves licensable activities or not - are 
likely to be requested to convene a Safety Advisory Group (SAG).  The SAG will comprise 
personnel from relevant statutory authorities and will provide the applicant with advice and 
guidance to help ensure public health and safety.  A SAG will generally be recommended 
where more than 500 persons are expected to attend the event although smaller events with 
perceived high risks to public safety may also require a SAG.  It will be the responsibility of the 
event organiser to arrange a SAG. Individuals seeking advice are recommended to contact 
the Authority if in any doubt as to whether a SAG is required.

4.5 Related Legislation

4.5.1 There is a significant interplay between the Licensing Act and other legislation.  The Authority 
will endeavour to interpret and apply other statutory requirements in a way which is consistent 
with the promotion of the licensing objectives.

4.5.2 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014

Under the provisions of the Act, consumption of alcohol is not a licensable activity.  However, 
the Authority recognises that consumption of alcohol can be a major contributory factor to 
disorder and nuisance both within and outside licensed premises.  This Council has adopted 
the relevant powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 to 
designate parts of the District as places where the consumption of alcohol can be controlled.  
The Quay, Victoria Park, Landivisiau Walk and King George V playing fields are currently 
designated as alcohol controlled zones.  The Authority, in conjunction with the police, Torridge 
and North Devon Community Safety Partnership and other Responsible Authorities, will keep 
this under review and may recommend the designation of other areas if there is evidence that 
this is necessary to reduce or prevent alcohol-related crime and disorder.

4.5.3 Gambling Act 2005

The provision of gaming machines and certain forms of low-stakes gambling (e.g. poker, 
bingo) are permitted in alcohol-licensed premises and qualifying clubs under the Gambling Act 
2005.  The type of gambling allowed and stakes and prizes are specified in regulations and 
are set at levels which are designed to keep this form of gaming a low-risk, sociable activity.  
Generally, such gaming should be ancillary to the primary use of the premises.  The Authority 
may take action against a premises where it believes that gaming is becoming the dominant 
activity or is having a detrimental effect on the licensing objectives.

Page 59



11

4.5.4 Health Act 2006

The introduction of the Health Act 2006 which prohibited smoking in enclosed or substantially 
enclosed spaces in England has had a significant impact on alcohol-licensed premises and 
qualifying clubs.  In many premises, customers who wish to smoke may be permitted to 
smoke in beer gardens, outdoor patio areas or in the street.  This can result in noise, nuisance 
and anti-social behaviour for nearby residents, businesses and passers-by, especially late at 
night when background noise levels are low.  The Authority will expect applicants and licence 
holders to have particular regard to the management of customers in the immediate vicinity of 
their premises to ensure that their behaviour does not cause offence or undermine the 
licensing objectives.

4.5.5 Live Music Act 2012; The Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) 
Order 2013; The Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014

Since 2012, the Government has de-regulated various types of entertainment which 
previously fell under the control of the Licensing Act 2003.

Included in this de-regulation are the following:

 The provision of live and recorded music at certain times of the day (dependent upon 
the nature of the premises and other licences in place)

 Removal of requirement to licence the provision of facilities for making music or 
dancing

 Performance of plays or performance of dance for audiences up to 500 persons
 Indoor sporting events for audiences up to 1000 persons
 Greco-Roman and freestyle wrestling between 9am and 11pm for audiences up to 

1000 persons
 Exhibition of film that is incidental to another activity
 Reduced requirements for travelling circuses

Any conditions relating to live music which are attached to a premises licence or a Club 
Premises Certificate will stay in place but will be suspended between 8.00 am and 11.00 pm.  
However, the licensing authority will be able to re-impose these conditions (or attach new 
conditions) following a review of a licence.  

The Authority recognises the importance of encouraging live music as part of the Authority’s 
wider cultural strategy and will endeavour to promote this activity through its licensing function.  
However, applicants and licence holders must be aware that, although certain types of live 
music are no longer licensable, this does not mean that such activity is totally exempt from 
licensing controls.  The legal duty on licence holders to promote the licensing objectives 
remains.   A Responsible Authority or any other person may apply for a review of a premises 
licence where it can be demonstrated that live music provided under the provisions of the Live 
Music Act undermines any of the licensing objectives (see 9.2).

When considering whether an activity constitutes ‘the provision of regulated entertainment’ 
each case will be treated on its own merits. There will inevitably be a degree of judgement as 
to whether a performance constitutes live music or not.  If in doubt, organisers of events 
should check with the Authority.

4.5.7 Sexual Entertainment Venues

The Policing and Crime Act amended Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 to incorporate sexual entertainment venues. This means that premises 
offering lap dancing or any live performance or display of nudity on more than 11 occasions 
within a 12 month period - in addition to any relevant entertainment - will be required to obtain 
a separate sex establishment licence, authorising such activity. 

Page 60



12

The Council’s Sex Establishment Policy is the subject of a separate public consultation and 
the adopted policy stands separate from this Licensing Policy.  The Policy may be viewed on 
the Council’s website. 

Where the promoter of a sexual entertainment venue wishes to provide any of the licensable 
activities as outlined in the Licensing Act 2003 in addition to the sexual entertainment, a 
premises licence will also be required to authorise such activities.

4.5.8 Immigration Act 2016

The commencement of the Immigration Act 2016 made it a requirement for licensing 
authorities to be satisfied that an applicant has the right to work in the UK. An application 
made by someone who is not entitled to work in the UK must be rejected.

Licences must not be issued to people who are illegally present in the UK, who are not 
permitted to work, or who are permitted to work but are subject to a condition that prohibits 
them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. 

A premises or personal licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 
2017 will lapse if the holder’s permission to live or work in the UK comes to an end. 

5. THE LICENSING PROCESS

5.1 Applications

5.1.1 Application forms may be downloaded from the Authority’s website. Applicants are strongly 
recommended to discuss their application with a member of the Licensing Team prior to 
formal submission.   The Authority may reject applications which have not been completed 
correctly or contain insufficient information.

5.1.2 Applications, notices or relevant representations shall be treated as having been “given” to the 
Authority if delivered by hand to any Council office between 9.00 a.m. and 5.00 p.m. on a 
working day.  Otherwise, documents shall be treated as having been “given” to the Authority in 
accordance with the principles of “deemed service” as set out in the Civil Procedure Rules.  

5.1.3 The Act requires that applications for premises licences/club premises certificates – or 
variations thereof – are advertised in accordance with regulations.  The Authority will need to 
be satisfied that the applicant has complied fully with these regulations and may request 
copies of notices and advertisements to verify that the application has been properly made.  If 
an application has not been correctly advertised, the Authority may reject the application.  
Further guidance on advertising applications is available on the Authority’s website 

5.1.4 When preparing applications, applicants should demonstrate a good level of knowledge of 
their local area.  The Authority will expect applicants to give full consideration to the nature of 
the premises, the locality in which a premises is situated, the potential risks involved in 
carrying out licensable activities and to put in place measures which are appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives.  (See also 7.5)

5.2 Representations

5.2.1 Representations must be made to the Authority in writing within the 28 day consultation 
period.  For this purpose, a representation made by e-mail or facsimile transmission will be 
acceptable.

5.2.2 Section 18(6) of the Licensing Act 2003 defines what constitutes a ‘relevant’ representation.  
To be relevant, a representation must relate to the likely effect of the grant of a licence on the 
promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives.  There is nothing in the Act to say that a 
representation must be of a negative nature. The Act specifically refers to ‘representations’ 

Page 61



13

rather than ‘objections’ recognising that representations may express positive support for an 
application.  The Authority will consider both positive and negative representations provided 
they are relevant.

5.2.3 Where no relevant representations are received, the application will be granted on the terms 
applied for.   Where relevant representations are received, the application will be considered 
by a Licensing sub-Committee at a hearing as will any application for review of a licence (see 
9.2). The Authority has established its own hearing procedures as provided for by regulations 
made under the Act and these are included at Appendix A.

Home Office Guidance states “A hearing is not required where an application has been properly made and no 
Responsible Authority or other person has made a relevant representation.  In these cases, the licensing authority 
must grant the application on the terms sought subject only to conditions which are consistent with the operating 
schedule and relevant mandatory conditions under the Act”. 

5.2.4 Any party to a hearing may expand on their representation but may not add new or different 
representations.

5.2.5 Representations which are deemed by the Authority to be repetitious, frivolous, vexatious may 
be disregarded.

5.2.6 Where a notice of a hearing is given to an applicant, the licensing authority is required by 
regulations to provide the applicant with copies of the relevant representations that have been 
made. In exceptional circumstances, a person wishing to make a representation may be 
reluctant to do so because of fears of intimidation or harassment if their personal details are 
disclosed to the applicant.   Where the Authority considers that the person has a genuine and 
well-founded fear of intimidation and may be deterred from making a representation, the 
Authority may consider alternative approaches. For example, the Authority may advise the 
individual to provide the relevant Responsible Authority with details of how they consider that 
the licensing objectives are being undermined so that the Responsible Authority can make 
representations if appropriate and justified.  Alternatively, the Authority may advise the 
individual to request their local councillor to make a representation on their behalf.  Where 
appropriate, the Authority may decide to withhold some or all of the person’s details from the 
applicant.  The Authority will only withhold such details where the circumstances justify such 
action.  Persons making representations should be aware that their personal details will 
normally be disclosed during the hearing process.

5.3 Determining Applications

5.3.1 When determining a licence application, the overriding principle adopted by this Authority will 
be that each application will be determined on its merits.  The Authority will have regard to any 
guidance issued by the Home Office, this Statement of Licensing Policy and any measures it 
deems appropriate to promote the licensing objectives.  The Authority may depart from the 
guidelines in this Policy if it has justifiable and compelling reasons to do so.  The Authority will 
give reasons for any such departure from policy.

5.3.2 The Authority will expect applicants to demonstrate in their applications active steps for the 
promotion the licensing objectives.  When determining an application, a key consideration for 
the Authority will be the adequacy of measures proposed in the Operating Schedule to 
promote the licensing objectives having regard to the type of premises, the licensable 
activities to be provided, the nature of the location and the needs of the local community.  

5.3.3 The Authority will also have regard to wider considerations affecting the residential population, 
businesses and the amenity of an area.  These include alcohol-related violence and disorder, 
anti-social behaviour, littering, fouling, noise and the capacity of the infrastructure and police 
resources to cope with the movement of large numbers of people, particularly late at night and 
in the early morning.

Page 62



14

5.3.4 Since the introduction of the Act, the Authority’s experience is that the vast majority of 
complaints about licensed premises are caused by public nuisance, in particular excessive 
noise from live and recorded music and disturbance caused by customers congregating 
outside licensed premises.  The Authority will expect applicants to have particular regard to 
these issues and to include in their Operating Schedules adequate and effective steps to 
control noise and disturbance from their premises.  Existing licence holders will also be 
expected to demonstrate – through the effective management of their premises – that they are 
taking appropriate and reasonable steps within their control to minimise disorder, anti-social 
behaviour and public nuisance.

Public nuisance is not defined in the Licensing Act 2003 and retains its broad common law meaning. It should be 
noted that public nuisance can include low-level nuisance affecting a few people living locally as well as major 
disturbance affecting the whole community.  It may also include the reduction of the living and working amenity and 
environment of persons and businesses in the vicinity of licensed premises.

5.3.5 When deciding whether to grant a licence, the Authority may take account of any non-
compliance with other statutory requirements brought to its attention, if these undermine the 
licensing objectives.  This is because any non-compliance with other statutory requirements 
may demonstrate that the premises are unsuitable for the activities proposed, or that the 
management of the premises is not sufficiently competent to protect the public from harm or 
nuisance. 

5.3.6 When determining an application, the Authority will consider all relevant evidence, both oral 
and written, provided by parties to a hearing.  Evidence which is irrelevant may be 
disregarded.  The Authority encourages applicants and persons making representations to 
attend hearings so that they can give evidence.  Where an individual fails to attend the 
hearing, the Authority will consider their application or representation but may attach less 
weight to it.

5.3.7 It should be noted that, when determining an application, the Authority is making a judgement 
about risk.  A key purpose of the licensing function is not to respond to crime and disorder, 
nuisance or public harm once it has happened but to make an informed assessment of the 
risk of such things occurring if a licence is granted and to take such steps as it considers 
appropriate to prevent or minimise such risks.

5.3.8 The Authority will generally give its decision on an application at the end of a hearing and will 
give clear reasons for its decision.  In all other cases, the Authority will make its determination 
within five working days.

5.3.9 Any party to a hearing who is dissatisfied with the Authority’s decision may appeal to the 
Magistrates’ Court.  An appeal must be made within 21 days of formal notification of the 
decision.

5.4 Mobile, Remote, Internet and Other Delivery Sales

5.4.1 The Authority will have due regard to sales of alcohol which are made remotely, by mobile 
methods, internet or by other delivery sales (see Home Office Guidance 3.8/3.9).  Mobile 
premises must have a premises licence for each location they intend to trade at.

5.4.2 The Authority will expect applicants to propose appropriate conditions for these types of 
activities in order to address any potential adverse impact on the licensing objectives.

5.4.3 Persons who wish to run premises providing ‘alcohol delivery services’ should notify the 
Authority that they are operating such a service in their application. This will enable the 
Authority to consider what conditions might be required to promote the licensing objectives.  
Premises with existing premises licences who wish to include such a service should apply to 
vary their licence to add this activity.

Page 63



15

6.0 LICENSING HOURS

6.1 In general, the Licensing Authority will deal with the issue of licensing hours on the individual 
merits of each application.  However, when issuing a licence with hours beyond 23.00 hours, 
higher standards of control and supervision will be expected in order to promote the licensing 
objectives - especially for premises situated in or near residential areas.  

6.2 The Act does not provide for standard closing times.  Licensed premises will generally be 
permitted to sell alcohol during the hours they intend to open provided they can demonstrate 
to the satisfaction of the Licensing Authority and the Responsible Authorities that the premises 
will be operated in a manner consistent with the licensing objectives, Home Office guidance 
and this Policy.  However, there is no presumption that applications for extended hours will 
take precedence over the human rights of local residents and businesses.

6.3 The licensed hours will normally be approved where the applicant can show that the proposal 
would not adversely affect the licensing objectives.  The Licensing Authority may, however, 
set an earlier terminal hour where it considers this is appropriate to the nature of the activities 
and the amenity of the area or is necessary to achieve one or more of the licensing objectives.

Home Office Guidance states that the licensing objectives should be the Authority’s paramount 
consideration at all times when determining applications.  If the Licensing Committee or a sub-
Committee believes that granting longer hours would undermine the licensing objectives, it may reject 
the application or grant it with appropriate conditions and/or different hours from those requested. 

6.4 The Licensing Authority recognises that fixed and artificially early closing times in certain 
areas can lead to peaks of disorder and disturbance on the streets when large numbers of 
people tend to leave licensed premises at the same time.  Flexible licensing hours in relation 
to the sale of alcohol may therefore be considered as a potential means of reducing friction at 
late night food outlets, taxi ranks and other ‘flashpoints’ in areas where there have already 
been incidents of disorder and disturbance.

6.5 Shops, stores and supermarkets will generally be permitted to sell alcohol for consumption off 
the premises during the normal hours they intend to open for shopping purposes.  However, in 
the case of individual shops, which are known to be a focus of disorder and disturbance then, 
where relevant representations are received, the Authority may consider a restriction on 
licensed hours where this is necessary to promote one or more of the licensing objectives.

6.6 Because opening hours (i.e. hours when there are no licensable activities taking place) may in 
themselves impact on the licensing objectives, the Authority will require any proposed change 
to opening hours for an existing licence to be authorised by way of a variation to the licence. 
This can be achieved by way of a minor variation application.

7. LICENCE CONDITIONS

7.1 Conditions attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate are a key element of the 
regulatory framework established by the Act.  There are three types of condition:

 mandatory conditions set out in the Act,
 conditions consistent with the operating schedule, and
 conditions imposed by the licensing authority.

The Licensing Authority may only impose conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate where it has 
received a relevant representation about an application.  The application will then be determined at a hearing by a 
Licensing sub-Committee.  If no relevant representation is received, the application must be granted on the terms 
applied for subject only to the mandatory conditions and conditions consistent with the Operating Schedule.

Page 64



16

7.2 Conditions are crucial in setting the parameters within which premises can lawfully operate.  
Any contravention of a condition on a premises licence or club premises certificate is a 
criminal offence so it is essential that conditions are worded clearly, precisely and 
unambiguously.  In addition, conditions must:

 be appropriate, reasonable and proportionate
 be enforceable
 not duplicate other statutory requirements
 be relevant to the particular type, location and character of the premises concerned
 not be standardised
 not replicate offences set out in the Act or in other legislation
 be written in a prescriptive format

7.3 The Authority encourages applicants to seek technical advice from the appropriate 
Responsible Authorities when preparing their Operating Schedules as this will enable any 
problems to be resolved at an early stage and will reduce the likelihood of representations.  

7.4 Experience has shown that many of the conditions volunteered by applicants are poorly 
worded, unclear or ambiguous and therefore unenforceable.  As an aid to applicants, the 
Authority has prepared a menu of suggested measures to promote the licensing objectives 
which applicants are encouraged to consider when preparing their operating schedules. 
These measures are not prescriptive but will help to ensure that licence conditions are 
expressed clearly and consistently and enable enforcement to be carried out equitably.  The 
measures can be viewed on the Council’s website. The Authority, in consultation with the 
applicant, may amend the wording of proposed conditions where this is unclear, ambiguous or 
unenforceable.

 Home Office guidance states that it is not acceptable for licensing authorities to simply replicate the wording from 
an applicant’s operating schedule.  A condition should be interpreted in accordance with the applicant’s intention. 

7.5 The Authority will pay particular attention to the effect – potential or actual - of licensable 
activities on those living, working or otherwise engaged in the area concerned and, where 
relevant representations are received, may attach conditions if it considers it appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives.

7.6 Conditions attached by the Authority to Premises Licences and Club premises certificates will 
relate to matters falling within the control of individual licensees.  It is recognised that the 
licensing function cannot be a mechanism for the control of disorderly behaviour by individuals 
once they are beyond the direct control of the licence holder.  However, the Licensing 
Authority and Responsible Authorities may take action where it can be established that there 
is a clear linkage between disorderly behaviour and a specific premises.

7.7 The Authority will not impose inappropriate or over-burdensome conditions on licences.  The 
Authority may, however, impose conditions where existing legislation does not provide 
adequate controls and additional measures are considered to be appropriate for the promotion 
of the licensing objectives.

7.8 Although it is not a legal requirement, the Licensing Authority recommends as good practice - 
in respect of premises licensed to sell or supply alcohol for consumption on the premises - 
that a Personal Licence holder is on the premises at all times to make or authorise such sales 
or supplies. The Authority is keen to encourage the presence of properly trained staff on 
licensed premises.  Applicants may wish to consider including this as a condition of licence, 
where appropriate, as a measure to promote the licensing objectives.  Where this is not 
possible (because the premises is too small or because staffing levels do not permit) or when 
the Premises Supervisor/Personal Licence holder will be absent for a significant length of 
time, a responsible person should be authorised to oversee the sale of alcohol in the place of 
the Premises Supervisor/Personal Licence holder.  The Authority will expect the authorisation 
to be made in writing, kept securely on the premises and made available for inspection by an 
authorised person if requested.  Copies of the authorisation should be sent to the licensing 
authority and the police.

Page 65



17

NB.  ‘Authorisation’ does not mean direct supervision.  The government  recommends that Personal Licence 
holders give specific written authorisations to individuals they are authorising to sell or supply alcohol and that such 
individuals are clearly identified 

8. CUMULATIVE IMPACT

8.1 Cumulative impact assessments (CIA) were introduced by the Policing and Crime Act 2017, 
with effect from 6 April 2018

8.2 The Authority may publish a cumulative impact assessment (CIA) to help limit the number or 
types of licence applications granted in areas where there is evidence to show that the 
number or density of licensed premises in the area is having a cumulative impact and 
leading to problems which are undermining the licensing objectives.

8.3 This should not, however, be equated with 'need' which relates more to the commercial 
demand for a particular type of premises. The issue of 'need' is a matter for planning 
consideration or for the market to decide and does not form part of this licensing policy 
statement.

8.4  If the Authority receives relevant evidence suggesting that the cumulative impact of new and 
varied licences is leading to an area becoming saturated with premises of a particular type 
and thereby creating problems of disorder and nuisance over and above the impact of the 
individual premises, the Authority may consider the issue of cumulative impact when 
determining an application. The onus is on any person, or organisation, submitting evidence 
to prove the assertion that the grant of the licence would cause the cumulative impact 
claimed.

8.5   The Authority does not propose to operate a quota system of any kind, which would have the 
effect of pre-determining any application; nor does it seek to impose general limitations on 
trading hours in particular areas.  The Authority recognises that pubs, clubs, restaurants, 
hotels, theatres, concert halls and cinemas have contrasting characteristics and styles of 
operation. Proper regard will be given to those differences and the impact they are likely to 
have on the promotion of the licensing objectives.

8.6   There must be an evidential basis for the Authority to make the decision to publish a CIA. 
The Community Safety Partnership, the Police and Environmental Health, may hold relevant 
information which would assist the Licensing Authority when establishing the evidence base 
for publishing a CIA. Evidence of cumulative impact on the promotion of the licensing 
objectives needs to relate to the relevant problems identified in the specified area to be 
covered by the CIA. Information which the Authority may be able to draw on includes:

  Local crime and disorder statistics, including statistics on specific types of crime and   
crime hotspots
  Statistics on local anti-social behaviour offences
  Health related statistics such as alcohol related emergency attendances and hospital  

admissions
  Environmental Health complaints, particularly in relation to litter and noise
 Complaints recorded by the local authority, which may include complaints raised by 

local residents or residents associations
 Residents questionnaires
 Evidence from local and parish councillors and
 Evidence obtained through local consultation

This Licensing Authority may consider this evidence, alongside its own evidence of the impact 
of licensable activities within its area and consider in particular the times at which licensable 
activities are carried on. Information which may inform consideration of these issues includes:

Page 66



18

 Trends in licence applications, particularly trends in applications by types of premises 
and terminal hours

 Changes in terminal hours of premises
 Premises capacities at different times of night and the expected concentrations of 

drinkers who will be expected to be leaving premises at different times.

8.7 Where there is evidence that a particular area of the District is already suffering adverse 
effects arising from a concentration of late night premises, or that residential areas are under 
stress, this may be taken into account in determining any further applications for licences 
within the area identified. In such circumstances the Licensing Authority may take into 
account:

 The character of the surrounding area;
 The impact of the licence on the surrounding area, both individually and cumulatively 

with existing licences;
 The nature and character of the proposed operation.
 Evidence from a Responsible Authority of potential or actual negative impact on the 

licensing objectives in any given area,
 The number of substantiated complaints about licensed premises received from 

residents and/or businesses in any given area.

8.8 This Authority does not currently propose to adopt a ‘special policy’ in relation to cumulative 
impact.  However, the Authority recognises that there is a significant concentration of 
licensed premises in Bideford town centre which, collectively, has the capacity to have a 
disproportionate effect on residents and businesses both in the town centre and in the 
immediately adjacent area.  Therefore, when considering applications for new licences/club 
premises certificates or applications to vary existing premises licences/club premises 
certificates - especially where longer hours are sought - applications will only be granted 
where the Authority is satisfied that there will be no adverse effect on the licensing 
objectives.

9. ENFORCEMENT

9.1 Enforcement Activity and Policy
 
9.1.1 The Authority employs enforcement officers to investigate complaints against licensed 

premises, allegations of unlicensed activities, and the breach of licence conditions. 
Enforcement may be carried out independently by these authorised persons or in partnership 
with other enforcement agencies and Responsible Authorities. Where joint enforcement work 
is envisaged, the Authority will establish appropriate protocols, which will be reviewed at 
regular intervals. 

9.1.2 In general, action will be taken in accordance with the Authority’s Enforcement Policy. The 
Authority will apply the key principles of proportionate, accountable, consistent, transparent 
and targeted in accordance with the Regulators Code.  Inspection and enforcement will be 
risk-based with a lighter touch being adopted for premises which are well managed and where 
there is little or no evidence of crime and disorder, public nuisance or other problems.  

9.1.3 An incremental approach will be adopted starting with a verbal or written warning for 
infringements of the law or failure to comply with licence conditions.  Failure to respond to 
such warnings will result in stronger enforcement measures being taken, which could lead to a 
prosecution or an application being made for the review of a licence or club premises 
certificate (see 9.2). (Please refer to section 18.0 with regard to the suspension of a premises 
licence or club premises certificate for non-payment of an annual maintenance fee).

Page 67



19

9.2 Review

9.2.1 A Responsible Authority and any other person can, at any time following the grant of a 
Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate, apply to the Licensing Authority to review the 
licence/certificate because of concerns arising at the premises which may have an adverse 
impact on any of the licensing objectives.  The Authority regards this as a valuable protection 
for residents and businesses.  Applications for a review must be made in writing and will be 
considered by a Licensing sub-Committee at a hearing.

9.2.2 An application for a review will be treated seriously.  Responsible authorities will aim to give 
licence holders early warning of any concerns identified at a premises, and talk to the licence 
or certificate holder to establish whether there are any steps they may be willing to take to 
rectify the situation. Similarly, individuals seeking a review are encouraged to take initial 
steps such as:

 asking the Licensing Authority to talk to the licence holder on their behalf
 asking their local MP or Councillor to speak to the licence holder on their behalf
 talking to the relevant responsible authority (e.g. Environmental Protection Team in 

relation to noise nuisance or the police in relation to crime and disorder) to establish 
whether there is other action that can be taken to resolve the problem.

9.2.3 The review process is not intended as a means of challenging the grant of a licence following 
the failure of representations to persuade the licensing authority on an earlier occasion. No 
more than one review from a person other than a Responsible Authority will be entertained in 
relation to a particular premises within a period of twelve months on similar grounds, save in 
compelling circumstances (e.g. where new problems have arisen) or where the review is 
triggered following a closure order made under s.160 or s.161 of the Act.

9.2.4 When considering a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, the Authority 
will expect the applicants for the review to provide evidence of previous infringements of 
licensing regulations, failure to comply with licence conditions and/or of failure to promote the 
licensing objectives. Further guidance on the review procedure is available from the Home 
Office (www.gov.uk) and the Council’s website.

9.2.5 Following a review, the Authority will focus any remedial action directly on the concerns 
identified in the representations.  In all cases, action will be appropriate, reasonable and 
proportionate to the nature of the problems giving rise to the review.  Options available to the 
Authority are:

 to modify the conditions of licence
 to exclude a licensable activity form the scope of the licence
 to remove the designated premises supervisor
 to suspend the licence for a period of not more than three months
 to revoke the licence

9.2.6 In cases where the crime and disorder objective has been undermined or where it can be 
demonstrated that a premises has a history of persistent offending, suspension or revocation 
of a licence - even in the first instance - may be seriously considered as a form of deterrence. 

 (See also 10.6).

9.2.7 Any person aggrieved by the decision of the Authority has the right of appeal to the 
Magistrates’ Court.  An appeal must be made within 21 days of the Licensing Authority’s 
decision.

Page 68



20

10. CHILDREN IN LICENSED PREMISES

10.1 The Licensing Authority recognises the great variety of premises for which licences may be 
sought.  These will include theatres, cinemas, restaurants, pubs, nightclubs, registered clubs, 
cafes, takeaways, community halls and schools.  As a general principle, access by children to 
licensed premises will not be limited, and any restrictions will be left to the discretion of the 
licensee unless it is considered necessary to protect children from harm. 

10.2 When deciding whether to limit access to children, the Licensing Authority will judge each 
application on its individual merits.  Examples which may give rise to concern in respect of 
children would include premises: 
 where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is provided;
 where there is a strong element of gambling taking place;
 where a member or members of the current management have been convicted for 

serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for allowing underage drinking (other than 
in the context of the exemption in the 2003 Act relating to 16 and 17 year olds 
consuming beer, wine and cider when accompanied by an adult during a table meal);

 with a known association with drug taking or dealing;
 where it is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed access;
 in some cases, the premises are used exclusively or primarily for the sale of alcohol

for consumption on the premises.

10.3 Where the exhibition of films is permitted, the Licensing Authority will expect age restrictions 
to be complied with in accordance with the British Board of Film Classification’s 
recommendations. The Authority will only consider variations to this general rule in 
exceptional circumstances.

10.4 Where relevant representations have been received, the Authority may impose licence 
conditions at premises where children will be present for regulated entertainment so that 
sufficient adult staff must be present to control the access and egress of children and to 
ensure their safety.  Where children may also be present at an event as entertainers it will be 
a requirement for there to be a nominated adult responsible for child performers present at 
such performances.

10.5 The Licensing Authority will take strong measures to protect children where any licence holder 
is convicted of serving alcohol to minors, where premises have a known association with drug 
taking or dealing, gambling takes place on the premises or where entertainment of an adult or 
sexual nature is provided.  Options which the Authority may consider appropriate to limit 
access by children may include: 

 a limit on the hours when children may be present;
 restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain ages when

particular specified activities are taking place;
 restricting on the parts of the premises to which children may have access
 age restrictions (for under 18s);
 requirements for an accompanying adult ( including for example, a combination of

requirements which provide that children under a particular age must be accompanied 
by an adult)

 exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are 
taking place.

10.6 In the event of a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate for under age sales 
of alcohol, the Authority will take strong and appropriate action to ensure that children are 
protected.  This may include, for example, removal of the Designated Premises Supervisor or 
suspension or revocation of the licence/club premises certificate.

10.7 This Authority has designated the Devon Safeguarding Children’s Board, Follaton House, 
Plymouth Road, Totnes, Devon as the body competent to advise the Authority on issues 
relating to the protection of children from harm.

Page 69



21

11. DRUGS/ILLEGAL SUBSTANCES

11.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that drug use is not something that is experienced by all 
licensed premises.  However, where relevant representations are received, the Licensing 
Authority may need to impose special conditions for certain types of venues in order to reduce 
the sale and consumption of drugs and to create a safer environment for customers using the 
premises.  The Authority may also have regard to the “Safer Clubbing” guidance published by 
the Home Office.  Where the Authority deems such conditions to be appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives, it will seek advice from the local Drugs Action Team and 
the Police.

12.  DOOR SUPERVISORS

12.1 Whenever any persons are employed at licensed premises to carry out any security activity, 
all such persons must be licensed by the Security Industry Authority.  The Authority 
recognises that certain premises, because of the nature of their operation, their capacity, their 
licensed hours and the licensable activities provided, may require stricter supervision for the 
purpose of reducing crime and disorder and public nuisance.  In such cases, where relevant 
representations are received, the Authority may impose a condition that licensed door 
supervisors must be employed at the premises either at all times or at such times as certain 
licensable activities are being carried out.

12.2 The Authority recognises that Door Supervisors have an important function in terms of 
supervising customers not only inside premises but also outside.  Door Supervisors will 
therefore be expected to take a pro-active role in managing the behaviour of customers 
outside premises in order to minimise any disturbance and nuisance to nearby residents.  
Licence holders should ensure in particular that, at closing times, they have sufficient Door 
Supervisors to effectively control ‘surges’ of customers leaving premises.

12.3 Whenever security operatives are employed at licensed premises to carry out any security 
function such operatives must be licensed by the Security Industry Authority (SIA). Competent 
and professional door supervisors are key to public safety at licensed premises and the 
provision of door supervisors is an action point for the leisure industry to consider in the Home 
Office Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy. 

It is a mandatory condition of a Premises Licence that where the licence requires personnel to carry out security 
activity (e.g. screening of customers, dealing with conflict management, crowd control) such personnel are licensed 
by the Security Industry Authority. (Licensing Act 2003, s.21)

13. VESSELS

13.1 There are a number of additional responsible authorities stipulated in the Act which relate to 
the licensing of vessels (see Appendix C). The Authority will consider any representations 
made by these Responsible Authorities when considering applications for premises licences in 
respect of a vessel.  Where, in the opinion of the Authority, any of the four objectives are 
undermined, and this cannot be resolved through the imposition of specific conditions, the 
application is likely to be refused.

14. LICENSING OF PUBLIC LAND

14.1 The Authority recognises that land owned by the local authority and by other public bodies 
often lends itself to the performance of public events which involve one or more licensable 
activities.  In the interests of promoting cultural richness and diversity within the area, the 
Authority will encourage the local authority to apply for such licences for the benefit of the 
community where it is satisfied that they will not have a negative impact on the licensing 
objectives. 

Page 70



22

14.2 In order to help event organisers and touring entertainment providers plan where licensable 
activities will be carried out the Department of Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) maintains a 
register of Licensed Public Spaces in England and Wales (www.culture.gov.uk). When a 
licence is issued for public land, the Authority will provide those areas licensed and the 
activities to which the licence relates to the DCMS for use in this register.

The Government encourages local authorities to consider establishing a policy of seeking premises licences for 
public spaces they own e.g. public parks, promenades, community buildings etc.  Where such licences are in force, 
this removes the burden on individuals and community organisations of applying for a premises licence or giving a 
Temporary Event Notice.

15.     TEMPORARY ACTIVITIES

15.1 The Licensing Act 2003 makes provision for regulating temporary events involving the supply 
of alcohol, the provision of regulated entertainment or the provision of late night refreshment at 
a premises which are not authorised by a premises licence or club premises certificate.  This 
provision can also be used by holders of premises licences and club premises certificates to 
authorise extensions to their permitted hours.

15.2 The system of temporary activities is intended as a light touch process and, as such, the 
carrying on of licensable activities does not have to be authorised by way of an application. 
Instead, a person wishing to hold an event at which it is proposed to carry out such activities is 
required to notify the licensing authority by way of a Temporary Event Notice (TEN).

15.3 A number of limitations are imposed on the use of TENs by the Act. The limitations apply to:

 the number of times a premises user may give a TEN (50 times in a calendar year for a 
personal licence holder and five times in a calendar year for other people); 

 the number of times a TEN may be given for any particular premises (15 times in a 
calendar year);

 the maximum duration of an event authorised by a TEN is 168 hours;
 a maximum total duration of the events authorised by TENs in relation to individual 

premises (21 days in a calendar year);
 the maximum number of people attending at any one time (fewer than 500); and
 the minimum period between events authorised under separate TENs in relation to the 

same premises (not including withdrawn TENs) by the same premises user (24 hours).

15.4 A TEN can be used for any ‘premises’.  This could be a building, a room in a building, a 
vehicle, a marquee, an open field etc. A TEN may only be given by an individual (aged over 
18) and not by an organisation or club or business.

15.5 There are two types of TEN; a standard TEN and a late TEN.  A standard TEN must be given 
no later than ten working days before the event to which it relates; a late TEN must be given 
not before nine and no later than five working days before the event.  (NB. Notice periods do 
not include the day the Notice is given to the licensing authority or the day of the event.  If this 
minimum period of notice is not given, the Authority will reject the Notice and the licensable 
activities may not take place).  Late TENs should generally be given only in exceptional 
circumstances which are outside the premises user’s control and where it is not possible to 
give a standard TEN.

 
15.6 The police and the Council’s Environmental Protection and Food and Safety Teams (the 

‘relevant persons’) may object to a Temporary Event Notice.  If the Authority receives an 
objection notice from a relevant person that is not withdrawn, it must (in the case of a standard 
TEN only) hold a hearing to consider the objection (unless all parties agree that this is 
unnecessary). The Authority must consider any objection on the basis of the licensing 
objectives and decide whether the event should go ahead. Relevant persons may also 
intervene by agreeing a modification of the proposed arrangements directly with the person 
giving the TEN.

Page 71

http://www.culture.gov.uk/
http://www.culture.gov.uk/
http://www.culture.gov.uk/
http://www.culture.gov.uk/


23

15.7 Where an objection is received, the Authority may impose conditions on a TEN but only where 
the venue at which the event is to be held has an existing premises licence or club premises 
certificate. The Authority may only otherwise intervene if the statutory permitted limits on TENs 
would be exceeded.

15.8 When giving a TEN, the premises user must consider the promotion of the four licensing 
objectives.  Organisers are strongly advised to contact relevant persons for advice at the 
earliest opportunity when planning events.  Planning at an early stage may well minimise or 
avoid potential objections.

15.9 Where the TEN includes the supply of alcohol, the responsibility for the supply rests with the 
person giving the Notice (the ‘premises user’).  The premises user does not have to be on the 
premises for the entire duration of the event but will be liable for any offences committed.

15.11 Further information on Temporary Events can be found at www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing and 
on the Home Office website at www.gov.uk

16.      LATE NIGHT LEVY

16.1 The Late Night Levy (“the levy”) is a discretionary power enabling licensing authorities to 
charge an additional fee to persons who are licensed to sell or supply alcohol late at night as a 
means of raising a contribution towards the costs of policing the night-time economy. Any net 
revenue from the levy must be split between the licensing authority and the Police, with at 
least 70% of the ‘net’ levy paid to the Police.

16.2 The legislative provisions relating to the levy are not part of the 2003 Act but are contained in 
Sections 125 to 139 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.

16.3 The Authority will review the need for a Late Night Levy at least every five years in conjunction 
with the review of this policy.  The Authority will, however, consider the introduction of a Late 
Night Levy at any time if circumstances change and evidence supports this course of action. 

17. EARLY MORNING RESTRICTION ORDERS

17.1 Early Morning Restrictions Orders (“EMROs”) are a discretionary power enabling licensing   
authorities to restrict sales of alcohol with the aim of tackling high levels of alcohol related 
crime and disorder, nuisance and anti-social behaviour. The EMRO may be applied to the 
whole or part of the licensing authority area and, if relevant, on specific days and at specific 
times. A statutory process must be undertaken before it is introduced and the licensing 
authority must be satisfied that such an order would be appropriate to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

17.2 The Authority will review the need for an EMRO at least every five years in conjunction with 
the review of this policy.   The Authority will consider the introduction of an EMRO at any time 
if circumstances change and evidence supports this course of action.

18. FEES

18.1 Following amendments that came into force in October 2012 the Licensing Act 2003 requires 
a licensing authority to suspend a premises licence or club premises certificate if the annual 
fee is not paid when it is due.

18.2 It is the practice of this Authority to issue an invoice for annual maintenance fee when the fee 
becomes due for payment.  Non payment will result in a suspension notice being served. 
Regulations state that the premises licence or club premises certificate holder will be given 
notice of a suspension that is at least 2 working days before the suspension is to take place. 

Page 72

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
http://www.gov.uk/


24

18.3 The Authority will not generally refund fees for licence applications, particularly where the 
Authority has incurred costs in accepting and processing applications.  Each case will, 
however, be decided on merit.

 

19. EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS ISSUES

19.1 In developing this policy, the Authority recognises its responsibilities under the Equality Act 
2010, to consider the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and to promote equal 
opportunities. The Policy therefore supports and is supported by Torridge District Council’s 
Equality Scheme and any equality issues will be addressed in an Equality Impact and Needs 
Assessment.

19.2 The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the European Convention on Human Rights and 
makes it unlawful for a local authority to act in a way that is incompatible with a convention 
right. The Authority will have regard to the Human Rights Act when exercising its licensing 
functions.

19.3 Conditions relating to disabled access will not be attached to licences, as this would duplicate 
existing statutory requirements. The Authority therefore takes this opportunity to remind holders 
of premises licences and club premises certificates of their duties under the Equality Act 2010. 

20. FURTHER INFORMATION

20.1 Contact details of the Licensing Authority and Responsible Authorities are given in Appendix C.

20.2 Further information and guidance on the Licensing Act can be viewed on the Authority’s website 
www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing. Application forms can be downloaded from the site or electronic 
applications submitted online.

20.3 Further information on alcohol and entertainment licensing is available on the Home Office 
website at www.gov.uk

Page 73

http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/licensing
http://www.gov.uk/


25

APPENDIX A

PROCEDURES FOR LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HEARINGS
AND THE FORM OF DISCUSSION AT HEARINGS

(Most procedural matters are dealt with in the Regulations and the Sub-Committee is obliged to observe these Regulations.   
Reg. 21 indicates that the Sub-Committee should, in other respects, determine the procedure to be followed at the hearing 
and Reg. 23 indicates that the hearing shall take the form of a discussion, normally without cross-examination).

1. The quorum for Sub-Committees shall be 3 and decisions may be taken by a majority vote. Abstentions will not 
be permitted and the Chair will not have a casting vote.

2. The Sub-Committee may specify a maximum period of time in which the parties may exercise the rights 
provided for in Reg.16 and may specify a maximum period of time in which any other person who is permitted 
to appear at the hearing may address the Sub-Committee.
 

3. At the start of the hearing the Chair shall:-

 Introduce the members of the Sub-Committee and explain the role of those present on behalf of the 
Authority

 Establish that no members of the Sub-Committee have a personal or prejudicial interest in the matter to 
be considered

 Establish who else is present and their interest in the hearing
 Ensure that an attendance list is circulating
 Explain the purpose of the hearing and the procedure to be followed
 Explain what will happen at the conclusion of the hearing.

4. The proceedings shall take the form of a discussion led by the Chair. Its purpose shall be to enable the parties 
and others to put their respective points of view and to enable the Sub-Committee to obtain all the information it 
needs to make its decision.

5. Unless the Sub-Committee, after consultation with the parties, determines otherwise, the Authority shall outline 
the case first and call any witnesses on its behalf. The applicant should then present its case and call any 
witnesses on its behalf. Other persons shall be heard in the order determined by the Sub-Committee. The 
applicant shall have the right of final reply.

6. The parties and members of the Sub-Committee may put questions to and invite comments from 
representatives and witnesses, and any other person present may put questions or invite comments with the 
consent of the Sub-Committee. Questions should be put impartially, through the Chair. 

7. Unless the Sub-Committee, after consultation with the parties, determines otherwise, witnesses shall not be 
allowed to address the hearing until they are called to give evidence.

8. The Sub-Committee may refuse to permit the giving of evidence that it considers to be irrelevant or repetitious.

9. At the conclusion of the presentation of the cases, the Sub-Committee may withdraw to consider its 
determination. Before making its determination, the Sub-Committee may receive advice on legal and procedural 
issues from its officers, but the substance of that advice shall be disclosed to the parties and they shall be given 
the opportunity to comment on it. 

10. The Sub-Committee may from time to time adjourn the hearing and, if the date, time and place of the adjourned 
hearing are announced at the hearing before the adjournment, no further notice shall be required.

11. The decision, with reasons, will normally be given at the conclusion of the hearing.

(Approved by Licensing Committee 14.2.2005)

Page 74



26

               APPENDIX B  –  GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Alcohol, authorised sale of 
- it is a mandatory condition of a Premises Licence that every supply of alcohol must be made or 
  authorised by a person who holds a Personal Licence.

Alcohol, retail sale of
defined by the Act (s.192) as any sale of alcohol other than to:

- a trader for the purposes of his trade
- a club which holds a Club premises certificate for the purposes of the Club
- the holder of a Personal Licence for the purpose of making sales authorised by a Premises Licence
- the holder of a Premises licence for the purpose of making sales authorised by that licence, or
  to the premises user in relation to a Temporary Event Notice for the purpose of making sales   
  authorised by that Notice.
  and which is made for consumption off the premises.

Appeal
- the Act provides for right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against a decision of the Licensing   
  Authority.  Appeals must be brought within 21 days of notification of the Authority’s decision.

Authorised Person
- an officer of the Licensing Authority who has been authorised by the Authority – generally for the purposes of 

inspection and/or enforcement – under the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003;
- an inspector appointed under s.18 of the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974;
- an office of the local authority exercising a statutory function in relation to pollution control or harm to human 

health;
- in relation to a vessel, an inspector or surveyor of ships appointed under s.256 of the Merchant Shipping Act 

1995;
- a person prescribed under s.13 (2) of the Act.

British Board of Film Classification
- the body responsible for determining the age rating of films screened in the UK.  Current ratings are:

  U    –  generally suitable for audiences over 4 years of age
   PG  – suitable for general viewing but some scenes may be unsuitable for young children
  12A – suitable for children aged 12 years and over

18   -  suitable only for adults

Club Premises Certificate
- A certificate authorising the use of premises by a qualifying club for one or more club activities.

Designated Premises Supervisor
- The individual specified in the premises licence as the premises supervisor. - in relation to premises selling 

alcohol, the person (who must hold a Personal Licence, who will normally have been given the day to day 
responsibility for running the premises by the holder of the Premises Licence or will be the Premises Licence 
holder himself.

Hearing 
  - a meeting of a Licensing sub-Committee – generally held in public - to determine an application for a 

Premises Licence where relevant representations have been received from a Responsible Authority or an 
interested party.  The hearing will be held before a licensing ‘panel’ comprising three members of the 
Licensing Committee who will hear evidence from the applicant and from the objectors.

Hot Food or Hot Drink 
  - food or drink supplied on or from any premises is “hot” for the purposes of Schedule 2 to the Act if  the food 

or drink, or any part of it:
(i) before it is supplied, is heated on the premises or elsewhere for the purpose of enabling it to be 
consumed at a temperature above the ambient air temperature and, at the time of supply, is above that 
temperature, or
(ii) after it is supplied, may be heated on the premises for the purpose of enabling it to be consumed at a 
temperature above the ambient air temperature.

Page 75



27

Late Night Refreshment 
   - the provision, between 11 pm and 5 am, of hot food or hot drink, to members of the public or a section of the 

public on or from any premises, whether for consumption on or off the premises between 11 pm and 5 am, or-
at any time between those hours when members of the public, or a section of the public, are admitted to any 
premises, a person supplies, or holds himself willing to supply, hot food or hot drink to any persons, or to 
persons of a particular description, on or from those premises, whether for consumption on or off the 
premises.

Licensing Committee
- The committee established by the licensing authority to discharge the licensing functions of the authority.

Licensing Hours
- The hours during which authorised licensable activities take place.

Licensing Qualification
- A qualification accredited or certified by the Secretary of State.

Operating Schedule 
- a document containing a statement including the following matters:

 the relevant licensable activities
 the times at which the licensable activities are to take place and any other times when premises are 

open to the public
 information regarding the person who will be specified in the Premises Licence as the Premises 

Supervisor
 where the licensable activities involve the supply of alcohol, whether it is for the supply on and/or off the 

premises
 the steps being taken to promote the licensing objectives.

Personal Licence
- A licence which authorises an individual to supply or authorise the supply of alcohol in accordance with a 

premises licence..

Premises Licence
-  A licence authorising premises to be used for one or more licensable activities.

Qualifying Club
- in order to be a ‘qualifying club’ for the purposes of the Act, a club must meet the following criteria:

 a person must not be admitted to membership or enjoy the privileges of membership without a period of 
at least 48 hours between their application for membership and their admission,

 the club must be established in good faith as club, and
 the club must have at least 25 members.

(NB.  A proprietary club (i.e. a commercial club which is established and operated for profit) cannot be 
regarded as a ‘qualifying club’ for the purposes of the Licensing Act 2003).

Relevant Persons
- References to relevant persons in relation to any premises are references to the following: 

a) the Chief Officer of Police for any police area in which the premises are situated,
b) the local authority by which statutory functions are exercisable in any area in which the premises are 

situated in relation to minimising or preventing the risk of pollution of the environment or of harm to 
human health (i.e. the Council’s Environmental Protection and Food and Safety Teams).

Responsible Authorities
- the public bodies that must be fully notified of applications and that are entitled to make relevant 
  representations to the licensing authority in relation to the grant, variation, minor variation or review of a 

premises licence. (See Appendix C)

Temporary Event Notice
- a Notice authorising a permitted temporary activity involving one or more licensable activities subject to 

certain conditions and limitations. 

Zoning
- The adoption of fixed terminal hours in designated areas.

Page 76



REPORT OF Customer Support Manager
To: Council
Subject: Localisation of Council Tax Support
Date: 10th December 2018 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

1. To update Members on the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2018/19

2. To obtain approval for the current 2018/19 scheme to roll over to 2019/20

3. To obtain approval for the current Exceptional Hardship Policy to roll over to 2019/20  

1. INTRODUCTION

Localised Council Tax Support Schemes were introduced for the working age in England from April 
2013.  Billing authorities are required to design their own schemes to administer Council Tax 
Support working within a framework set out in legislation.  The Government has been clear that 
pensioners (a pensioner for this purpose is anyone who has reached the age where they would 
qualify for State Pension Credit) should be protected and that any changes should support work 
incentives.  In addition, Councils are required to consider vulnerable groups when setting their 
scheme.

Torridge District Council’s Council Tax Support Scheme has not changed since implementation in 
April 2013 and only affects customers who are of working age.

Pensioners are subject to a national Council Tax Support Scheme set by Government.

2. REPORT

The purpose of this report is for Members to agree the rollover of the 2018/19 Scheme to 2019/20 
and the Exceptional Hardship policy (appendix 2).

The Devon authorities have been working in and continue to work in partnership with regards to the 
Council Tax Support Schemes (a summary of the 2018/19 Devon schemes can be seen as 
appendix1). 

The Devon authorities, with the exception of South Hams/West Devon, are not planning to make 
any changes to their Schemes for the year 2019/20.  The main reason for this is because Universal 
Credit Full Service has gone live within Devon at various points throughout 2018/19; therefore 
insufficient data is available to ascertain the full effect of Universal Credit on Local Authorities. 

There are currently 1,780,943 people on UC nationally.  Bideford job centre went live in July and as 
at week commencing 22.10.18 has 678 live UC claims; Exeter job centre, which cover parts of 
Torridge, went live in September.  The reluctance to implement changes from 2019/20 has been 
compounded with the Governments announcement to further delay the migration of claims to 
Universal Credit and issues with software suppliers being able to provide workable tools for scheme 
changes. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



Feedback from Councils who have experienced the impact of Universal Credit Full Service for a 
longer period of time have confirmed a significant increase in the number of change of 
circumstances coming through from Universal Credit; which is driving the change for simplified 
schemes that reduce the cost of administration and protect collection rates.  The majority of 
Councils who have been a ‘live’ site for over 12 months are looking to move to simple income 
banded schemes for working age customers, with effect 2020/21.   

At the meeting of Full Council held on 11 December 2017 Members resolved that Overview & 
Scrutiny (Internal) (O&S) are tasked with reviewing the existing scheme.

At the meeting of O&S held on 06 February 2018, Members recommended  that any change to the 
scheme should be deferred until the full impact of Universal Credit could be evaluated. This was 
reported to Council on 26 February 2018.

Financial results for 2018/19:

Overall collection rate for council tax 

Overall collection rate from CTS claim accounts 

 

Caseload Statistics

Date Oct 
2016

Oct 
2017

Oct 
2018

Diff 

W/A 2647 2504 2083 -421
P/A 2194 2176 2374 +198
Total 4841 4680 4457 -223

CTS Spend

Recovery – Number of Summonses issued and amount 

Date Oct 2016 - Oct 2017 Oct 2017 - Oct 2018
Number £ Number £

Max CTS 356 158,098 385 148,888
Part CTS 79 46,269 79 38,461
Non CTS 2,394 1,647,790 3,575 1,860,129

EXCEPTIONAL HARDSHIP FUND - Applications and Awards 

Date Oct  2016 
£

Oct 2017
 £

Oct 2018
£

66.60% 66.35% 66.26%

Date Oct  2016 
£

Oct 2017
 £

Oct 2018
£

56.50% 56.90% 58.02%

Date Oct  2016 
£

Oct 2017
 £

Oct 2018
£

4,038,318 4,042,168 4,046,000

Page 78



Reason for Refusal 2018/19 Number
Not short term 2
Waiting UC arrears/outside scope of scheme 1
Not valid application 1

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

Any significant changes to the Scheme are subject to an extensive consultation process and 
agreement of Council and the principle preceptors.

Financial Implications

The Council no longer receives a specific grant for the Council Tax Support Scheme as it is 
now included within the general Government grant.  

The total annual cost of the Torridge CTS scheme is currently in excess of £4 million 
pounds.

Any changes to the Scheme that offers a higher level of financial support will be a cost to 
Torridge District Council and our precepting authorities, who may be opposed to any such 
changes.

Additional costs will also be incurred in conducting any consultation exercise.  The last 
consultation that took place was in 2016 and was resourced and funded by DCC as part of 
a Devon wide approach to realign the scheme with changes to national benefits.

Human Resources Implications

There are no human resource implications if the 2018/19 Scheme is rolled over to 2019/20. 
However, should changes be sought to the Scheme then this will require additional 
resources to deliver the changes in time to meet the statutory deadline of 11th March 2019.

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

There are no direct implications of these proposals.

Equality/Diversity

An equality impact assessment will have to be carried out on any proposed changes.

Risk Management

The change from a national benefit scheme, to a local Council Tax Support scheme has 
always represented a major change in Government Policy and in practice transferred all the 
significant risks from Central to Local Government.  This at a time when public spending is 
being reduced which exposes the Council to considerable financial risk.

No of apps successful unsuccessful Allowance Amount spent
2016/17 10 7 3 £27,000 £704
2017/18 19 12 7 £27,000 £1,185
Up to Oct 
2018

11 7 4 £27,000 £590

Page 79



Compliance with Policies and Strategies

The Scheme complies with policies and strategies.

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
 
Only data that is required to provide the service is collected; this data is held securely and 
can only be accessed by staff that have a legitimate reason to view it.

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

Councillor David Hurley, 27 November 2018.
Having read the report, it is clear to me that changes to CTS are proposed for 2020/21 to 
better align this scheme to UC so in my opinion it would be prudent to continue with the 
present arrangements.

4. CONCLUSIONS

The Council is required to have its own local Council Tax Support scheme as part of the wider 
Welfare Reform proposals introduced by Central Government whilst at the same time being required 
to generate savings compared to historical council tax benefit expenditure.  In doing so, the Council 
must consider prescribed vulnerability cases (Pensioners) and other vulnerable groups as well as 
incentivising work.

The Council continues to work the other Devon authorities and preceptors to ensure the scheme 
meets central government objectives whilst balancing the needs of the tax payer and those who 
require some financial support in meeting their Council Tax liability.

This report sets out the proposal for a Scheme for Council Tax Support for the financial year 
2019/20, along with an Exceptional Hardship Policy and related delegated powers. 

The Devon Revenues and Benefits Officer Group is currently exploring options for a CTS scheme 
for 2020/21 which will be based on a model that better aligns with UC and improved data sharing 
and matching principles (such as an income banded scheme). 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:

i) Members approve the roll over of the 2018/19 scheme to 2019/20

ii) Members approve the roll over of the Exceptional Hardship Policy in relation to the 
Council Tax Support Scheme for 2019/20.

iii) Task & Finish group is convened to review the ongoing suitability of the existing 
scheme along with alternative options for a simplified scheme for 2020/21.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation –
Officers Consulted -

Contact Officer:

Page 80



Background Papers:

Appendix 1
Summary of CTS schemes for Devon LA's 2018/19

scheme details Torri
dge

Eas
t 

Exe
ter

Mid 
North

 

South Ham
s

Teignbrid
ge

West 

Remove family premium no yes no yes yes no yes no
Limit backdating to 1 month no yes yes yes yes no yes no
Min income floor for s/e no yes yes yes yes no yes no
4 week absence no yes yes yes yes no yes no
Remove WRAC no yes yes yes yes no yes no
limit dep children to 2 no yes no yes yes no yes no
UC carer element no yes yes yes yes no yes no
remove additional earnings 
dis for UC no yes yes yes yes no yes no

Capital limit £6,000 £8,000.00 £6,000 £8,000.00 £6,000.00 £16,000.00 £6,000 £16,000.00
Band restriction D D no D D D D D
liability reduction 75% 80% 80% 80% 75% 80% 100% 80%
abolish SAR yes yes yes yes yes yes yes Yes
Excep hardship scheme yes yes yes yes yes yes yes Yes

Page 81



Appendix 2

COUNCIL TAX 
SUPPORT-

EXCEPTIONAL 
HARDSHIP FUND 

POLICY
Page 82



Contents

1. Background

2. Exceptional Hardship Fund and Equalities

3. Purpose of this policy

4. Statement of objectives

5. Awarding an Exceptional Hardship Fund Payment

6. Publicity

7. Making a claim

8. Change of circumstances

9. Duties of customer

10.Amount and duration of award

11.Payment of award

12.Overpayments

13.Notification of an award

14.The right to seek a review

15.Fraud

16.Legislation

17.Complaints

18.Policy review

Page 83



1. Background

The Exceptional Hardship Fund (EHF) has been set up by Torridge District Council to cover 
the shortfall between Council Tax liability and payments of Council Tax Support.

Every customer who is entitled to Council Tax Support and who has a shortfall is entitled to 
make a claim for help from the Fund.

The main features of the Fund are that:

 Exceptional Hardship Fund awards are discretionary;

 Customers do not have a statutory right to an award;

 The Exceptional Hardship Fund Policy is held within the main Council Tax Support 
scheme; 

 Exceptional Hardship Fund awards are not a payment of the main Council Tax 
Support scheme;

 The Revenues and Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services’ Lead Member, 
decides how the Fund is administered;

 Council Tax Support must be in payment in the week in which an Exceptional 
Hardship Fund award is made; 

 Torridge District Council may decide that a backdated Exceptional Hardship award is 
appropriate; which could then settle council tax arrears.  This would be the only 
circumstance where the Exceptional Hardship Fund could be used to facilitate 
payment of Council Tax arrears.

In addition to this fund there is a Discretionary Housing Payments scheme which covers the 
shortfall between rental charge and Housing Benefit / housing costs within Universal Credit.

2. Exceptional Hardship Fund and Equalities 

The creation of an Exceptional Hardship Fund facility meets Torridge District Council’s 
obligations under the Equalities Act.

The Government has been clear that, in developing a local Council Tax Support scheme, 
vulnerable groups should be protected. Other than statutory protection for low income 
pensioners the Government has not prescribed the other groups that local Councils should 
support. Torridge District Council has designed their Council Tax Support scheme to take 
account of the various statutes that currently protect vulnerable people.  

We recognise the importance of protecting our most vulnerable customers and also the 
impact these changes have. We have created an Exceptional Hardship Fund to ensure that 
we protect and support those most in need. The Exceptional Hardship Fund is intended to 
help in cases of extreme financial hardship and not support a lifestyle.

Page 84



3. Purpose of this Policy

The purpose of this policy is to specify how Torridge District Council’s Revenues and 
Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services’ Lead Member, will operate the scheme, 
and to indicate some of the factors which will be considered when deciding if an 
Exceptional Hardship Fund payment can be made.

Each case will be treated on its own merits and all customers will be treated fairly and 
equally in the accessibility to the Fund and also the decisions made with applications. 

Where a customer is not claiming a Council Tax discount or exemption to which they may 
be entitled; a welfare benefit or additional financial assistance, they will be advised, and 
where necessary assisted, in making a claim to maximise their income, before their claim 
for Exceptional Hardship Funds will be decided.

4. Statement of objectives

The Revenues and Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services’ Lead Member, will 
seek through the operation of this policy to:

 Allow a short period of time for someone to adjust to unforeseen short-term 
circumstances and to enable them to “bridge the gap” during this time;

 Support people in managing their finances;

 Help customers through personal crises and difficult events that affect their finances;

 Aim to help prevent exceptional hardship;

 Support vulnerable young people in the transition to adult life;

 Help those who are trying to help themselves financially;

 Help to alleviate poverty;

 Help to sustain tenancies and assist with the prevention of homelessness;

 Keep families together;

 Encourage and support people to obtain and sustain employment;

 Give support to those who are financially vulnerable. 

The Exceptional Hardship Fund is a short-term emergency fund, awarded whilst the 
customer seeks alternative solutions.

It cannot be awarded for the following circumstances:

 Where full Council Tax liability is being met by Council Tax Support;

 For any other reason, other than to reduce Council Tax liability;

 Where the Council considers that there are unnecessary expenses/debts etc which 
the customer has not taken reasonable steps to reduce; 

 To reduce any Council Tax Support recoverable overpayment;

 To cover previous years Council Tax arrears;

Page 85



 Where there is a shortfall caused by a Department for Work and Pensions sanction  
or  suspension being applied because the customer has turned down 
work/interview/training opportunities etc.;

 When Council Tax Support is suspended.

5. Awarding an Exceptional Hardship Fund payment

The Revenues and Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services’ Lead Member, will 
decide whether or not to make an Exceptional Hardship Fund award, and how much any 
award might be.

When making this decision consideration will be given to:

 The shortfall between Council Tax Support and Council Tax liability;

 The steps taken by the customer to reduce their Council Tax liability;

 Changing payment methods, reprofiling Council Tax instalments or setting 
alternative payment arrangements in order to make them affordable;

 To ensure that all discounts, exemptions and reductions are granted;

 Steps taken by the customer to establish whether they are entitled to other welfare 
benefits;

 Steps taken by the customer in considering and identifying where possible the most 
economical tariffs for supply of utilities;

 If a Discretionary Housing Payment has already been awarded to meet a shortfall in 
rent;

 The personal circumstances, age and medical circumstances (including ill health and 
disabilities) of the customer, their partner and any dependants and any other 
occupants of the customer’s home;

 The difficulty experienced by the customer, which prohibits them from being able to 
meet their Council Tax liability, and the length of time this difficulty will exist;

 Shortfalls due to non-dependant deductions;

 The income and expenditure of the customer, their partner, any dependants or other 
occupants of the customer’s home;

 How deemed reasonable expenditure exceeds income;

 That all income may be taken into account, including those which are disregarded 
when calculating Council Tax Support; 

 Any savings or capital that might be held by the customer and their partner;

 Other debts outstanding for the customer and their partner;

 Whether the customer has already accessed or is engaging for assistance with 
budgeting and financial/debt management advice. An Exceptional Hardship Fund 
award may not be made until the customer has accepted assistance either from the 
Council or third party, such as the Citizens Advice or similar organisations, to enable 

Page 86



them to manage their finances more effectively, including the termination of non 
essential expenditure;

 The exceptional nature of the customer and/or their family’s circumstances that 
impact on finances;

 The length of time they have lived in the property.

The list is not exhaustive and other relevant factors and special circumstances will be 
considered.

An award from the Exceptional Hardship Fund does not guarantee that a further award will 
be made at a later date, even if the customer’s circumstances have not changed.

An Exceptional Hardship Fund award may be less than the difference between the Council 
Tax liability and the amount of Council Tax Support paid.

6. Publicity

The Council will publicise this Fund and will work with interested parties to achieve this. A 
copy of this policy is available for inspection and is published on the Council’s website.

7. Making a claim

A customer must make a claim for an Exceptional Hardship Fund award by submitting an 
application to Torridge District Council. The application form can be obtained via the 
telephone, in person at the Council office and/or the internet. Customers can get assistance 
with the completion of the form from the Revenues and Benefits Service, Customer 
Services or Housing Services at the Council.

The application form must be fully completed and supporting information or evidence 
provided, as reasonably requested by the Council.

In most cases the person who claims the Exceptional Hardship Fund award will be the 
person entitled to Council Tax Support. However, a claim can be accepted from someone 
acting on another’s behalf, such as an appointee, if it is considered reasonable.

8. Change of circumstances

The Revenues and Benefits Service, in conjunction with the Services’ Lead Member, may 
revise an award from the Exceptional Hardship Fund where the customer’s circumstances 
have changed which either increases or reduces their Council Tax support entitlement.

9. Duties of the customer

A person claiming an Exceptional Hardship Fund Payment is required to:

 Give the Council such information as it may require to make a decision;

 Tell the Council of any changes in circumstances that may be relevant to their 
ongoing claim;

 Give the Council such other information as it may require in connection with their 
claim. 

Page 87



10. Amount and duration of award

Both the amount and the duration of the award are determined at the discretion of the 
Council, and will be done so on the basis of the evidence supplied and the circumstances of 
the claim.

 The start date will usually be the Monday after the written claim for an Exceptional 
Hardship Fund award is received by the Revenues and Benefits Service, although in 
some cases it may be possible to backdate this award, based upon individual 
circumstances of each case. 

 The Exceptional Hardship Fund will normally be awarded for a minimum of one 
week.

 The maximum length of the award will not exceed the end of the financial year in 
which the award is given.

11. Payment of award

Any Exceptional Hardship Fund award will be made directly into the customer’s Council Tax 
account, thus reducing the amount of Council Tax payable.

12. Overpaid Exceptional Hardship Fund awards

Overpaid Exceptional Hardship Fund awards will generally be recovered directly from the 
customers council tax account, thus increasing the amount of Council Tax due and payable.

13. Notification of an award

The Council will notify the outcome of each application for Exceptional Hardship Fund 
awards in writing. The notification will include the reason for the decision and advise the 
customer of their appeal rights.

14. The right of appeal

If the customer is not satisfied with the decision in respect of an application for an 
Exceptional Hardship Fund award; a decision to a reduced amount of Exceptional Hardship 
Fund award; a decision not to backdate an Exceptional Hardship Fund award or a decision 
that there has been an overpayment of an Exceptional Hardship Fund award, they must 
make written representation to the Council setting out their grounds of appeal. 

Torridge District Council will consider the appeal and respond in writing, setting out the 
decision and associated reasons for the decision.

Any request for an appeal must be made within one month of the date of the notification 
letter confirming the original decision.

Page 88



15. Fraud 

The Revenues and Benefits Service is committed to protect public funds and ensure funds 
are awarded to the people who are rightfully eligible to them.

A customer who tries to fraudulently claim an Exceptional Hardship Fund award by falsely 
declaring their circumstances, providing a false statement or evidence in support of their 
application, may have committed an offence under The Fraud Act 2006. 

Where the Revenues and Benefits Service suspects that such a fraud may have been 
committed, this matter will be investigated as appropriate and may lead to criminal 
proceedings being instigated.

16. Legislation

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 amends Section 13A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 and sets out the requirement for Councils to develop and adopt a 
localised Council Tax Support Scheme. This Exceptional Hardship Fund Policy forms part 
of this Scheme.

17. Complaints

The Council’s ‘Compliments and Complaints Procedure’ (available on the Councils website) 
will be applied in the event of any complaint received about this policy.

18. Policy Review

This policy will be reviewed at least every 3 years and updated as appropriate to ensure it 
remains fit for purpose.  However, the review may take place sooner should there be any 
significant changes in legislation.

Page 89



REPORT OF HEAD OF PAID SERVICE
To: FULL COUNCIL
Subject: APPOINTMENT OF MONITORING OFFICER
Date: 10 DECEMBER 2018 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:    To seek Members endorsement of the appointment of a Monitoring 
Officer, Data Protection Officer and Senior Responsible Officer for Regulatory Investigating Powers 
Act (RIPA)

1. INTRODUCTION

The Monitoring Officer is a statutory appointment under S5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 as amended by schedule 5, paragraph 24 of the Local Government Act 
2000.   The Council also needs to Register a Data Protection Officer with the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO) and a Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA purposes.  These 
roles have been covered on an interim basis by the Legal Services Manager and the HR 
Manager as agreed by Full Council on 6 August 2018.

2. REPORT

The roles are included in the Job Description of the Senior Solicitor.   Following the 
resignation of the previous post holder, the position was advertised externally.   After formal 
interviews for four candidates, Staci Dorey was appointed as Senior Solicitor.

It is now proposed that Members endorse the appointment of Staci Dorey as the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, Data Protection Officer and Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA 
purposes with immediate effect.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

As outlined in the report.

Financial Implications

This will be within existing budgets.

Human Resources Implications

As outlined in the report.

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

None identified.

Page 90

Agenda Item 11



Equality/Diversity

This appointment is in accordance with our policies.

Risk Management

The Council must designate a Monitoring Officer in accordance with a relevant legislation.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

The report is compliant.

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications

There are no specific implications.

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

Full Council to decide on the appointment  

Date of Consultation - 

4. CONCLUSIONS

All local authorities must appoint a designated Monitoring Officer.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Staci Dorey is appointed as permanent Monitoring Officer.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation –
Officers Consulted -

Contact Officer:

Background Papers:

Page 91



REPORT OF HEAD OF PAID SERVICE
To: FULL COUNCIL
Subject: CYCLE OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 2019/2020
Date: 10 December 2018

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

To seek Full Council’s approval of a programme of Committee meetings for 2019/2020

1. INTRODUCTION

In accordance with the Constitution (Part 4, Chapter 1, A4 Committee Meetings) – 

“Committee Meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme decided at an 
autumn meeting of the Full Council”.

2.          REPORT

The programme has been compiled based on eight cycles.  The draft Schedule of Committee 
Meetings 2019/2020 is attached at Appendix 1.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

Compliance with the Constitution

Financial Implications

N/A

Human Resources Implications

No

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

N/A

Equality/Diversity

Yes

Risk Management

N/A

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

Compliance with the Constitution

Page 92

Agenda Item 12



Ward Member and Leader Member Views

N/A

4.        RECOMMENDATIONS

That Full Council approve the proposed programme of committee dates for 2019/2020 
(Appendix 1).

Page 93



Schedule of Committee Meetings – 2019/2020

CYCLE 1 CYCLE 2 CYCLE 3 CYCLE 4 CYCLE 5 CYCLE 6 CYCLE 7 CYCLE 8
Plans
(1st Thursday of each 
month - 9.30am) 6 June 2019 4 July 2019

1 August 2019 5 Sept. 2019 3 Oct. 2019 7 Nov. 2019
5 Dec. 2019 16 Jan. 2020 6 February 2020

5 March 2020
2 April 2020
14 May 2020

Audit & Gov
(Tuesdays – 2pm) 23 July 2019 22 Oct 2019 21 Jan 2020 24 March 2020

Overview &
Scrutiny  (Internal)
(Tuesdays) 

28 May 2019
2pm

9 July 2019
4pm

13 August 2019
2pm

17 Sept. 2019
4pm

5 Nov. 2019
2pm

17 Dec. 2020
4pm

Budget
11 Feb. 2020

10am

14 April 2020
4pm

Overview & 
Scrutiny (External)
(Wednesdays)

5 June 2019
2pm

17 July 2019
6pm

21 August 2019
2pm

2 Oct. 2019
6pm

27 Nov. 2019
2pm

22 Jan. 2020
6pm

4 March 2020
2pm

22 April 2020
6pm

Licensing
(Wednesdays  – 
10am)  

29 May 2019 24 July 2019 11 Sept. 2019 23 Oct. 2019 4 Dec. 2019 15 Jan. 2020 11 March 2020 29 April 2020

Standards
(Wednesdays – 
10am)

12 June 2019 7 August 2019 20 Nov. 2019 26 February 2020

Leadership Team
(Tuesdays – 2pm) 

21 May 2019 25 June 2019 30 July 2019 24 Sept. 2019 12 Nov. 2019 7 Jan. 2020 18 Feb. 2020 7 April 2020

Community & 
Resources 
(Mondays)

10 June 2019
10am

15 July 2019
6pm

Tuesday
27 August

10am

14 Oct. 2019
6pm 25 Nov. 2019

10am
20 Jan. 2020

6pm

Budget 
Special

3 Feb. 2020
10am

16 March 
2020
6pm

27 April 2020
10am

Council 
(Mondays – 6.30pm)  

AGM
13 

May 
2019 

1 July 
2019 5 August 2019 16 Sept. 2019 28 Oct. 2019 9 Dec. 2019 27 Jan. 2020

Budget
Special

24 Feb. 2020

6 April 
2020

AGM
18 May 2020

Bank Holidays: Easter May August Christmas
2019 19 April – 22 April 2019 6 May 2019 26 August 2019 25 Dec – 2 Jan 2020
2020 10 April – 13 April 4 & 25 May 2020 31 August 2020 25 Dec – 4 Jan 2021

P
age 94



REPORT OF Head of Paid Service
To: Full Council
Subject: Heart of the South West – Joint Committee – Council Update 

Date: 10 December 2018 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:    To summarise the progress made by the Committee over 
recent months in key areas of activity and to set out actions proposed in the coming 
months. As part of this report there are specific recommendations for the Council to 
consider.

1. INTRODUCTION

In January 2018, the HotSW Joint Committee was formally established by the 
councils and organisations involved since 2015 in the devolution partnership.  The 
Committee is tasked with improving productivity across the HotSW area in 
collaboration with the HotSW LEP and other organisations as necessary.   

  
The Committee has met formally three times in 2018, in March, June and October.   
In addition to this the management structure that sits behind the Committee and 
involves Chief Executives and senior officers from across the partnership has met 
regularly to drive the business of the Committee.    The Committee is chaired by Cllr 
David Fothergill, Leader of Somerset County Council and the Vice-Chair is Cllr John 
Tucker, Leader of South Hams District Council. 

2. REPORT

At each of the meetings, the Committee has been briefed on recent inward 
investment successes achieved through the work of the local authorities and the LEP 
and it is these successes that the HotSW wish to add to through the work of the Joint 
Committee.   

(a) Influencing government

The partnership’s original focus in 2015 was to explore opportunities on offer through 
devolution to improve productivity.   Since the Committee was created   the 
influencing role has continued to be central to the work of the Joint Committee and 
recent months have seen successes in this area.  Government policy changes and 
Brexit have required the partnership to be flexible to present a united front to 
Government and respond to the changes.   As an example, the Government has 
increasingly moved away from its devolution policy approach of 2015 and the 
partnership is now engaged in more flexible and targeted dialogues with 
Government.   This approach is proving successful so demonstrating the benefits of 
presenting a single compelling partnership vision between the business and public 
sectors.   The Committee is keen to demonstrate its ability to deliver Government 
objectives as well as local priorities so accessing help beyond our boundaries is 

Page 95

Agenda Item 13



critical to the success of the partnership. It is already apparent that the Joint 
Committee / LEP Partnership carries a critical mass that the Government is 
responding to through policy announcements and on-going dialogue with 
Government officials.   The most significant announcement is the recent inclusion of 
the HotSW LEP area in wave 2 of developing Local Industrial Strategies (LIS).  This 
success is due in large part to the close alignment of the Joint Committee and the 
LEP on the Productivity Strategy [see (b) below].  Much of the activity detailed below 
has resulted directly from discussions with Government.  
 
(b) Approval of the HotSW Productivity Strategy

i) In March the Committee and the LEP Board agreed a challenging HotSW 
Productivity Strategy which set an ambition of “Doubling the size of the Heart of 
the South West’s economy over 20 years” with a vision of “Productivity and 
prosperity for all”. 

ii) The Strategy identifies three strategic themes to improve productivity by 
strengthening and developing: 

a) the leadership and ideas within businesses in our area

b) the housing, connectivity and infrastructure our people and businesses rely on 
for living, moving goods, accessing jobs and training, and exploiting new 
opportunities. 

c) the ability of people in our area to work, learn and improve their skills in a 
rapidly changing global economy, and to maximise their economic potential.

iii) In addition, there are three cross-cutting themes, referred to throughout the 
Strategy:

a) Inclusive growth for our people, communities and places

b) Capitalising on our distinctive assets

c) Maximising the potential from digital technology

The Strategy can be viewed at:
https://heartofswlep.co.uk/about-the-lep/how-we-work/productivity-strategy/

(c) Endorsement of the Delivery Plan.

This document is key to the delivery of the Productivity Strategy and will be further 
developed as explained below. It is a live action plan that will be used to track 
performance locally and may also form the basis of annual progress reports to 
Government, as required under the recent national review of LEPs.   It is broadly 
divided into two sections – a ‘core offer’ focussing on programmes that deliver 
Business Support and Employment and Skills, as well as ‘enablers’ including 
housing delivery, transport, and other infrastructure that is essential to support 
economic growth. These activities apply across the whole of the HotSW area. A 

Page 96

https://heartofswlep.co.uk/about-the-lep/how-we-work/productivity-strategy/


further section focuses on programmes of activity linked to the agreed set of 
‘opportunities’ that are specific to the HotSW area. The Plan incorporates  current as 
well as future, planned activity, and is being produced in stages depending on how 
well developed the programmes of activity for each theme are. The current version 
features the opportunities that are at the most advanced stage, namely: Digital 
(Photonics); Advanced Engineering (marine and nuclear); High Value Tourism; 
Farming, Fishing and Food.  By spring 2019 it will be expanded to include: Healthy 
Ageing; further Digital (Creative and Big Data); Advanced Engineering (aerospace); 
Construction; and Defence.  Place markers have also been included for inclusive 
growth and natural capital to be developed as part of the next phase of work.   

(d) An Opportunities Prospectus has been extracted from the Delivery Plan and 
will be used with local MPs, Ministers and senior Government officials as part of 
continuing to raise the profile of the HotSW area at a critical time ahead of the 2019 
Spending Review and the anticipated launch of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
towards the end of 2019. The document will be circulated to MPs prior to the 
Chancellor’s autumn statement as part of the influencing approach. To ensure that 
the Prospectus document has some longevity, the key strategic ‘asks’ of 
Government have been set out in a covering letter, jointly signed by the Chairs of the 
Joint Committee and the LEP.  As we develop the Delivery Plan, further asks will 
emerge and be submitted to Ministers. The list of asks submitted in October is 
attached as Appendix A to this report.   The Prospectus document can be viewed at:
http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/HotSW-
Opportunities-Prospectus-October-2018.pdf

(e) Housing is a key enabling opportunity for the Joint Committee.  Following a 
housing audit to gauge Local Plan progress on targets and delivery rates, a HotSW 
Housing Summit was held in September with key agencies including Homes 
England.   The outcome of this successful event was an agreement to work closely 
with Homes England to develop a bespoke package of offers and asks with 
Government which will help us to successfully deliver the ambitious housing 
programmes we have across our area. A Housing Sector Task Force of strategic 
leaders and officers has been established to develop our proposition to Government 
and to work with Homes England which will report to the Joint Committee.

(f) National Infrastructure Commission (NIC)

The Joint Committee is seeking to secure a growth corridor study following helpful 
discussions with the NIC. Initial discussions with the Chair of the Commission were 
well received and the Joint Committee was encouraged to submit a business case to 
the Chancellor who will ultimately make a decision as to whether to fund a study. A 
proposal was submitted to the Chancellor in October. The study would be similar to 
the one conducted by the NIC for Cambridge-Milton Keynes-Oxford. It would help the 
HotSW partnership to better understand the constraints to higher levels of 
productivity by highlighting where investment in strategic infrastructure could unlock 
faster growth over the long term. The initial focus for the study would be along the 
A38/M5 transport spine, recognising that investment would have benefits for the 
whole of the HotSW area and wider south west.   

Page 97

http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/HotSW-Opportunities-Prospectus-October-2018.pdf
http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/HotSW-Opportunities-Prospectus-October-2018.pdf


(g) Brexit Resilience Opportunities Group. 

The Joint Committee has consistently lobbied Government that any powers that 
move back from the EU under Brexit must not stop at Whitehall.   This senior officer 
group was established by the Joint Committee to research and advise on the 
opportunities and risks to the HotSW.  The Group has been collating evidence on 
some of the key risks and opportunities for our unique economy and has conducted 
research in the following areas:  workforce, construction industry, agriculture and 
land management; food and farming, fisheries and post Brexit funding to support the 
economy.  The Group is also collating the risk and impact analysis of Brexit on local 
government such as service delivery and community resilience.  The Group has fed 
directly into the Local Government Association briefing papers and to key 
Government departments to raise the profile of the area.  With the Brexit departure 
date looming and several ‘deal’ scenarios still possible, this work has become ever 
more important.  A Brexit Joint Regional Sounding Board event took place as part of 
the 12th November LEP Conference, and was an opportunity for business and public 
sector to engage with Government representatives from Defra, BEIS, and MHCLG 
on preparedness.  The Group is working with Cornwall on issues of mutual interest 
and concern. 

(h) Sub-National Transport Body.  

Linked to the Joint Committee’s work on infrastructure is the imminent establishment 
of a South West Peninsula Shadow Sub-National Transport Body (covering 
Somerset, Devon, Cornwall, Plymouth and Torbay) which will develop a sub-national 
Transport Strategy to work with Government to deliver investment in our major 
transport infrastructure. In the short-term this will be an informal partnership, 
however a current ‘ask’ of Government is that they endorse the creation of a 
statutory Sub-National Transport Body for the Peninsula, and a separate body for the 
South West around the east of the region. These two new transport bodies will 
provide a platform for strategic discussions with Government on priorities for the 
region over the long term. 

Next steps:

In addition to what is outlined above, the Joint Committee / LEP partnership will:

a) Develop an Investment Framework for the Delivery Plan so that priorities for 
delivery and project opportunities can be delivered via investment from a range 
of sources, currently being investigated.

b) Review the roles and functions of both bodies through a governance review to 
acknowledge the revised and enhanced focus given to LEPs by the Government.   
This work will include a review of the management support arrangements.  The 
Joint Committee and the LEP will continue to share responsibilities across the 
Productivity Strategy and the Delivery Plan with the LEP leading on areas closely 
linked to the LIS and the Joint Committee leading on other areas such as 
housing and infrastructure.    The need for close collaboration between the two 
has never been more important as we look to further influence Government 
policy and actions over the next 12 months and beyond.

Page 98



2. Local Industrial Strategy   

The inclusion of the HotSW LEP area in the second wave of areas to benefit from 
working with the Government to develop their Local Industrial Strategies (LIS) is a 
considerable achievement for the Joint Committee and the LEP.   The first wave 
’trailblazers’ were the urban conurbations of Greater Manchester, the West Midlands 
and Cambridge-Milton Keynes-Oxford. The partnership had been pushing to be in 
the second wave and had raised the ask with Government Ministers and officials 
over a number of months. It was therefore very welcome that HotSW was 
announced in July as being part of wave 2.
 
By working closely with Government to develop our Local Industrial Strategy we will 
be able to jointly agree the long term transformational opportunities that will help 
deliver the asks specific to our area and influence wider Government policy and 
delivery.   

Local Industrial Strategies will focus on the foundations of productivity and identify 
transformational opportunities with partners across Ideas, People, Infrastructure, 
Business Environment and Place.   The Strategy will be led by local people and 
businesses, allowing local leaders to harness the strengths of their own areas; 
ensure that the benefits of growth are realised by all; and provide the right conditions 
for improving the prosperity of communities throughout the area.

Ultimate approval of the LIS rests with the LEP in collaboration with the Government.   
The LIS guidance requires the LEP to collaborate on the development of the LIS with 
a range of stakeholders including the local authorities and other partners. 

The LEP’s proposed timetable is to have the final LIS agreed between the LEP and 
the Government by June 2019.   Fortunately, HotSW partners are better placed than 
many areas to meet this timetable as the work done by the Joint Committee and the 
LEP to build and test the evidence base for the Productivity Strategy and Delivery 
Plan has set the foundation; the LIS will be a natural extension of this.  

The Joint Committee is ideally placed to provide both collective and council level 
input into the development of the LIS, although final approval rests with the LEP. The 
validity and positioning of the document would be immeasurably strengthened by the 
involvement and general endorsement of all the constituent authorities, and by other 
partners including the business community. To enable the development of the LIS to 
be taken forward at pace, and to demonstrate alignment with partners across the 
area, it is proposed that local authority input is developed, coordinated and signed off 
by the Joint Committee. The powers of (and delegations to) the Committee are 
tightly focussed around the Productivity Strategy under the current governance 
arrangements, so approval needs to be sought from the constituent authorities to 
formally delegate the Council’s responsibilities for contributing to and signing off the 
HotSW Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) to the Joint Committee.  The 
recommendations provide the opportunity for the Council to influence and shape the 
LIS as well as provide content.  

Page 99



3 Budget and Cost Sharing Agreement 

The Joint Committee has been kept informed of its budgetary position to provide 
assurance that it is operating within its budget.     This section of the report includes:

(a)  a summary of the Committee’s current budget position for 2018/19 – page 11 -  
 Appendix B 

(b) a Budget and Cost Sharing Agreement (B&CSA) which is a development of the 
Inter-Authority Agreement agreed by the constituent authorities at the time the 
Committee was established – pages 12 and 13 – Appendix B

(c) An indicative budget request for 2019/20 to the constituent authorities. 

Page 11 – Appendix B - summarises the position on the operating and support 
budget of the Committee.   It shows a variation of the income for 2018/19 expected 
at the time of the Committee’s establishment with a larger than anticipated 
underspend carried forward from the work on devolution during the 2015 to 2018 
period.   This together with the contributions agreed by the constituent authorities 
have given the Committee a larger than anticipated budget for 2018/19.  

In terms of the anticipated spend for 2018/19 the current position suggests that the 
Committee will be able to operate within budget and should achieve an underspend 
to be carried forward to 2019/20 to help offset the future budget requirement for the 
Joint Committee.  The current underspend is around £40k.  It should be noted 
however that not all commitments for 2018/19 have yet been identified.    

At the time of the Committee’s establishment the Inter Authority Agreement referred 
to the development of a B&CSA and included some headings to be included within it. 
Pages 12 and 13 - Appendix B - set out the draft B&CSA.  It is a relatively simple 
document proportionate to the small size of the budget and the limited financial risk 
to each constituent authority.  It explains the role of the administering authority as 
well as the responsibilities of the constituent authorities. The Joint Committee has 
approved the B&CSA and all Statutory Finance Section 151 Officers of the 
constituent authorities have been consulted on its contents.    The document now 
requires the formal approval of the constituent authorities.

In terms of the Joint Committee’s budget for 2019/20 the work programme is 
unknown at this stage although a busy year is expected for the Committee to 
respond to Government policy initiatives and to support the Delivery Plan.  To assist 
the constituent authorities to plan budget commitments for 2019/20, the minimum 
contribution levels for 2019/20 are set out below and are at the same level as for 
2018/19.  These contributions will generate sufficient budget to cover the costs of the 
administering authority to service the Joint Committee and leave a small surplus. 
Dependent on the underspend carried forward from the current year and the 
outcome of the review of the management support arrangements, this may not be 
sufficient to fully cover any additional work, for example secondments, or externally 
commissioned work.   The funding requirements will be clarified, as far as is 
possible, in advance of the 2019/20 financial year following the governance review 
and through a costed work programme and applied on a pro-rata basis.  

Page 100



 County Councils - £10,500 
 Unitary Councils - £4,000 
 District Councils and National Parks £1,400 

4. Consultation, communication and engagement 

Under the Communications and Engagement Plan, members of the constituent 
authorities, partners and the public have been kept informed of developments with 
the Joint Committee through newsletters published after each formal meeting and 
press releases on significant issues of interest.  As we move towards Christmas, the 
Committee’s engagement plans include seeking the support of relevant Ministers 
and all local MPs for the Communications document and specifically our ‘asks’ of 
Government.   This engagement campaign will continue and accelerate as we move 
into 2019.     

In addition the Committee has a website providing background information, links to 
latest news and publications and details of the membership.    This can be accessed 
at:
http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

The HotSW Joint Committee is a Joint Committee of the local authorities across 
Devon and Somerset that comprise the HotSW area and established under Sections 
101 to 103 of the Local Government Act 1972 and all other enabling legislation to 
undertake the following:

8.2 The key purpose of the Joint Committee is to be the vehicle through which the 
HotSW partners will ensure that the desired increase in productivity across the area 
is achieved.  

8.3 The Committee is a single strategic public sector partnership providing 
cohesive, coherent leadership and governance to ensure delivery of the Productivity 
Strategy for the HotSW area.  The specific objectives of the Joint Committee are to:

- Improve the economy and the prospects for the region by bringing together the 
public, private and education sectors;

- Increase understanding of the economy and what needs to be done to make it 
stronger;

- Improve the efficiency and productivity of the public sector;
- Identify and remove barriers to progress and maximise the opportunities/benefits 

available to the area from current and future government policy.

Financial Implications

The direct costs to the constituent authorities are set out above and in Appendix B. 
In addition to this the constituent authorities and partners continue to input 
considerable amounts of officer time into the partnership on an ‘in kind’ basis.   The 

Page 101

http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/


LEP continues to make a significant contribution to the work of the Committee and 
has met some direct costs. 

The constituent authorities are reminded that the Joint Committee continues to 
provide a relatively low-cost option to meet the partnership’s objectives compared to 
the Combined Authority alternative.  

Human Resources Implications

None identified

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

None identified

Equality/Diversity

No adverse impact on any protected groups.  

Risk Management

Given the participation in the Joint Committee as one of the constituent Local 
Authorities, the main risks are around failing to participate actively in this or any other 
related process, thus manifesting a failure of sub-regional or regional awareness of 
the Council’s specific economic and productivity concerns. The risk from failing to 
participate is most likely to be a loss of the Council’s influence at regional level and 
an inability to draw attention to the area’s economic needs (across such areas as 
productivity, skills, infrastructure and related inward investment).    It would also 
weaken the wider partnership proposition, so affecting the ability of the HotSW 
partnership to speak with one voice and influence Government policy for the benefit 
of the wider area and including our residents, businesses and visitors

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

Confirmed

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

Date of Consultation – The Leader and Deputy Leader have attended meetings with 
the Head of paid Service, and the contents of this report are supported.

4. CONCLUSIONS

It is essential that the local authorities contribute to the development and approval of 
the LIS working in collaboration with the LEP.   The LIS will be a natural 
development of the Productivity Strategy and Delivery Plan for which the Joint 
Committee already has delegated authority, and therefore it would seem appropriate 

Page 102



to formally extend this authority to the development and approval of the LIS to the 
Joint Committee on behalf of the constituent authorities.   

It is important that the constituent authorities are kept up to date on the Committee’s 
budget situation and make provision for the 2019/20 budget commitment.   It is also 
important that the Budget and Cost Sharing Agreement is formally agreed by the 
constituent authorities as part of the Committee’s governance arrangements.   

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:

a. Note the progress report setting out the work of the Heart of the South West 
(HotSW) Joint Committee since its establishment in March 2018;

b. Agree to delegate the development and endorsement of the HotSW Local 
Industrial Strategy (LIS) to the HotSW Joint Committee (noting that final 
approval of the HotSWLIS rests with the HotSW Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP) and the Government);

c. Note the Budget statement for 2018/19 set out in Appendix B and that in 
accordance with the decisions taken at the time the Committee was 
established the Council will be asked to make an annual budgetary provision 
to meet the support costs of the Joint Committee in line with the 2018/19 
contribution.  Final clarification on any additional 2019/20 budget requirement 
will be provided following the completion of the review of the Joint 
Committee’s role, function and management support arrangements and 
development of its work programme for 2019/20.

d. To agree the Budget and Cost-sharing Agreement set out in Appendix B to 
this report.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation –
Officers Consulted -

Contact Officer:

Background Papers:

Page 103



APPENDIX A

Heart of the South West Partnership’s key strategic asks of Government

As part of the partnership’s increased lobbying with MPs and with reference to the 
Great South West Partnership several ‘policy asks’ of Government have been 
identified to coincide with party conferences and the Autumn Budget. These will be 
socialised over the next few months and are: 
 
1. Recognition of the Great South West Partnership in the Autumn Budget 

Statement together with a commitment to co-design a Rural Deal - a ‘Rural 
Productivity Partnership’ with GSW following publication of Rural Productivity 
Commission Report earlier in the year 

2. Strategic Connectivity 
a. Confirmation of Sub National Transport Body/ (ies)
b. Peninsula Rail priorities – e.g. commitment for funding Dawlish
c. Funding commitment for A303 improvements
d. Superfast Broadband and 5G trials
e. Joint working with the National Infrastructure Commission on an A38/M5 

corridor study to explore how we can unlock our full potential and 
accelerate growth to transform our region.

3. Transforming Cities and Strength in Places bids agreed 

4. EU Fisheries underspend proposal: an offer to work with Government to develop 
a proposal to utilise the projected underspend in the current EU Fisheries budget.

5. Nuclear Sector Deal (and others specifically Maritime and Defence) to have clear 
place-based elements/funding, recognising the HotSW opportunities.

6. Local Industrial Strategy specific: encourage joint working with WECA on Wave 2 
Local Industrial Strategies particularly around connectivity and Smart 
specialisations e.g. Nuclear and Aerospace.

Page 104



APPENDIX B

BUDGET STATEMENT – 2018/19

Costs 
At the time the Joint Committee was established it was estimated that its operating and 
support costs for 2018/19 (and to cover the remainder of 2017/18) would be £89,000 - 
excluding in-kind officer support. This estimate comprised:

1. £25,000 for work the Joint Committee would wish to commission to support the 
delivery of its work programme

2. £24,000 for the Brexit Resilience and Opportunities Group Secretariat

3. £40,000 for the Administering Authority to undertake its duties. 

Budget

Current budget position summary:

18/19 Budget = £117k (an 
increase of £25k over the 
original estimate)

18/19 Expenditure - £76.4k (as at 24/10/18)

1. £67k - devolution 
budget carry forward (as 
against the estimate of 
£42k) – transferred from 
PCC to SCC  

2. £50k - funding 
contributions from the 
constituent authorities 

1 £40k - for Administrative Authority costs 
including: direct meeting costs (including 
refreshments); staffing costs directly relating to 
HotSW meetings; JC communications and 
marketing; micro-site development 

2 £11.3k - support costs of the Brexit Resilience 
Opportunities Group (BROG) including 
seconded part-time officer support (against an 
original budget allocation of £24k)

3 £6k – costs of Housing Summit
4 £9.8k – housing consultancy support
5 £9.3k – national corridor infrastructure corridor 

consultancy support 

Page 105



BUDGET AND COST SHARING AGREEMENT

As part of the new Joint Committee working arrangements, the following clause was 
agreed in relation to the costs of operation of the Joint Committee. This clause was in the 
Inter-Authority Agreement.  

How is the budget set and agreed each year?
In the February preceding each financial year, in consultation with the Somerset County 
Council Finance Advisory Team, the SCC Strategic Manager - Partnership Governance on 
behalf of the PMO will detail a budget plan for the JC income and expenditure.  This will 
establish estimated amounts for that financial year and the timing of those financial 
transactions.  This will be submitted by the administering authority to the Joint Committee 
for recommendation to the Constituent Authorities (CA) for approval.

Each CA will pay their agreed contribution to the Administering Authority (AA) in a timely 
manner on receipt of invoice details. 

Who is to be responsible for maintaining financial records on behalf of the JC?
SCC Finance Advisory Team – Ian Tier, Finance Manager.

What financial records are to be maintained? 

4.0    JC Finance

4.1 The JC’s budgetary arrangements shall be detailed in a budget and cost sharing 
agreement to be agreed by all the Constituent Authorities annually on the recommendation of 
the JC and in advance of the financial year.  The only exception to this will be in the JC’s first 
year of operation when the JC shall recommend a budget and cost sharing agreement to the 
Constituent Authorities for approval at the first opportunity following its establishment.    

4.2 The budget and cost sharing agreement shall cover:
(a) The responsibilities of the Constituent Authorities for providing funding for the JC
(b) The anticipated level of expenditure for the JC for the year ahead
(c) The cost sharing mechanism to be applied to the Constituent Authorities
(d) Details of how the budget will be set and agreed each year
(e) Who is to be responsible for maintaining financial records on behalf of the JC (the 

‘accountable body’);
(f) What financial records are to be maintained;
(g) What financial reports are to be made, to whom and when;
(h) What arrangements and responsibilities are to be made for:

 auditing accounts;
 insurance including ensuring all partners have sufficient cover;

(i) How any financial assets held by the JC on behalf of the Constituent Authorities will be 
redistributed to the CAs in the event of the dissolution of the JC or in the event of a CA 
formally withdrawing from the CA.

Page 106



Financial records, i.e. orders for supplies and services, payments made, invoices raised 
and receipts, will be kept electronically on the SCC financial system.  This incorporates 
purchase orders, invoice scans, cashiers receipts and sales invoices.

What financial reports are to be made, to whom and when?
SCC Finance Advisory will present a quarterly income and expenditure report to the SCC 
Strategic Manager – Partnership Governance.  This will be reported to the CEx Advisory 
Group for information. An income and expenditure report will be presented to the JC for 
information on at least an annual basis.

What arrangements and responsibilities are to be made for? 

 Auditing Accounts:  The AA’s accounts and audit arrangements will apply to JC 
business.   

 Insurance:
Each CA will ensure that it has sufficient insurance cover in place to provide protection for 
their members and officers participating in the work of the JC and in their capacity as 
officers or members of that authority.   The AA will ensure that it has sufficient insurance 
cover in place to cover the AA role.

How any financial assets held by the JC on behalf of the CA will be redistributed to 
the CAs in the event of the dissolution of the JC or in the event of a CA formally 
withdrawing from the CA?
Itemised records of contributions made by each of the CAs will be kept over the life of the 
JC.  In the event of the dissolution of the JC or in the event of a CA formally withdrawing 
from the CA having given the required notice, financial assets will be returned to the CA or 
CAs on a proportionate basis.

Page 107



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Strategic Manager Resources (S151 Officer)
To: Full Council
Subject: Council Tax Base 2018/19
Date: 10 December 2018 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
To set the Council Tax Base for 2019/20

1. INTRODUCTION

Council tax regulations require the Council Tax Base to be set by 31 January. 

2. REPORT

The Council Tax Base is calculated by taking the number of chargeable dwellings within the 
district at 30th November 2018, together with the estimated affects of changes arising from 
appeals and other changes to the council tax list and consequences of losses and delay in 
the recovery of the tax levy. 

At the time of writing this report the number of band D equivalent dwellings as estimated at 
the 30th November 2018 was not available. The process to obtain the Council Tax Base 
information is briefly described below:

 1st December Capita (the Council’s software provider) extract a copy of the Council 
Tax data as at the close of business on the 30th November into the Academy test 
database. Capita will have to do this for all their clients throughout the country.

 4th – 5th December  officers within the Council’s systems admin team extract data 
from the Academy test database into the Council Tax Base modelling system. The 
data extracted is then validated.

 5th December the Council Tax Base data is shared with colleagues in Finance, so 
that the information is available for tabling at Full Council on the 10th December.  
The tax base information is then shared with the Council’s preceptors (Devon 
County, Devon and Cornwall Police and Devon & Somerset Police) and the Parish/ 
Town Councils within the Borough.

For information the equivalent figure at 30th November 2017 was 23,790.32. 

The number of Band D equivalents is then adjusted for a non collection percentage. Based 
upon current performance the amount collected is estimated to be 98.5% (99% in 2018/19). 
The estimated collection rate has been reduced to 98.5% due to the expected impact of 
universal credit.  The number of Band D equivalents (after accounting for the non collection 
percentage) provides the tax base for each individual parish and for the whole of the 
Torridge District Council Area.
 
For information the 2018/19 tax base after accounting for non collection was 23,552.45.
 
Appendix 1 shows the council tax base used for 2018/19 broken down by each parish.

Page 108

Agenda Item 14



The information that will be tabled at the Full Council is as below

 Band D Equivalents as at 30th November 2018 XX,XXX
 Band D Equivalents as at 30th November 2018

 (after 1.5% non collection rate) XX,XXX
 2019/20 Tax Base broken down by Parish

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
The Council has a legal requirement to set a council tax base and to inform the major 
precepting bodies by 31st January each year.

Financial Implications
Collection of council tax within the district is of major consideration in funding services and 
treasury management.

Human Resources Implications
There are no specific human resources implications.

Sustainability Implications
There are no specific sustainability implications

Equality/Diversity
There are no specific equality/diversity issues in calculating the tax base.

Risk Management
If collection rate is not achieved than there will be a shortfall on the Collection Fund. 
However past performance indicates that 98.5% is a reasonable estimate for 2019/20.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Reflects the local council tax support scheme

Ward Member and Leader Member Views
Lead Member Cllr. D.Hurley has been consulted in the writing of this report and commented 
that 

"the Council has a legal requirement to set a council tax base by 31st January each year. 
The tax base can only be approved by either Full Council or Community & Resources (C&R) 
Committee. 

The next C&R meeting is on the 14th January 2019, which is close to the statutory deadline. 
Furthermore if the formal approval of the tax base was delayed to the 14th January 2019, this 
would impact adversely on both our preceptors and parish/town council in setting their 
precepts.  Consequently the actual figures for the tax base will be tabled at the Full Council 
on the 10th December 2018.” 

4. CONCLUSION

The 2019/20 Council Tax Base will be tabled at the Full Council 10th December 2018.

5. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee:-
Agree the Council Tax Base for 2019/20 

Page 109



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation – 28th November 2018
Officers Consulted –
Head of Paid Service
Senior Solicitor

Contact Officer: Peter Hudson – Senior Capital Accountant

Background Papers: Tax base working papers

Page 110



Appendix 1
Parish 2018/19  2019/20
 Tax Base  Tax Base
Abbotsham 226.22  
Abbots Bickington 13.56  
Alverdiscott & Huntshaw 170.87  
Alwington 139.79  
Ashreigney 206.91  
Ashwater 285.91  
Beaford 192.32  
Bideford 5,173.89  
Black Torrington 210.86  
Bradford & Cookbury 218.30  
Bradworthy 409.43  
Bridgerule 265.88  
Broadwoodwidger 247.80  
Buckland Brewer 327.49  
Buckland Filleigh 59.80  
Bulkworthy 27.42  
Clawton 126.31  
Clovelly 148.80  
Dolton 351.23  
Dowland 37.92  
East & West Putford 134.02  
Frithelstock 148.50  
Great Torrington 1,655.78  
Halwill 307.78  
Hartland 712.76  
High Bickington 401.43  
Hollacombe 22.28  
Holsworthy 1,048.92  
Holsworthy Hamlets 358.76  
Huish 15.74  
Landcross & Littleham 195.82  
Langtree 295.16  
Little Torrington 154.14  
Luffincott & Tetcott 63.26  
Merton 114.35  
Milton Damerel 180.68  
Monkleigh 139.29  
Northam 4,960.60  
Newton St Petrock 77.62  
Pancrasweek 89.00  
Parkham 315.50  
Peters Marland 79.20  
Petrockstowe 169.69  
Pyworthy 291.55  
Roborough 114.53  
Shebbear 358.84  
Sheepwash 104.20  
St Giles on the Heath & Northcott 220.07  
St Giles in the Wood 230.08  
Sutcombe 124.76  
Thornbury 109.49  
Virginstow 43.36  
Weare Giffard 152.46  
Welcombe 86.03  
Winkleigh 636.97  
Woolsery 456.85  
Yarnscombe 133.16  
Lundy 9.11
   
Total Tax Base 23,552.45  0.00

Page 111



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Strategic Manager Resources
To: Full Council
Subject: Mid-Year Review of Treasury Management

Date: 10 December 2018 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
To report on the treasury management activity in the year to date.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Treasury Management, which requires that a mid-year 
review should be presented on treasury management activity.

2. REPORT

This Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 
Sector and operates its treasury management service in compliance with this code and the other 
statutory requirements. These require that the prime objective of the treasury management activity 
is the effective management of risk, and that borrowing activities are undertaken on a prudent, 
affordable and sustainable basis.

This report sets out:
 The performance for the year 2018/19 so far
 Implications
 Conclusion
 Recommendation

The Council’s Strategy and Performance so far
The Treasury Strategy and Investment Strategy were agreed by Full Council at its meeting on 27th 
March 2018 (attached as Appendix 1). 

No new borrowing was proposed and investments would be short-term but periods would be spread 
to take best advantage of interest rates.

The Council currently has Public Loans Board debt of £1,143k outstanding.

Currently the Council has short term investments of £14m lodged with financial institutions, the 
comparable figure for the same time last year being £16m.

Short-term interest rate returns have started to rise following the increase in Bank Base Rate in 
2018.

The average rate of return earned by the Council on its short term investments is forecast to be 
0.78% which compares with 0.51% in 2017/18.

The forecasted return from short term investments for 2018/19 is £105k, which compares with a 
return of £78k in 2017/18.

Page 112

Agenda Item 15



The Council sets parameters pertaining to the Counterparties with which it invests it funds. These 
criteria include the minimum acceptable credit quality of the counter parties; i.e. their 
creditworthiness.

The counterparty list also enables diversification and thus helps to avoid the concentration of risk.

The creditworthiness methodology used to assess the Counterparty list takes account of the rating 
published by the Fitch rating agency and utilisation of Capita’ s Treasury Management Services.

Counterparty List is attached in Appendix 2 for information.

Bank Account Limit

The limit for the amount held in the council’s bank account, with the council’s bankers Lloyds is 
currently set at £5m; however this is no longer sufficient to meet the council’s day to day 
requirements. The following payments can occur at around the same time:

£
Major Precepts 4,437,000
Parish Precepts (half year) 696,000
Housing Benefit 1,154,000
Salaries / Creditors (incl capital spend) 1,286,000
Future Buffer 427,000

8,000,000

Therefore it is proposed that the £5m limit be increased to £8m.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
There are no specific legal implications.

Financial Implications
All treasury management activity carries a level of risk, but adherence to the approved strategy 
minimises this. However, minimising risk needs to be balanced with the income generated and the 
expenditure incurred through treasury management activities. 

The Council’s treasury strategy can be best summarised in order of priority as 

• Security of investment
• Liquidity
• Return on investment.

The Council employs Capita Asset Services as its external Treasury advisors.

Human Resources Implications
There are no specific human resources implications.

Sustainability Implications
There are no specific sustainability implications.

Page 113



Equality/Diversity
There are no specific equality/diversity issues. 

Risk Management
The risk that borrowers may default is minimised by adherence to the Treasury Management 
Strategy, the credit rating of counter parties being checked prior to making the investments, all 
financial institutions with which the Council contracts are UK registered and have a Fitch F1 rating. 

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
The report fits within the Council’s Treasury Management framework.

Ward Member and Lead Member Views
Lead Member Cllr. D. Hurley has been consulted in the writing of this report and commented:-
“We continue to be in a low interest environment. With this in mind, the treasury management mid 
year review confirms that the investment strategy set out at the start of the financial year is 
delivering a reasonable rate of return, whilst having regard for the security of investments. Going 
forward the uncertainties in the wider economy will continue to impact on interest rates. In addition 
the request to increase the £5million limit held by Lloyds be increased to £8million seems sensible 
in view of the possible requirement to make payments in excess of £5million at the same time.”

Date of Consultation – 29 November 2018

4. CONCLUSIONS

Returns on the Council’s investments remain low, as the Bank of England has maintained its policy 
of low interest rates.

The economic situation remains uncertain but is monitored so that appropriate treasury 
management action can be taken as required.

The purpose of the review was to allow some flexibility within the investment portfolio, and doesn’t 
detract from the key principles.

5. RECOMMENDATION

Members are asked to note the Mid-Year Treasury Management Review.

Members are asked to increase the short term limit on the council’s bank account to £8m.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation – 26 November 2018
Officers Consulted – 
Head of Paid Service
Senior Solicitor
Strategic Director-Resources

Contact Officer: Peter Hudson – Senior Capital Accountant

Background Papers: Treasury Management papers held in the Accountancy Section at 
Riverbank House.

Page 114



APPENDIX 1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Treasury Management and Investment Strategy for Year Ending 31 March 2019

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The proposed Treasury Management and Investment Strategy for the financial year 
2018/19 is set out in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management. The Strategy is in line with the Prudential Indicators approved by Council.

2.0 BORROWINGS

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

No new long-term loans were taken out with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) during 
2017/18. 

Borrowings from PWLB at 31 March 2018 will total £1.143m. The next scheduled 
redemption occurs in March 2018 when a maturity type loan of £0.191m will be settled. 
Further ahead there are 6 fixed interest rate loans outstanding totalling £0.952m with 
redemption dates that run from March 2019 to March 2027.  

The approved Prudential Indicators do not envisage that any further long-term borrowing 
will be undertaken in the year 2018/19. The Waste Review report approved by Full Council 
on 23rd January 2017, highlighted the potential requirement for up to £4.00m of external 
borrowing linked to the purchase of a new depot and this was incorporated into the 2017/18 
Capital Programme.  

The Prudential Indicators on Appendix 3 to this report have been compiled on the 
assumption that the borrowing will take place in the 2018/19 financial year however the 
timing will be dependent upon the progress made with the project, the financial climate and 
the availability of internal resources. 

The Council will ensure that borrowing will only be undertaken when it is identified that 
there is a need to do so.

The existing debt and loan schedule was considered in 2017/18 and it was concluded that 
there was no advantage from re-scheduling or early redemption of existing loans.

3.0 INVESTMENTS

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

The Annual Investment Strategy for the forthcoming year is prepared in accordance with 
guidance issued under the Local Government Act 2003. 

On 31st March 2018 short-term investments placed with financial institutions are estimated 
to be approximately £12m. The bulk of this amount represents the balances on Reserves 
and Usable Capital Receipts.

The Capital Programme for 2018/19 will be financed from capital receipts, grants and 
contributions, revenue contributions, reserves and borrowing. Internal borrowing may also 
be utilised in the implementation of parts of the Waste Review and this will reduce the funds 
available for investment.

The Investment Strategy during 2017/18 has been to spread the maturity of investments to 
take advantage of the small premium for investing for longer periods whilst matching 

Page 115



3.5

ongoing cashflow requirements including the delivery of the capital programme.

The Investment Strategy for 2018/19 will be to spread the investments across 
counterparties to minimise risk. Investment periods are expected to lengthen due to the 
higher level of cash balances and to maximise the limited returns available whilst interest 
rates are expected to remain at their current level. It is anticipated that the level of 
investments will reduce during the implementation of the Waste Review project.

4.0 INTEREST RATES

4.1

4.2

4.3

During 2017/18 the Bank of England Bank Base Interest Rate was Increased from 0.25% to 
0.50%.
    
The interest rate forecasts in the February 2018 Bank of England Inflation Report indicate 
an expectation that the Bank Base Rate move upwards to 1.00% by early 2020. The 
consequences arising from the EU referendum decision has introduced uncertainties into 
the economy. The value of sterling fell following the EU referendum making exported good 
more competitive whilst the price of imported goods has become more expensive and in 
turn this has caused inflationary pressures. GDP growth is forecast to remain stable at 
1.5% through to 2019.

Short-term interest rates are around 0.50% for 3 months rising to 0.80% approaching one 
year. Long-term interest rates (1 year and beyond) have remain subdued because of low 
gilt prices and are currently below 2.0%. Interest rates available to the Torridge will be 
slightly lower because of the limited names on Counterparty List and the size of the 
amounts that we invest.

5.0 COUNTERPARTY LIST & LIQUIDITY FRAMEWORK

5.1

5.2

5.3

The security of an investment should be considered paramount together with liquidity to 
ensure that an investment will be repaid on the due date. These will be considered of 
greater importance than yield. Investment yield will only be considered after security, 
liquidity and market sector risk have been evaluated.

In order to minimise the risk from a failed deposit-taker the Council sets a maximum 
investment amount and a maximum holding with any institution limit. 

These were reviewed at the treasury management mid year review, and subsequently 
changed as follows:

 Maximum Investment amount increased to £3m (previously £1m)
 Maximum holding with any individual institution was increased to £5m (previously 

£3m)
These changes will enable better management of risk within the treasury management 
function that is operating in an environment with limited counterparties.

The Councils counterparty list was also reviewed mid year, and was agreed to include all 
Fitch F1 rated UK Banks and Building Societies.

The Time period for investments was also reviewed mid year, the limit for investments to be 
placed for under 364 days was removed to allow investment for over one year.

The Authority will only undertake Specified Investments, which are denominated in sterling. 
Such investments can only be made with the United Kingdom Government, another local 

Page 116



5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

authority, or a body awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency. The Authority will 
not undertake Non-specified Investments. This strategy will avoid being locked into lower 
rates when interest rates rise and to ensure flexibility to fund the capital programme.  

For the purposes of this Strategy a high credit rating is defined as short-term F1 or better as 
rated by Fitch Ratings Ltd. The Senior Capital Accountant maintains a counterparty list 
comprising UK Government Departments, UK Local Authorities and major banks and 
building societies with a minimum credit rating of Fitch F1 that operate in the local authority 
market. Guidance recommends that other factors and information such as the sovereign 
rating of a country or market data regarding the sector or the counterparty should also be 
considered. 

Link Asset Services (formerly known as Capita Asset Services) are engaged as the 
council’s external Treasury advisors. As part of their service they undertake a monthly 
review of investments held and produce a report to confirm the credit strength of 
investments held. 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 
the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our 
external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in employing external 
providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which 
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular 
review.

The list attached at Appendix 2 contains counterparties comprising UK Government 
Departments, UK Local Authorities and major banks and building societies with a minimum 
credit rating of Fitch F1 that operate in the local authority market. The Credit ratings of the 
Counterparty List will be monitored at least quarterly to ensure they continue to meet the 
councils requirements. Credit ratings of relevant counterparties will be checked on the day 
of (and prior to) the investment being placed. Some counterparties are not taking further 
deposits as they do not require further funding and this could limit our ability to invest at the 
most beneficial rates from time to time.

It is inevitable that as part of daily transactions and cash management, sums will be held 
with the council’s bankers consistent with the council’s cash management needs. The 
council appointed Lloyds Bank as its bankers with effect from 1 January 2015 for 5 years.

The Council has previously approved Svenska Handelsbanken to operate a call/short term 
notice account and will be operated when the interest rates on offer are competitive. 
Interest rates on call accounts will vary from time to time and it may be necessary to 
change providers from time to time.

6.0 DELEGATION

6.1 It should be recognised that the background to this Strategy may change very quickly which 
is why the detailed operation of the Treasury Management function is delegated to the 
S151 Officer. 
The S151 (responsible) officer is responsible for:-

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 
 submitting budgets and budget variations; 
 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

Page 117



 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 
recommending the appointment of external service providers.

Members should recognise that decisions often have to be taken quickly in the light of 
prevailing circumstances and that the strategy may therefore need to change during the 
course of the year.
The Council’s Community and Resources Committee receive reports on treasury 
management policies, practices and activities and make recommendations to full Council.

7.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT  INDICATORS

7.1 The Indicators for Treasury Management are as follows;

7.2 The Council must set limits to contain the activity of the treasury function within certain 
limits. An upper limit is required on its fixed and variable interest rate exposures for 
outstanding principal sums on both borrowing and investment.

Upper limit on 2017/18 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
interest rate 
exposure % 
Principal 
outstanding

Estimate Forecast 
Actual 
for 31st 
March

Estimate Estimate Estimate

Fixed Interest 
Rate Exposures

100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Variable Interest 
Rate Exposures

20% 0% 20% 20% 20%

   

      
7.3 Upper and lower limits are needed for the maturity structure of borrowing. The amount of 

projected borrowing that is at a fixed rate maturing in each period as a percentage of 
total projected borrowing that is fixed rate at the start of the period:

2017/18
Actual

Lower limit Upper limit

Under 1 year   8% 0% 30%
1 year < 2 years 15% 0% 30%
2 years < 5 years 49% 0% 60%
5 years < 10 years 28% 0% 60%
10 years and above   0% 0% 100%

7.4

8.0

There are no sums invested for longer than 365 days. However at the Mid Year Treasury 
Review, removal of the 364 day investment limit was approved.

The CIPFA Code requires the Responsible Officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to Members responsible for scrutiny. The need for 
Member training in treasury management will be revisited during 2018/19.

Page 118



Appendix 2

Current Counter-parties for deposits as at 26 November 2018

The treasury policy allows any Fitch F1 rated UK Bank or Building Society

Current Counterparties (@ 26 November 2018):

Counterparty £
Date 

Placed
Date 

Returned Days Rate
BARCLAYS BANK PLC 1,000,000 25-May-18 25-Feb-19 276 0.710
LLOYDS BANK PLC 1,000,000 24-Sep-18 24-Feb-19 153 0.830
BARCLAYS BANK PLC 1,000,000 10-Sep-18 11-Mar-19 182 0.780
LLOYDS BANK PLC 1,000,000 17-Jul-18 17-Jul-19 365 1.000
LLOYDS BANK PLC 1,000,000 17-Oct-18 17-Jan-19 92 0.900
COVENTRY BUILDING SOC 1,000,000 3-Jul-18 3-Jan-19 184 0.670
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK 2,000,000 13-Dec-17 13-Dec-18 365 0.980
NATIONWIDE BUILDING SOC 1,000,000 28-Aug-18 28-Feb-19 184 0.730
NATIONWIDE BUILDING SOC 1,000,000 27-Mar-18 27-Mar-19 365 0.830
BARCLAYS BANK PLC 2,000,000 13-Jun-18 13-Mar-19 273 0.730
GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL BANK 2,000,000 9-Jul-18 8-Jul-19 364 1.235

14,000,000

Investment in the above is subject to the counterparty having credit rating of F1 short 
term or better as rated by Fitch Ratings Ltd. At the time of investment and subject to 
counter-party limits.

The maximum single deal size is £3m

The maximum holding is £5m per counterparty. 

Investments may also be placed with United Kingdom Government Departments, 
agencies and other UK Local Government Authorities.   

Up to £5m may be held from time to time with the council’s bankers Lloyds in order to 
meet financial commitments as and when they are due.

Page 119


	Agenda
	2 Council Minutes
	9 Adoption of a 'Statement of Licensing' Policy and Gambling Statement of Principles
	9a -Gambling Act 2005 v.4.1 FINAL2018
	9b -Licensing Act 2003 v.4.1 FINAL2018

	10 Localisation of Council Tax Support
	11 Appointment of Monitoring Officer
	12 Cycle of Committee Meeting 2019/2020
	13a - Schedule of meetings 2019 - 2020

	13 Heart of the South West - Joint Committee - Council Update
	14a - HotSW report Appendix A
	14b - HotSW report Appendix B

	14 Council Tax Base (2019/20)
	15 Mid-Year Review of Treasury Management
	15 - Appendix 1 - 2018-19 Treasury Management Strategy
	15 - Appendix 2 - List of Approved Counterparties 2018 19


